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5) Classification
Ownership of Property
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Private:

Public - Local

Public — State X

Public — Federal

Category of Property
(Check only one box.)

Building(s) X

District

Site
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Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
1 0 buildings
0 0 sites
0 0 structures
0 0 objects
1 0 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register ___0

6) Function or Use

Historic Functions

(Enter categories from instructions.)
DEFENSE/arms storage

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)
_VACANT/NOT IN USE
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7) Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)
OTHER/Works Progress Administration
Early Modern Movement: Streamlined Moderne

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.)
Principal exterior materials of the property: _ BRICK

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe
contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that
briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style,
method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has
historic integrity.)

Summary Paragraph

Constructed in 1938, the Oklahoma National Guard Armory at 200 Northeast 23" Street is
located near the heart of the State Capitol Complex in Oklahoma City. The building is notable
for its blonde brick construction and for being one of the largest National Guard armories ever
built in Oklahoma. Standing three stories in height, the Armory’s central block houses a concrete
drill floor approximately 135 feet wide and 185 feet long, or the equivalent of half the size of a
football field. A series of one- and two-story projections extend from each elevation of the
central block. The central block has a low-sloping barrel roof and each projection has a flat roof.
Other notable exterior features include cast stone parapet caps and steel-framed, multi-light
industrial windows. The Armory retains a high degree of integrity. Its historic use by the
Oklahoma National Guard, architectural design and construction, and proximity to the Oklahoma
State Capitol (NRIS #76001572) place the Armory within the context of economic relief during
the Great Depression and military preparedness on the eve of World War I1.
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Narrative Description
Site and Setting

The Oklahoma National Guard Armory is located at 200 Northeast 23 Street, approximately
two miles north of downtown Oklahoma and one-third of a mile west of the Oklahoma State
Capitol (NRIS #76001572). It is situated within the State Capitol Complex on Lots 1-3 and 10-
12 in Block 7 of the State Capitol Addition to Oklahoma City. The Armory is set slightly above
grade level and back from the south side of Northeast 23" Street. There is a large grassy area
situated between Northeast 23 Street and the Armory’s north-facing fagade. A “U”-shaped,
concrete sidewalk extends from the Armory’s main entrance toward Northeast 23™ Street. There
is a set of concrete steps at each end of the “U”. Each set of steps adjoin a concrete sidewalk that
extends parallel to Northeast 23™ Street. There is flagpole in the center of the grassy area,
directly in front of the main entrance to the Armory. North Walnut Avenue extends along the full
length of the Armory’s east side elevation. A large, paved parking lot extends along the full
length of the building’s west side elevation. An alley/driveway defines the south boundary of the
site.

The Armory is associated with the everyday operations of Oklahoma’s state government. Several
lesser buildings, driveways, and parking lots are located to the west, east and south of the
Armory on state property. Several other state government buildings are located further to the
southeast along North Lincoln Boulevard, including the Office of the Attorney General, the Jim
Thorpe Office Building (known historically as the State Capitol Office Building), the Oklahoma
Department of Transportation, and the Wiley Post Historical Building (formerly the Oklahoma
Historical Society Building, NRIS #90000124). Interstate 235/US Highway 77 (Centennial
Expressway) is located less than 0.25 miles west of the Armory. Various fast food restaurants
and small businesses line the north side of Northeast 23" Street.

General Building Description

The Oklahoma National Guard Armory is an immense three-story, rectangular-shaped building
clad with blonde brick. All the windows are painted, cold-rolled steel, multi-light, industrial
units. The Armory’s central block has a low-sloping barrel roof and parapets capped with cast
stone. A series of one- and two-story projections extend from each elevation of the central block.
Each projection has a flat roof and parapets capped with cast stone. A stair tower equivalent to
the height of three stories is located at each corner of the central block. The roofline of each stair
tower is differentiated by being slightly shorter than the roofline of the central block, which at its
peak is equal to the height of four stories.
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Facade (Photos #0001-0002, #00005)

The Armory has a symmetrical, north-facing facade. Eight individual, evenly spaced windows
with pivoting sections are located on the third floor of the central block. Each window is six
lights wide by six lights tall.

A stair tower is located at each end of the central block. The stair towers project forward (north)
and to the east or west of the central block. A portion of each stair tower wraps around the face
of the taller central block. Each stair tower contains two awning windows, which are vertically
aligned; one between the third and second stories and one between the first and second stories.
Each window is three lights wide, four lights tall, and has a cast stone subsill.

Two symmetrical projections extend from both the east and the west sides of the central block.
The projections that are adjacent to the ends of the central block are equivalent to the height of
three stories and the roofline is slightly higher than that of the stair towers. Further to the east
and west of each projection is an additional side projection that is one story in height. The
fagades of both projections are stepped back (south) from the face of the central block by the
depth of the adjacent stair towers. Six windows are located on the projections; two on each floor.
Each window is three lights wide, four lights tall, and has a cast stone subsill. The windows are
vertically aligned on all three stories. There is a metal garage door centrally located within the
wall of each of the one-story projections.

There is a two-story projection to the front (north) of the central block. This projection extends
the full width of the central block and is equally divided into three bays. The centermost bay
projects slightly forward of the two side bays. The Armory’s main entrance is centered in the
center bay and is comprised of a two-story-tall opening. This opening is inset and framed on the
top and each side by three single courses of corbelled brick. A pair of contemporary, storefront
aluminum doors with full lights are located on the first story. There is a narrow sidelight between
the doors. Nine windows are located directly above the doors and fill the rest of the tall opening.
Horizontal and vertical steel mullions separate the windows into three rows of three units. Each
unit in the top row is three lights wide by four lights tall. Each unit in the middle and bottom row
is three lights wide by three lights tall. A steel mullion separates the bottom row of windows
from the doors. Two individual windows are located on each side of the tall opening; one on the
first story and one on the second story. The windows on the first and second stories are vertically
aligned. Each window is three lights wide, four lights tall, and has a cast stone subsill.

There are three individual windows of equal width and spacing located on both the second and
first stories of the easternmost and the westernmost bays. The windows on the first and second
stories are vertically aligned. Each window is three lights wide, four lights tall, and has a cast
stone subsill. There is an inset, vertical panel of sailor course bricks in a stacked bond between
each window. The panels are as wide as the window openings and extend the full height between
the first and second story windows.

Several window openings on this elevation have been replaced with air conditioning units.

Section 7 page 6



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
Oklahoma National Guard Armory Oklahoma County, Oklahoma
Name of Property County and State

East Elevation (Photo #0004)

Two projections extend along much of the east side elevation of the Armory’s central block. The
first projection, which is adjacent to and projects forward (east) from the central block, is
equivalent to the height of three stories. Further to the east is a second projection that is one story
in height.

There are sixteen, multi-light awning windows on both the third and the second stories of the
taller projection. Each window is three lights wide, four lights tall, and has a cast stone subsill.
The windows on the second and third stories are vertically aligned. There is an inset, vertical
panel of sailor course bricks in a stacked bond between each of the four centermost windows.
The panels are as wide as the window openings and extend the full height between the second-
and third-story windows. Two identical panels of sailor course bricks are located near each end
of the projection.

There are eight bays of equal width and spacing located in the one-story projection. Seven of the
bays contain a metal overhead garage door. The eighth, southernmost, bay on the projection was
infilled with brick at an unknown date. There are four multi-light, awning windows of equal
width and spacing located on the first story of this projection. Each window is three lights wide,
four lights tall, has a cast stone subsill, and is set between two garage door openings.

One of the stair towers is located on each end of the taller projection. The roofline of each stair
tower is noticeably shorter than the central block and is slightly shorter than the taller projection.
There is one multi-light awning window on the third and the second story. A metal slab door is
located on the first story. The door is vertically aligned with the windows on the second and third
stories and is located near the intersection of the stair tower and the projections. A small, four-
light window is located at the southernmost end of the stair tower on the first story.

Two projections extend from the south end of the east side elevation. The first projection is
adjacent to and projects to the left (south) of the central block. It is equivalent to the height of
two stories. There are two windows of equal width and spacing centered on the second story of
this projection. Each window is three lights wide, four lights tall, and has a cast stone subsill.
The second projection, which projects to the south of the two-story projection, is one story in
height and contains two metal overhead garage doors of equal width and spacing. A multi-light,
awning window is located to the right of the innermost garage door, near the intersection of the
projection with the stair tower. The window is three lights wide, four lights tall, has a cast stone
subsill.

Several air conditioning units have been installed in window openings on the third and second
stories.
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South (Back) Elevation (Photos #0003-0004)

The fenestration pattern of the south (back) elevation of the Armory is nearly identical to that of
the facade. Eight metal framed, multi-light windows with pivoting sections are located on the
third story of the central block. Each window is six lights wide by six lights tall.

A stair tower is located at each end of the central block. The roofline and fenestration pattern of
both stair towers is identical to those on the facade.

Two projections extend from both the east and the west sides of the central block. The roofline
and fenestration pattern of these projections on this elevation are identical to those on the facade.

There are two projections that extend forward (south) from the central block. Both projections
extend nearly the full width of the central block. The projection that is adjacent to the central
block is equivalent to the height of two stories. There are ten multi-light windows with cast stone
subsills arranged in no apparent pattern on the second story. Each window is three lights wide by
four lights tall. This projection steps down to a second projection that is one story in height and
contains five metal overhead garage doors of equal width and spacing. A multi-light awning
window with a cast stone subsill is located between each of the garage doors. Each window is
three lights wide and four lights tall.

Air conditioning units have been installed in several window openings on the second story.
West Elevation (Photo #0003)

The west side elevation of the Armory is an exact mirror image of the east side elevation, with
two deviations on the south end. First, there are two multi-light windows and one metal
overhead garage door on the one-story projection that extends furthest away from the central
block. Each of the windows align vertically to windows located on the second story of the two-
story projection that is adjacent to the south end of the central block. Each window is three lights
wide, four lights tall, and has a cast stone subsill. Second, there is a small, painted concrete block
lean-to with a metal shed roof located at the intersection of the one-story projection and the stair
tower. The lean-to has a metal slab door and no window openings. It was built at an unknown
date.

Interior (Photos #0006-0013)

The primary interior space of the building is a concrete drill floor. It is open for the full height of
the central block and is approximately 135 feet wide by 185 feet long. The barrel roof of the
central block above the drill floor retains the original and visible wood roof deck and steel
trusses. Halogen pendant lamps hang at regular intervals along the underside of the curved steel
trusses. There are brick walls with engaged brick columns on each side of the drill floor. Six
engaged columns of equal width and spacing are located along both the north and south ends of
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the space. Nine engaged columns of equal width and spacing are located along both the east and
west sides of the space.

On the second story, the brick walls are set back the full width of the eight-foot wide corridors
that are located on each side of the interior space and the columns are visible on all four sides.
On the east and west sides of the third story, the corridors and columns match those of the
second story. Along the north and south sides of the central block at the second floor level, are
corridors and columns that meet up with the east and west corridors, creating a continuous loop
around the large, open volume of the drill floor. There are corridors along the north and south
side of the central block at the third floor level. The unpainted exterior wall at the third floor
level, with eight multi-light industrial awning windows, is flush with the interior plane of the
drill floor below. On both the second and third stories, the corridors have concrete floors and
ceilings and are framed by metal tube pipe railing with non-original chain link fencing. An open
concrete staircase with metal railing is located at each corner of the building, providing access to
all three stories.

Alterations

The exterior brick retains its historic configuration, and most window and door openings remain
extant. The southernmost bay on the east side elevation was infilled with brick at an unknown
date. The lean-to located near the south end of west side elevation was constructed at an
unknown date.

Most of the windows are in a damaged condition. In the multi-light windows with pivoting
sections, several lights have been replaced with translucent glass panes and the pivot
mechanisms are no longer functional. On each elevation, window glass and frames were
removed in order to install air-conditioning units. Photographs from the Oklahoma County
Assessor’s website indicate that the contemporary metal storefront doors located on the
building’s main entrance were installed prior to 2008.

The primary drill space in the Armory’s interior remains largely unaltered. The brick walls and
engaged brick columns are painted on the first and second floors and are unpainted on the third
floor. A contemporary, suspended acoustical tile ceiling system was installed at an unknown date
in most of the secondary spaces throughout the first, second, and third stories (see Photo #0012,
for example). Non-original chain link fencing is attached to the metal tube pipe railing that
frames the corridors on the second and third stories.
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8) Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register

listing.)
X A.
B.
x| C
D.

Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the
broad patterns of our history.

Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values,
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or
history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

A.

B.

Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes

Removed from its original location

. A birthplace or grave

A cemetery
A reconstructed building, object, or structure
A commemorative property

Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years
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Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions.)
_MILITARY
ECONOMIC
_ARCHITECTURE

Period of Significance
_1938

Significant Dates
1938

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder
_BRYAN W. NOLEN, ARCHITECT _
CHARLES A. DUNNING CONSTRUCTION, BUILDER
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes
level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any
applicable criteria considerations.)

The Oklahoma National Guard Armory is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic
Places under Criterion A at the state level of significance for Military and Economics and under
Criterion C at the state level of significance for Architecture. Commonly understood as a federal
New Deal project, the Armory is in fact a symbol of Governor Ernest Whitworth Marland’s
“Little New Deal” and was financed solely by state funds. Adjutant General Charles Franklin
Barrett and Major General William Shaffer Key, two leading figures in the Oklahoma National
Guard, had long argued for the necessity of armories in Oklahoma. The crisis of the Great
Depression transformed their arguments into action as state leaders recognized that the
construction of armories could provide economic relief and opportunity for Oklahomans. Upon
its completion in 1938, the Oklahoma National Guard Armory in Oklahoma City provided a
valuable training site for members of the Forty-Fifth Infantry Division and served as a public
meeting space for Oklahoma City residents and Oklahomans throughout the state.

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of
significance.)

Historic Context

The City of Oklahoma City was formally incorporated on July 15, 1890. At that time, the city
had approximately 4,000 residents. By the end of the decade, an agricultural boom in the
surrounding countryside and the completion of five railroad lines to and from town limits
transformed the city into a commercial hub. In June 1910, three years after Oklahoma achieved
statehood, Oklahoma City became the political center of the state after voters approved the
transfer of the capital from Guthrie, which had served as the territorial capital since 1890.!

The relocation of the capital to Oklahoma City was accompanied by real estate speculation from
several prominent citizens who sought to profit from the construction of a new state capitol
building. Israel M. Putnam and John W. Shartel offered the state legislature over 1,500 acres and
a sizeable sum of money for the construction of the new capitol building at what they called
“Putnam City,” which was located directly west of Oklahoma City along an interurban railway
line to the neighboring town of El Reno.? A competing offer came from William Fremont Harn
and his partner John James Culbertson, both of whom owned land northeast of downtown

! Linda D. Wilson, “Oklahoma City,” The Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture, accessed December 19,
2018, www.okhistory.org.

2 Secondary sources differ on the exact acreage and money that Putnam and Shartel offered to the state. In his
history of Oklahoma County, Bob Blackburn states that Putnam and Shartel offered 1,600 acres and $1.7 million in
cash. Richenda Bates states that Putnam offered as much as 2,000 acres to the state. See Bob L. Blackburn, Heart of
the Promised Land: Oklahoma County, An Illustrated History (Woodland Hills, CA: Windsor Publications, Inc.,
1982), 105 and Richenda Davis Bates, “Putnam, Isracl Mercer (1873-1961),” The Encyclopedia of Oklahoma
History and Culture, https://www.okhistory.org/publications/enc/entry.php?entry=PU007, accessed January 25,
2019.
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Oklahoma City. Both men proposed to donate forty acres from their respective landholdings
(eighty acres in all) to provide for the construction of the new state capitol building.> Although
the state House of Representatives supported Putnam and Shartel’s pitch, the state Senate
objected and appointed a commission to investigate both sites. This commission ultimately
approved Harn and Culbertson’s proposal because their donated parcels were closer to Oklahoma
City’s central commercial district.*

Under the guise of the State Capitol Building Company, Harn and Culbertson platted the State
Capitol Addition to Oklahoma City in 1911. The addition is located between present-day
Northeast 21% Street and Northeast 23 Street. “Capitol Square,” located in the center of the
addition, indicated the site of the new Oklahoma State Capitol (NRIS #76001572).° Much of the
eastern half of the addition, along with the Lincoln Terrace Addition to the south, would become
one of the premier neighborhoods in Oklahoma City.® Meanwhile, in 1915, the State Capitol
Building Company conveyed much of the western half of the addition, specifically Blocks 6, 7,
and 8, to the State of Oklahoma.” This conveyance was challenged in court by H. W. Granzow,
who also had an ownership interest in the area. After settling the matter in district court, the state
formally assumed ownership of these blocks in 1917.% Two years later, the state created a Capitol
Improvement District, which authorized the State Board of Public Affairs to oversee the
construction and maintenance of any structures on state-owned land located within one mile of
the capitol building.’

3 Harn arrived in Oklahoma in 1891 as an agent of the General Land Office. In 1897, he purchased a 160-acre farm
approximately two miles northeast of downtown Oklahoma City, between present-day Northeast 13" Street and
Northeast 23" Street. Harn House (NRIS #73001566), a two-story, Queen Anne style building, was constructed on
the farm in 1904. By the time the capital relocated to Oklahoma City in 1910, Harn was practicing law and
speculating in real estate. For more information on Harn, see Don Green, “Harn, William Fremont (1859-1944),”
The Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture,
https://www.okhistory.org/publications/enc/entry.php?entry=HA027, accessed January 15, 2019, and National
Register of Historic Places, “Harn House, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma,” NRIS #73001566,
available at http://nr2_shpo.okstate.edu/pdfs/73001566.pdf.

4 Blackburn, Heart of the Promised Land, 105 and Bates, “Putnam”.

5 Construction on the State Capitol building began in 1914 and was completed in 1917. According to the National
Register nomination, Harn and Culbertson initially disagreed on the location of the state capitol building within their
addition. The dispute was settled by a judge who ruled that the west half of Capitol Square would derive from land
originally owned by Harn and that the east half would derive from land originally owned by Culbertson. Quit Claim
Deed to State of Oklahoma, Oklahoma County Clerk, Book 173, Page 71, June 22, 1914, records J. J. Culbertson
relinquishing his claim to the east half of Capitol Square. Also see National Register of Historic Places, “Oklahoma
State Capitol, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma,” NRIS #76001572, available at
http:/nr2_shpo.okstate.edu/pdfs/76001572.pdf and Cynthia Savage, “Oklahoma Capitol,” The Encyclopedia of
Oklahoma History and Culture, accessed January 15, 2019,
https://www.okhistory.org/publications/enc/entry.php?entry=0K080.

¢ The Lincoln Terrace Addition was platted by John James Culbertson in 1926. Much of the addition is incorporated
in the Capitol-Lincoln Terrace Historic District (NRIS #76001569).

7 Warranty Deed to State of Oklahoma, Oklahoma County Clerk, Book 182, Page 248, February 12, 1915.

8 Quit Claim Deed, Oklahoma County Clerk, Book 196, Pages 135-138, September 27, 1917.

9 Chapter 35, Senate Bill No. 86, State of Oklahoma Session Laws of 1919 (Oklahoma City: Harlow Publishing Co.,
1919).
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While the Oklahoma state government acquired portions of the State Capitol Addition, the
Oklahoma National Guard was deployed to the U.S.-Mexico border and soon mobilized to fight
in Europe during World War 1. ' In 1916, following an attack on Columbus, New Mexico, by
Pancho Villa that killed 17 Americans, Oklahoma guardsmen took part in the “Punitive
Expedition” into Mexico against Villa’s forces.!! In 1917, Guard members mobilized once again
when President Woodrow Wilson announced that the United States was entering World War I on
the side of the Allied Powers. Oklahoma guardsmen arrived in France in July 1918 as members
of the Thirty-Sixth National Guard Division and saw heavy fighting in October, one month
before the war ended. Oklahoma guardsmen fought with distinction during their brief time on the
front, with two men receiving Medals of Honor and thirty-nine men receiving Distinguished
Service Crosses.'?

The passage of the National Defense Act in 1920 formally created the Forty-Fifth Infantry
Division. Referred to by writer Kenny Franks as “the bulwark of the nation’s National Guard
organization for thirty years,” the act incorporated the National Guard into the U.S. Army and
divided the United States into nine “army corps areas.” According to Franks, the act’s intent was
“to create a small cadre of highly trained [Army] regulars that could swiftly be supplemented
with reservists and guardsmen in time[s] of national emergency.” Each “army corps area”
contained a division of regular U.S. Army personnel, two National Guard divisions, and three
Reserve divisions. Oklahoma was placed in the Eighth Corps Area and Oklahoma guardsmen
were reorganized into the 179" and 180™ Infantry regiments. The state was allotted several
medical, engineering, and artillery regiments and was also designated the headquarters of the
Forty-Fifth Infantry Division. In addition to Oklahoma, the Division drew from regiments
located in Colorado, Arizona, and New Mexico.!? Division members would later be known as
the “Thunderbirds” for the yellow thunderbird insignia featured on their uniforms.'

19 During the territorial period, when present-day Oklahoma was divided into Indian Territory and Oklahoma
Territory, each territory had their own militia. In 1898, men from both militias were recruited to fight in Cuba with
Theodore Roosevelt’s famed “Rough Riders” unit during the War of 1898 (commonly known as the Spanish-
American War). After statehood in 1907, the territorial militias were consolidated into the Oklahoma National
Guard. Subsequent documents and secondary sources commonly utilize the terms “Oklahoma National Guard” or
“Oklahoma Army National Guard” when referring to the Guard.

' Over 100 Mexicans were also killed during Villa’s attack. See George C. Herring, From Colony to Superpower:
U.S. Foreign Relations since 1776 (New York: Oxford University Press, 2008), 395.

12 Kenny Franks, Citizen Soldiers: Oklahoma’s National Guard (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1984), 30.
For information on the Oklahoma National Guard’s early history, see Franks, Citizen Soldiers, 3-37 and Franks,
“Oklahoma National Guard,” The Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture,
https://www.okhistory.org/publications/enc/entry.php?entry=0K 066, accessed November 13, 2018.

13 Franks, Citizen Soldiers, 38-39.

14 The first insignia of the Forty-Fifth Infantry Division was a yellow swastika on a red square background. The
division abandoned this insignia by the mid-1930s after the German Nazi Party adopted a similar symbol. In 1939,
the Division adopted the insignia of a yellow thunderbird on a red diamond background. “From Swastika to
Thunderbird,” 45" Infantry Division Museum,
http://www.45thdivisionmuseum.com/History/SwastikaToThunderbird.html, accessed February 6, 2019.
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Military Significance

Two state military figures played an integral role in both organizing the Forty-Fifth Infantry
Division in Oklahoma and promoting the construction of the Oklahoma National Guard Armory
in Oklahoma City. The first was Adjutant General Charles Franklin Barrett, popularly known as
the “Father of the Forty-Fifth Division.”!> The second was Major General William Shaffer Key.
Although Key is best known for his service in World War II, including as the commanding
officer of the Forty-Fifth Infantry Division, he was also a notable figure behind Depression-era
relief efforts in Oklahoma City. Both men used statewide military connections and political
influence to build National Guard armories throughout Oklahoma.

Charles Barrett arrived in Oklahoma City in 1893. According to Clarence Douglas, who served
with him, Barrett “was one of the first to volunteer” after the United States declared war on
Spain in 1898.'® Unfortunately, Barrett injured himself during training at nearby Fort Reno and
did not see action. Nevertheless, he went on to have a prominent military and political career in
Oklahoma. He participated in Oklahoma’s constitutional convention in 1906-7 and served in the
State House of Representatives and in the State Senate. By 1919, Barrett was appointed State
Adjutant General and, following passage of the National Defense Act in 1920, he oversaw the
creation of the Forty-Fifth Infantry Division. Over the course of almost twenty years, Barrett
mobilized the Oklahoma National Guard on numerous occasions. These included enforcing
martial law during the Tulsa Race Massacre in 1921, patrolling toll bridges along the Red River
during the “Bridge War” of 1931, and overseeing the placement of oil well sites on State Capitol
grounds in 1936."

William Key arrived in Wewoka, Oklahoma, in 1911. The next year, he enlisted in the
Oklahoma National Guard and was soon promoted to company captain. He served in the
“Punitive Expedition” of 1916-17 and fought in World War I, earning a promotion to major.
After the war, Key enjoyed a prosperous career in oil and real estate while still serving in the
National Guard. In 1927, he moved into a large, Italian Renaissance Revival-style house at 600
Culbertson Drive, in present-day Capitol-Lincoln Terrace Historic District (NRIS #76001569).
By the eve of the Great Depression, Key was working as director of Security National Bank and
of First National Bank and Trust Company (NRIS #SG100002220).'8

Throughout its early history, the Oklahoma National Guard lacked adequate, state-owned space
to train or to store equipment and munitions. Mobilization for the “Punitive Expedition” and

15 Alan R. Tripp, “Barrett, Charles Franklin (1861-1946),” The Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture,
https://www.okhistory.org/publications/enc/entry.php?entry=BA025, accessed November 13, 2018.

16 Clarence Douglas, “Barrett Weighs In,” Daily Oklahoman, February 9, 1936.

17 Barrett was inducted to the Oklahoma Hall of Fame in 1931. See Oklahoma Hall of Fame, “Barrett, Charles F.,
1931,” https://oklahomahof.com/member-archives/b/barrett-charles-f-1931, accessed January 29, 2018. Also see
Tripp, “Barrett, Charles Franklin” and Franks, Citizen Soldiers, 41-48. According to Franks, the National Guard was
deployed 34 times during the administration of Governor William “Alfalfa Bill” Murray (1929-1933). Franks,
“Oklahoma National Guard”.

18 Linda D. Wilson, “Key, William Shaffer (1889-1959),” The Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture,
https://www.okhistory.org/publications/enc/entry.php?entry=KE014, accessed November 13, 2018.
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World War I exposed these shortcomings. In preparation of the “Punitive Expedition,” for
example, Guardsmen in Oklahoma City had to meet at the State Fairgrounds. Writer Kenny
Franks writes that Oklahoma’s entire mobilization effort for the “Punitive Expedition “was
confused somewhat by the inability of federal officials to decide on a permanent mobilization
camp.”!” Unfortunately, facilities at the local level failed to improve after these military
campaigns. According to Dianna Everett, Oklahoma National Guard units continued to meet in
schoolhouses or other community buildings throughout the 1920s. In addition, they used town
parks or “open fields outside town” for drills. The overall lack of proper facilities had a negative
effect on the Guard’s military readiness. Furthermore, Everett notes that several “makeshift
armories” during this period were “easy prey for criminals” because Guardsmen lacked secure
buildings in which to store arms and ammunition.*

The fact that Guardsmen who lived in Oklahoma City continued to lack an adequate drill area or
a secure storage space further highlighted the state’s need for a military preparedness program.
In August 1931, an article by Alvin Rucker in the Daily Oklahoman noted that Guard members
used only two facilities within Oklahoma City: one at North Broadway Avenue and another on
West Main Street. According to the article, neither building was “suitable for drilling purposes.”
For this reason, Rucker noted that many Guardsmen supported the construction of a “state owned
armory” near the State Capitol.?! According to Clarence Douglas, Adjutant General Barrett’s
“fondest dream” was to construct “a permanent armory home for every military unit” of the
Oklahoma National Guard.?? Although each armory building would be rooted in a local
community, Barrett envisioned that they would collectively support a statewide military network
overseen by officials in Oklahoma City.

Economic Significance

It took the worst economic depression in American history before Barrett’s dream was realized.
Within a month after the Great Crash in October 1929, the stock market lost over half of its
value. This dramatic decline exposed other weaknesses in the economy, specifically in the
banking sector as many Americans withdrew their money for fear of losing their savings. These

19 Franks, Citizen Soldiers, 19.

20 Dianna Everett, “National Guard Armories,” The Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture,
https://www.okhistory.org/publications/enc/entry.php?entry=NA009, accessed November 6, 2018. Kenny Franks
notes that several units cooperated with local businesses to “finance their own training facilities” during this period.
Franks, Citizen Soldiers, 40.

21 Alvin Rucker, “State Owned Armory for Guard Urged,” Daily Oklahoman, August 23, 1931. According to the
Oklahoma Landmarks Inventory, there was a National Guard Armory located at 26 Broadway Circle. Built
sometime between 1906 and 1919, the building was the location of a grocery store and served as a meeting place for
various organizations in addition to housing an armory. See “Broadway Circle Armory,” Oklahoma Landmarks
Inventory, http://oli_shpo.okstate.edu/query_result.aspx?id=45505&pbc=P, accessed October 15, 2018. The facility
on North Broadway Avenue mentioned in the Daily Oklahoman article was most likely in reference to the building
at 1011-1015 North Broadway Avenue, built in circa 1914. See National Register of Historic Places, “Automobile
Alley Historic District, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma,” NRIS #99000351, Section 7, Page 16. See
“Broadway Circle Armory,” Oklahoma Landmarks Inventory,
http://oli_shpo.okstate.edu/query_result.aspx?id=45505&pbc=P, accessed October 15, 2018.

22 Douglas, “Barrett Weighs In”.

Section 8§ page 16



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
Oklahoma National Guard Armory Oklahoma County, Oklahoma
Name of Property County and State

“bank runs” put many of the nation’s financial institutions on the brink of insolvency and
contributed to an environment in which industries were unable to invest and business owners
were incapable of retaining employees or hiring new workers.*?

Meanwhile, economic trends in Oklahoma have led historian Robert Dorman to comment that
the state “was ahead of its time when it came to hard times.”?* The value of oil had experienced a
precipitous decline since the late 1920s due to overproduction, with prices dropping to as low as
ten cents a barrel. The state’s agricultural sector struggled for a similar reason. The
overproduction of wheat and cotton, two of Oklahoma’s primary farm products, contributed to a
steep decline in the overall value of crops produced within the state from $289 million in 1928 to
$76 million in 1932. The onset of a natural drought cycle throughout much of the Great Plains
compounded Oklahoma’s deteriorating economic situation even further. As crops failed due to a
lack of precipitation and little plant life remained to hold down the soil, clouds of dust filtered
into farms, homes, towns, and cities throughout the region. Destitute farmers, sharecroppers, oil
workers, and miners migrated to the state’s urban areas looking for work. Approximately 60,000
people moved out of the state entirely between 1930 and 1940.%

The construction of National Guard armories in Oklahoma City and throughout Oklahoma
during this period was part of a much broader economic effort to put underemployed or
unemployed individuals back to work and to modernize the nation’s infrastructure. In 1935,
President Franklin D. Roosevelt expanded the New Deal’s unemployment relief program by
creating the Works Progress Administration (WPA). Before the program’s termination in 1943,
the WPA provided jobs for over eight million Americans. Many of these jobs involved the
construction of public buildings such as court houses or schools and infrastructure such as
airports and roads.?®

This expansion of work relief projects at the federal level was accompanied in Oklahoma by
Governor Ernest Whitworth Marland’s “Little New Deal.” Marland entered Oklahoma’s oil
industry near Ponca City and, by 1922, his company controlled one-tenth of the world’s oil
supply. In 1928, however, a hostile takeover of the company by J. P. Morgan and Continental Oil
(Conoco) left Marland without a job. Shortly thereafter, Marland entered politics and was elected
to the U.S. House of Representatives in 1932. In 1934, Marland campaigned for governor and
won under the slogan “Bring the New Deal to Oklahoma.” Once in office, he pushed for a

23 David M. Kennedy, Freedom from Fear: The American People in Depression and War, 1929-1945 (New York:
Oxford University Press, 1999), 43-69.

24 Robert L. Dorman, Alfalfa Bill: A Life in Politics (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 2018), 238.

25'W. David Baird and Danny Goble, Oklahoma: A History (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 2008), 217-
225.

26 In 1939, the program’s name changed to the Works Projects Administration. In all, the WPA assisted in the
construction of over 2,500 hospitals, 5,900 schools, and 570,000 miles of road throughout the United States. In
addition, its Federal One program employed approximately 40,000 artists, writers, and researchers to complete many
public art and humanities initiatives, including public art displays, theater productions, and research efforts such as
the Born in Slavery project, which collected the first-person accounts of over 2,000 former slaves. For an overview
of the WPA at the national level, see Kennedy, Freedom from Fear, 252-257.
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statewide public works program and other reforms, including unemployment insurance and
pensions for elderly Oklahomans.?’

Adjutant General Charles Barrett’s dream of constructing new, state-of-the-art armory buildings
throughout Oklahoma went into action in the summer of 1935, when Oklahoma began receiving
direct federal aid and expertise for WPA projects. This aid included $2.5 million for the
construction of as many as 57 National Guard armories in Oklahoma, including at least one
building in Oklahoma City. Coordination of the entire project fell to William Key, who had been
appointed Oklahoma’s WPA director. A groundbreaking ceremony at Key’s hometown of
Wewoka on October 8, 1935, formally got the project underway. During the ceremony, Barrett
was quoted by the Daily Oklahoman as saying, “This is the beginning of the fulfillment of my
life’s ambition.”?8

However, the possibility that the WPA would build a large, state-owned armory near the State
Capitol in Oklahoma City soon faded. In November 1935, the WPA announced that it was
suspending armory construction throughout Oklahoma. At the time of the WPA’s announcement,
less than half of the armory buildings proposed were already under construction. Officials
throughout the state protested the decision because many municipalities had already donated the
land necessary to build an armory or had approved a bond to help finance construction.?’ Thanks
to director Key’s efforts, the WPA reinstated the armory construction program by the end of
1935. Nevertheless, even Key expressed pessimism toward the idea that the WPA would sponsor
the construction of an armory in Oklahoma City.*°

Contrary to the findings of prior historic preservation surveys in Oklahoma, specifically W.
David Baird’s WPA Structures Thematic Survey (1987) and Mary Jane Warde and Dianna
Everett’s Oklahoma’s Legacy of Defense (1993), the Oklahoma National Guard Armory at 200
Northeast 23" Street in Oklahoma City was not a WPA-sponsored project.>! There are two major
reasons why the WPA did not underwrite the construction of this Armory. First, director Key
came under scrutiny for the amount of federal money spent to build armories throughout
Oklahoma. For example, by the spring of 1936, Key had spent over $1.5 million for armory

27 Baird and Goble, Oklahoma, 218-219,228. For an overview of Marland’s career in the oil industry, see John
Joseph Mathews, Life and Death of an Oilman: The Career of E. W. Marland (Norman: University of Oklahoma
Press, 1951) and Bobby D. Weaver, “Marland Oil Company,” Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture,
https://www.okhistory.org/publications/enc/entry.php?entry=MA026, accessed February 7, 2019.

28 “State Armory Work Is Begun At Ceremony,” Daily Oklahoman, October 9, 1935, 4. Also see “Oklahoma City
Briefs: Engineer to Arrive Monday,” Daily Oklahoman, July 14, 1935, and “Three Major State Works Plans
Passed,” Daily Oklahoman, September 7, 1935, 2. Prior to his appointment as state WPA director, Key led
Oklahoma City’s Executive Relief Committee, which coordinated relief efforts conducted by private charities,
church groups, and organizations such as the American Red Cross. See Wilson, “Key, William Shaffer”.

2 “Armory Construction Program Cut; Only 23 of 59 Projects Approved,” Daily Oklahoman, November 13, 1935,
9.

30 «Work Expected on 57 State Armories,” Daily Oklahoman, December 26, 1935, 2.

31'W. David Baird, Final Report: WPA Structures Thematic Survey, Oklahoma State Historic Preservation Office,
1987; Mary Jane Warde and Dianna Everett, Oklahoma’s Legacy of Defense: National Guard Armories, Davis Air
Field (Muskogee), Whitaker Education and Training Center (Pryor), and Camp Gruber, Oklahoma, Oklahoma State
Historic Preservation Office, 1993.
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construction. This amounted to almost one-third of the approximately $5 million that the WPA
had allotted to the state for all of its projects. Furthermore, by this time, armory construction in
Oklahoma employed only 1,500 people, or two percent of the nearly 70,000 Oklahomans who
were on the WPA’s work rolls. Given these statistics, some Oklahomans expressed concerns that
Key was devoting an inordinate amount of federal money to a scheme that employed relatively
few people. At one point, the Daily Oklahoman, which was often critical of New Deal economic
relief efforts, disparagingly referred to the WPA’s armory construction project as “one of Key’s
pets since he took office.”*

The second reason why the WPA did not sponsor the construction of the Oklahoma National
Guard Armory pertains to manpower, specifically the skilled labor necessary to construct such a
large building. According to federal law, WPA-sponsored projects were supposed to be limited
in duration and pay prevailing wages. In other words, a WPA project could not pay wages higher
than what one could receive in the private sector. The WPA implemented this pay schedule so
that the federal government did not appear as if it was competing with private businesses for
employees. Although this strategy benefitted unskilled workers who received low wages as well
as many professionals in the arts and humanities who were unemployed, it was a disincentive for
many skilled workers such as masons or carpenters who could find higher wages in the private
sector. It was precisely those skilled workers that were necessary to build the Oklahoma National
Guard Armory.*

Adjutant General Barrett was among those convinced that WPA workers were unable to take on
the construction of the Oklahoma National Guard Armory because of its size and need for skilled
laborers.>* That construction on many WPA-sponsored armory projects was behind schedule
reinforced this skepticism. Despite expectations that construction of all 51 armories in Oklahoma
sponsored by the WPA would be complete by June 30, 1936, the Daily Oklahoman reported in
late July that most projects were “two months behind schedule” due to poor weather or delays in
procuring materials. Given these setbacks, the newspaper went so far as to refer to the entire

armory construction venture as a “beleaguered project”.*>

Therefore, unlike the WPA-sponsored armories built throughout Oklahoma during the Great
Depression, the Oklahoma National Guard Armory in Oklahoma City was a state economic
initiative that took place with assistance from the municipal government. In July 1936,
Oklahoma City formally recommended the location of the Armory within the State Capitol
Addition and called upon the WPA to commit $300,000 to the project if the city provided
$100,000 to pay for the skilled laborers necessary for its construction. From the city’s
perspective, it was essential to build a large armory near the State Capitol. As the Daily

32 “Armory Construction Program Cut”.

33 According to historian David Kennedy, the average WPA wage by 1936 was $52 a month nationally, but this
average wage was as low as $23 a month in southern states. Kennedy, Freedom from Fear, 254. Also see Kenneth
Franklin Kurz, “Works Progress Administration,” in The Oxford Companion to United States History, ed. Paul S.
Boyer (New York: Oxford University Press, 2001), 840.

34 Jack Bell, “Barrett Gets Congress Aid On Armories,” Daily Oklahoman, April 3, 1936.

35 “Armory Work Is Going Again,” Daily Oklahoman, July 28, 1936, 3. Also see Bell, “Barrett Gets Congress Aid
On Armories”.
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Oklahoman commented, “The [armory] building would not only serve all local units of the
[N]ational [G]uard but would [also] be headquarters for Gen. Charles F. Barrett...and his
staff.”3¢

This proposal by Oklahoma City was followed by a flurry of activity by the state legislature.
Frustrated by inaction and gridlock during the 1935 legislative session, Governor Marland called
the legislature into a special session during the winter of 1936-37. During this special session,
Marland achieved some of the most notable achievements of his “Little New Deal,” including
passage of the Oklahoma Social Security Act and the Oklahoma Unemployment Compensation
Act. Furthermore, on January 6, 1937, Marland approved Senate Bill No. 14. This law authorized
the construction of the Oklahoma National Guard Armory at is present location by appropriating
up to $1 million for a “State Capitol Ground Building Fund.” The bulk of this fund provided for
the construction of the Jim Thorpe Office Building (known historically as the State Capitol
Office Building). Any leftover funds were reserved for building the Armory. Money for the
project came from the sale of leases to state-owned oil and natural gas wells near the Capitol
building.*’

In the event that the state had insufficient funds to build the Armory, the law permitted
Oklahoma to apply to any “agency of the Federal government as is proper” for financial aid.*® In
March 1937, the Board of Public Affairs requested the Public Works Administration (PWA) for
aid because state oil revenues were not immediately available to pay for the project.*” In late
May, however, the PWA rejected the request because the state had not yet allocated two-thirds of
the funding necessary for the project to become eligible for PWA assistance.*’ The state

appealed the decision, but, contrary to claims otherwise, there is no evidence that the PWA
assisted in the construction of either the Jim Thorpe Office Building or the Oklahoma National
Guard Armory.*! This absence of federal financial assistance for construction reinforces the

36 «“Armory Plan to Be Offered,” Daily Oklahoman, July 15, 1936, 1. By this point, director Key and Adjutant
General Barrett had also pushed for the WPA to contract with a local construction company to build the Oklahoma
City National Guard Armory. See “City Armory Hopes Raised,” Daily Oklahoman, January 2, 1936, and Bell,
“Barrett Gets Congress Aid On Armories”.

37 Oklahoma Session Laws of 1936-1937, Ch. 24, Article 5, “State Office Building,” approved January 6, 1937.

3 Ibid., Section 5.

39 The PWA contributed $1.5 million toward the construction of downtown Oklahoma City’s Municipal and County
Complex, which includes the Oklahoma County Courthouse (NRIS #92000126), the Oklahoma City Municipal
Building (NRIS #7000521), the Oklahoma City Municipal Auditorium (NRIS #16000850), and the Oklahoma City
Police Headquarters and City Jail. See “Summer Fails to Halt Trade,” Daily Oklahoman, August 1, 1935, 2.

40 Extracts from the Minutes of a Meeting of the State Board of Public Affairs of the State of Oklahoma, June 24,
1937, Oklahoma Military Department Records. According to the meeting minutes, the state had allocated $651,000
for the project by late June and anticipated receiving an additional $40,000 per month from the revenue provided by
state-owned oil and gas wells.

41 The Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture credits the PWA for aiding in the construction of both the
Jim Thorpe Office Building and the Oklahoma City Armory. Dianna Everett, “Public Works Administration,” The
Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture, accessed November 30, 2018,
https://www.okhistory.org/publications/enc/entry.php?entry=PU003. However, there is no mention of the Jim
Thorpe Office Building or the Oklahoma City National Guard Armory in the indexes of C. W. Short and R. Stanley-
Brown, Public Buildings: A Survey of Architecture of Projects Constructed by Federal and Other Governmental
Bodies Between the Years 1933 and 1939 with the Assistance of the Public Works Administration (Washington, DC:
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importance of the Oklahoma National Guard Armory as a state-sponsored economic
development project.

Architectural Significance

On October 22, 1937, the Daily Oklahoman reported that more than $200,000 in “state funds”
was available to build the Armory after the bid to construct the Jim Thorpe Office Building was
less than originally anticipated.*> Construction on the Armory officially began on March 15,
1938, after a ceremony presided over by Governor Marland. Bryan F. Nolen, a major in the
Oklahoma National Guard and supervising architect of the statewide armory construction
project, designed the Armory. Charles A. Dunning Construction Company is listed as the
builder.** Construction on the Armory was completed by early October, when the Daily
Oklahoman announced the transfer of fifteen Oklahoma National Guard units to its location.**

The dedication ceremony for the Oklahoma National Guard Armory occurred on November 11,
1938.% During the ceremony, Governor Marland awarded a distinguished service medal to
Adjutant General Barrett and assisted in the laying of the official cornerstone. The Daily
Oklahoman reported that the Armory was “decorated lavishly” for the ceremony, which was
“attended principally by state officials, commanders of many state national guard units,
personnel of several of the units, and members of official and military families.” Barrett spoke
during the ceremony. So did former WPA director Key, who had lost in the Democratic
gubernatorial primary earlier in 1938 to incoming governor Leon C. Phillips.*® In his official
remarks, Barrett credited the state legislature for providing the funding necessary to construct the
building. The Armory was open to the public throughout the afternoon. Guardsmen had much of
their equipment on display, “including machine guns, gas masks, trench mortars, ambulances,
first aid, light artillery and communication facilities.”*’ A parade and military concert concluded
the event and, that night, state officials, Guardsmen, and their families danced on the open drill
floor.*

Government Printing Office, 1939), or in Division of Information, Public Works Administration, America Builds:
The Record of PWA (Washington, DC: Government Printing Office, 1939).

42 «“Armory Fund Left By Bids,” Daily Oklahoman, October 22, 1937. The Jim Thorpe Office Building was built in
1938 and notable Oklahoma architect John Duncan Forsyth is credited for the building’s design. See Dianna Everett,
“Forsyth, John Duncan (1887-1963),” The Encyclopedia of Oklahoma History and Culture, accessed January 15,
2019, https://www.okhistory.org/publications/enc/entry.php?entry=F0O060.

43 “Marland to Break Ground at Armory, Daily Oklahoman, March 15, 1938, 2. According to Oklahoma’s National
Register of Historic Places database, Charles A. Dunning Construction Company is also credited with building the
Alfalfa County Courthouse in 1921 (NRIS #84002937) and the Oklahoma City Municipal Building in 1936-37
(NRIS # 7000521).

4 “National Guard to Move Next Week,” Oklahoman, October 2, 1938.

45 Now known as Veterans Day in the United States, November 11 was originally known as Armistice Day to
commemorate the end of World War I in Europe.

46 According to Linda Wilson, Key was accused of corruption in his oversight of the building of at least one state
National Guard armory during his campaign for governor. Wilson, “Key, William Shaffer”.

47 “New State Armory Will Be Dedicated,” Daily Oklahoman, November 8, 1938, 20.

4 See “New State Armory Will Be Dedicated,” Daily Oklahoman, November 8, 1938, 20 and “Barrett Gets State
Honor For Services,” Daily Oklahoma, November 12, 1938.
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Supervising architect Bryan Nolen created standardized plans to guide the construction of all
armory buildings in Oklahoma, including the Oklahoma National Guard Armory. Most armories
were a maximum of two stories in height and accommodated up to four National Guard units
(each unit comprised of fifty men). For example, Nolen’s design for a one-unit armory at Eufaula
was duplicated at ten other locations across the state. Furthermore, most armories had a similar if
not identical floorplan. Regardless of whether it housed fifty, one hundred, or even two hundred
Guardsmen, an armory’s interior typically centered on a large, concrete drill floor.
Administrative offices and other spaces such as classrooms or storage areas were located towards
the front of the building. Overhead garage doors were located towards the back or the side of a
building.*” Oklahoma’s armories differed most in their building materials, decorative details, and
craftsmanship. According to Dianna Everett, these characteristics could range widely due to a
“supervisors’ skill level and the laborers’ experience level and adaptability.”>°

Although its floorplan is like that of its contemporaries, the Oklahoma National Guard Armory
was ultimately unlike any other armory built in the state during this period. Contemporary
observers marveled at the building’s size. Standing three stories in height, the Oklahoma
National Guard Armory was the largest armory in Oklahoma at the time of its construction.
Approximately 700 officers and men were scheduled to use the facility upon its opening. In
addition to the massive drill hall (185 feet long by 135 feet wide) at its center, the building had at
least five garages, a firing range, and ample storage for munitions located on the first story. The
second and third stories provided space for record keeping and included at least five classrooms
for instruction.®!

The Oklahoma National Guard also cost $200,000 to build, making it the most expensive armory
constructed in the state during this period. In contrast, armories constructed with assistance from
the WPA cost between $30,000 and $60,000 and ranged from one to two stories in height.>
Unlike less expensive materials such as sandstone and limestone, which were utilized at over
thirty WPA-sponsored armories in Oklahoma, the Oklahoma National Guard Armory is clad in
blonde brick. In addition, similar to other public buildings constructed in Oklahoma City during
the Great Depression, the Armory is “straightforwardly functional and utilitarian.”>®> While
many WPA-sponsored armories incorporated battlements or other decorative characteristics to
convey the appearance of a fortress, the Oklahoma National Guard Armory utilizes only a
handful of vertical elements to distinguish from what is otherwise a horizontal orientation. The
most notable of these are inset panels of sailor bricks in a stacked bond that extend vertically
between the lintel of a window on the second story and the subsill of a window on the third story.

4 Warde and Everett, Oklahoma’s Legacy of Defense, 6-7.

30 Everett, “National Guard Armories”.

5! Those officers and men scheduled to use the Oklahoma City Armory were affiliated with the 179" Infantry, 70™
Field Artillery, 189" Field Artillery, 120" Medical Regiment, 120" Quartermasters Regiment, and 10" Engineers.
“New State Armory Will Be Dedicated”.

32 Warde and Everett, Oklahoma’s Legacy of Defense, 5.

33 Quoted in Baird, Final Report, 21-22.
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The Oklahoma National Guard Armory served as a versatile space in the heart of Oklahoma City
that sustained a variety of civic activities. In April 1939, less than six months after the dedication
ceremony that opened it, the Armory hosted a state indoor tennis tournament.>* In addition to
athletics, several organizations in Oklahoma City took advantage of the ample space offered by
the Armory. For example, in the fall of 1939, the Oklahoma City Kennel Club held its annual
dog show within the walls of the Armory, and the newspaper reported that a crowd filled the
building to “see (and hear) the prize animals.” Such uses fulfilled the primary purpose of any
public works project, which was to provide for the needs of an entire community.>®

The Armory also served the Oklahoma National Guard well on the eve of World War II. In
February 1939, only a few months before the war erupted in Europe, a full-page spread in the
Sunday edition of the Daily Oklahoman portrayed the Armory as fully capable of meeting the
National Guard’s needs. In addition to providing ample storage space for uniforms and
munitions, the Armory featured “officers’ quarters, locker rooms, shower rooms, supply dumps,
class rooms, orderly rooms and garages for the care of all motor equipment.” The first floor
included a firing range that could accommodate up to six individuals at a time. The enormous
drill floor in the center of the building enabled up to four National Guard units “to drill in full
equipment each week night.”>’ Oklahoma received an immediate return for its investment when
National Guard units passed routine inspections by U.S. Army personnel with flying colors.’® On
May 14, 1939, the Daily Oklahoman celebrated the 120" Medical Regiment of the Oklahoma
National Guard, commanded by Colonel Rex Bolen, as the first unit “to stand armory inspection
and come through without a single deficiency marked against it.”>° Bolen credited the Armory
for his regiment’s high marks, stating, “Now we are able to take better care of the government
property, since we have better facilities.”*’

Colonel Bolen’s remarks underlined the overall significance of the Oklahoma National Guard
Armory as a Great Depression-era public works project. As Oklahoma architectural historian
George Bumiller noted, these projects were “designed to serve the community as a whole rather
than individuals.” In addition, they represented “examples of cooperation between community

34 “Patterson Is Easy Winner in Net Meet,” Daily Oklahoman, April 1, 1939, 12.

55 “California Poodle Judged Best as Dog Show Closes,” Daily Oklahoman, October 2, 1939, 4.

%6 Baird, Final Report, 21.

57 “The Guard at Home,” Daily Oklahoman, February 12, 1939, 10-D. A subsequent article indicated that that
National Guard units drilled in the Armory four nights a week. “Guard Drills To Be In Dark,” Daily Oklahoman,
May 14, 1939, A-9.

38 During this period, the inspection of an Oklahoma National Guard unit by the U.S. Army typically occurred twice
a year: once at the unit’s respective armory and once during summer exercises at Fort Sill.

59 A deficiency being something that the enlisted men or officers forgot to do something required of them or did not
adhere to a specific Army regulation very well. Such regulations involved any range of things, including keeping
uniforms clean and in proper condition, first aid procedures, and keeping mobilization plans up to date.

60 «“Medical Regiment First To Get Flawless Rating,” Daily Oklahoman, May 14, 1939, 10-A. According to the
report, a “deficiency” entailed an enlisted man or officer failing to adhere to an Army regulation. Army regulations
involved a wide range of requirements, including cleanliness of uniforms and keeping mobilization plans up-to-date.
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participation and national policy.”®! Above all, they provided security. As historian David
Kennedy notes, federal and state relief and public works programs offered “security for
vulnerable individuals...for capitalists and consumers, for workers and employers, for
corporations and farms and homeowners and bankers and builders as well.”®? The construction of
the Oklahoma National Guard Armory provided economic security to those who designed and
built the building. Likewise, the Oklahoma National Guardsmen who trained on the Armory’s
drill floor protected the security of all Oklahomans by fighting in the Forty-Fifth Infantry
Division. For these reasons, the Oklahoma National Guard Armory is a symbol of the
commitment of the Oklahoma National Guard to meet military readiness and is a monument to
the importance of public investment and community participation in the face of economic
challenges and hardship.

¢! Quoted in Baird, Final Report, 21.
62 Kennedy, Freedom From Fear, 365.
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Previous documentation on file (NPS):

__X_preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested
_____previously listed in the National Register

_____previously determined eligible by the National Register

___designated a National Historic Landmark
____recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #
recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #
____recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey #

Primary location of additional data:

__X_ State Historic Preservation Office
__X_ Other State agency
___ Federal agency
__X_Local government
___ University
__X_ Other
Name of repository: _Metropolitan Library System, Oklahoma City, OK

Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned):

10) Geographical Data

Acreage of Property __ 2.35 MOL

Use either the UTM system or latitude/longitude coordinates

Latitude/Longitude Coordinates
Datum if other than WGS84:
(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places)

1. Latitude: 35.492588 Longitude: -97.509243
Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.)

The boundary includes approximately two acres within the State Capitol Complex, beginning
at the southwest corner of the intersection of Northeast 23" Street and North Walnut Avenue,
extending south for 370 feet along North Walnut Avenue, then west for 280 feet along an
alley/driveway to the southwest corner of the Armory, then north for 370 feet to Northeast
23" Street, then east for 280 feet along a sidewalk located to the south of Northeast 23
Street to the point of beginning.
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Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)

The Armory is situated on Lots 1-3 and 10-12 in Block 7 of the State Capitol Addition. The
State Board of Public Affairs did not confine development to the platted lots after this block
was conveyed to the state. Therefore, the boundaries are limited to the area directly related to
the Armory during the period of significance.

11) Form Prepared By

name/title: _Catherine Montgomery AIA, President; Matthew A. Pearce, Ph.D., Historian
organization: _Preservation and Design Studio, PLLC

street & number: 616 Northwest 21 Street, Suite 114

city or town: Oklahoma City __ state: _Oklahoma__ zip code: _73103-1861

e-mail: cm@PandDStudio.com

telephone: 405-601-6814

date: May 7, 2019

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

e Maps: A USGS map or equivalent (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's
location.

e Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous
resources. Key all photographs to this map.

e Additional items: (Check with the SHPO, TPO, or FPO for any additional items.)

Sections 9-end page 28



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018

Oklahoma National Guard Armory Oklahoma County, Oklahoma

Name of Property County and State
Photographs

Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels
(minimum), 3000x2000 preferred, at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger. Key all photographs
to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to
the photograph number on the photo log. For simplicity, the name of the photographer,
photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn’t need to be labeled on
every photograph.

Photo Log

Name of Property: Oklahoma City National Guard Armory

City or Vicinity: Oklahoma City

County: Oklahoma State: Oklahoma

Photographer: M. Pearce, Preservation and Design Studio, PLLC

Date Photographed: January 2019

Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of

camera:
Number | Subject Direction
0001 North-facing facade. South
0002 North-facing fagade (left) and west side elevation (right). Southeast
0003 West side elevation (left) and south elevation (right). Northeast
0004 South elevation (left) and east side elevation (right). Northwest
0005 Exterior of main entrance. South
0006 Drill floor. North
0007 Drill floor. Southeast
0008 Corridor, second floor. South
0009 Staircase to third floor. Northeast
0010 Corridor, third floor. South
0011 Close-up of steel trusses and south-facing windows. East

0012 Classroom, second floor. Northeast
0013 Typical room, third floor. North

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic
Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response
to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460
et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including

time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding
this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior,
1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.
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The Big Picture: Aerial
(Google Maps 2018)

The Oklahoma National Guard Armory building is located at 200 Northeast 23 Street, approximately
two miles north of downtown Oklahoma City. It is closely associated with the everyday operations of
Oklahoma'’s state government. The Oklahoma State Capitol (NRIS #76001572) is located approximately
one mile east of the Armory. Several state government buildings are located along North Lincoln
Boulevard to the northeast and southeast, including the Office of the Attorney General and the Jim Thorpe
Office Building (known historically as the State Capitol Office Building). Various businesses, including
several fast food restaurants, are located along the north side of Northeast 23 Street. The Centennial
Expressway (Interstate 235/US Hwy 77) is less than one-quarter mile west of the Armory.
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North

Close Up: Aerial
(Google Maps 2018)

The Oklahoma National Guard Armory is a three-story brick building that spans Lots 1-3 and Lots 10-12
in Block 7 of the State Capitol Addition to Oklahoma City. It was built in 1938. The building’s north-facing
facade is set back and slightly above grade from Northeast 23 Street. North Walnut Avenue extends
the full length of the building’s east side elevation. A large, paved parking lot is located along the full
length of the west side elevation. An alley/driveway extends the full width of the south (back) elevation.
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The Big Picture: 1911, The State Capitol Addition to Oklahoma City
(Oklahoma County Clerk)

The State Capitol Addition to Oklahoma City was platted by the State Capitol Building Company in 1911.
In 1915, the company conveyed all of Blocks 6, 7, and 8 to the state. Although the state did not confine
development to the platted lots, Lots 1-3 and 10-12 in Block 7 would become the site of the Armory.
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The Big Picture: 1949, Volume 2, Map #209

(Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps)

The Oklahoma National Guard Armory was constructed in 1938 at 200 Northeast 23rd Street. The
property first appears in the updated edition of the 1922 Sanborn maps published in 1949.
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Close Up: 1949, Volume 2, Map #209

(Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps)

A closer view of the 1949 edition of the Sanborn map provides more details about the Armory. The interior
of the central block is three stories in height and features brick piers/columns around the perimeter and
a concrete floor in the center. An elevator is located near the northwest corner of the central block.
Rectangular-shaped projections that range from one to three stories in height are located on each side

of the central block. All of the projections have a concrete roof with a 24-inch parapet. The entire building
is of brick construction.
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Big Picture: 1950, Vol. 2, Map #209

(Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps)

The 1950 edition of the Sanborn map does not indicate any major changes in the immediate vicinity of
the Oklahoma National Guard Armory building.
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Close Up: 1950, Vol. 2, Map #209

(Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps)

A closer view of the 1950 edition of the Sanborn map indicates no changes to the Armory.
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The Big Picture: 1955, Vol. 2, Map #209

(Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps)

According to the 1955 edition of the Sanborn map, there are many state-owned buildings located in the
vicinity of the Oklahoma National Guard Armory.
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Close Up: 1955, Vol. 2, Map #20

(Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps)

The 1955 edition is the last available public access edition of the Sanborn maps. The northern portion of

the central block is designated as office space.
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1935

State WPA director William Shaffer Key (left) and State Adjutant General Charles Franklin Barrett (right)
promoted the building of National Guard armories in Oklahoma during the Great Depression. This
photograph appeared in the Daily Oklahoman on October 9, 1935, and was accompanied with the
caption, “Oklahoma’s highest officials turned out Tuesday for [a] ground-breaking ceremony at Wewoka
to start the state’s $2,167,922 armory construction program.” (Oklahoma Historical Society, Oklahoma
Publishing Company Photography Collection)

1939
Lieutenant Colonel Turner Roark conducts a class in the Oklahoma National Guard Armory. This
photograph was part of a full-page spread in the Daily Oklahoman titled “The Guard at Home,” which
described how National Guard officers and men were utilizing the ample space provided by the new
Armory building. Photograph by A. Y. Owen. (Oklahoma Historical Society, Oklahoma Publishing
Company Photography Collection)
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1941

This aerial photograph shows the location of the Oklahoma National Guard Armory directly west of the

Oklahoma State Capitol. (Map Room, Oklahoma State University Library)

1948
While the Forty-Fifth Infantry Division fought in Europe during World War Il, the Oklahoma Highway Patrol
occupied the Oklahoma National Guard Armory. Both entities jointly occupied the space for several years
after the war. (Daily Oklahoman, January 28, 1948, 4)




NPS Form 10-900-a (Rev. 8/2002) OMB No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior Oklahoma National Guard Armory
National Park Service Name of Property

Oklahoma County, Oklahoma
National Register of Historic Places county and State
Continuation Sheet Name of multiple listing (if applicable)
Section number _11 Page 13

1938 Cornerstone (Photograph circa 2010)
The cornerstone confirms that the Oklahoma National Guard Armory was constructed in 1938. It lists
Bryan W. Nolen as the architect and Dunning Construction Company as the builder. (Oklahoma Military
Department)

200 NE 23" Street: 2008

(Oklahoma County Assessor)
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200 NE 23" Street: 2012

(Oklahoma County Assessor)

200 NE 23" Street: 2012

(Oklahoma County Assessor)
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__CLG
_ X Accept _  Retumn — Reject 12/2/2019 __ Date

Abstract/Summary The Oklahoma National Guard Armory is of statewide significance and meets National

Comments: Register Criteria A and C in the areas of Military History, Economics and Architecture. Built
in 1938, the three-story, barrel-roofed Armory building was completed as a major component
of the State's "Little New Deal" program, representing a significant state-sponsored
economic development project during the Depression. Designed by armory architect Major
Bryan W. Nolen (OK National Guard), the building is an excellent example of Depression-era
armory design, here incorporating elements of stripped or streamlined Moderne design.
Completion of the Armory occurred at a time of significant expansion of state government
services and provided the State's growing National Guard detachments with a state-of-the-
art, permanent central armory and training facility, significantly bolstering program efficiency
and readiness. [Part 1 certification approval 7/2/2019, Case No. 40470]

Recommendation/ Accept NR Criteria A and C

Criteria
Reviewer  Paul Lusignan Discipline  Historian
Telephone (202)354-2229 Date 12/2/2019

DOCUMENTATION: see attached comments : No see attached SLR : No















CAPITOL — MEDICAL CENTER IMPROVEMENT AND ZONING COMMISSION
2401 N. Lincoln Blvd. Ste. 212

Oklahoma City, OK 73105

Office: 405-522-0440

Fax: 405-522-3861

August 26, 2019

DAN ROSS
CHAIRMAN

CAPITOL=MEDICALCENTER = Catherine Montgomery, AIA, President
IMPROVEMENT AND ZONING COMMISSION
Matthew A. Pearce, Ph.D., Historian
Preservation and Design Studio, PLLC
616 NW 21st St., Ste. 114
Oklahoma City, OK 73103-1861

RE: National Register Nomination for
Oklahoma National Guard Armory
200 Northeast 23rd Street, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma

Dear Ms. Montgomery and Dr. Pearce:

The Oklahoma National Guard Armory located at 200 Northeast 23rd Street in Oklahoma
City, Oklahoma County, Oklahoma, is within the zoning jurisdiction of the Capitol-Medical
Center Improvement and Zoning Commission.

| am pleased to inform you that the Commission, at its regularly scheduled meeting on
August 23, 2019, voted unanimously to support the nomination of the Oklahoma National
Guard Armory to the National Register of Historic Places due to its statewide significance
under National Register Criterion “A” for Military and Economics and under Criterion “C”
for Architecture.

Respectfully,

Casey A. Jones, AICP

Assistant Planner

Capitol-Medical Center Improvement and Zoning Commission
405-522-1650

casey.jones@omes.ok.gov

cc: Sara Werneke, National Register Program Coordinator
Oklahoma State Historic Preservation Office

Will Rogers Office Building (2401 N. Lincoln Blvd., Suite 212) e PO Box 53448 e Oklahoma City, OK 73152-3448
Telephone: 405/522-0440 e Fax: 405/522-3861 ¢ OMES.OK.gov



Reset Form Print Form

EXHIBIT “A”

PROPERTY OWNER FORM

Name of Property: Oklahoma National Guard Armory
Location of Property (Street/City/County): 200 Northeast 23rd Street, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
County

I, Matthew Pearce , hereby certify that the following constitutes
the complete list of owners of record for the property named above. This information
was obtained from the Oklahoma County Assessor

Name: State of Oklahoma
Address: PO Box 52000
City: Oklahoma City
State: Oklahoma

Zip Code: 73152

(Signature of Nomination Preparer)
Typed Name and Title: Matthew Pearce, Ph.D.

Date: May 8, 2019

Note: If nomination affects multiple property owners, please contact the SHPO'’s
Architectural Historian at 405/522-4478 for details on how to document all property
owners.



EXHIBIT “B”

ELECTED OFFICIALS FORM

Name of Property: Oklahoma National Guard Armory

Location of Property (Street/City/County): 200 NE 23rd Street, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma County

AND

For the above referenced property, provide both:
Mayor’s Name (if within a city or town): David Holt
Address: 200 North Walker Avenue

City/State/Zip Code: Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102

Name of Chairman, Board of County Commissioners: Raymond L. Vaughn, Jr.
Address: 320 Robert S Kerr Avenue #621

City/State/Zip Code: Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102

The above named property is located in Oklahoma Senate District(s): 48

The State Senator(s)’ name(s) and address(es) is (are):

Senator George E. Young
2300 North Lincoln Boulevard, Oklahoma City, OK 73105

The above named property is located within Oklahoma State House of
Representatives District(s): 99

The State Representative(s)’ name(s) and address(es) is (are):

Representative Ajay Pittman, 2300 North Lincolon Boulevard, Oklahoma City, OK 73105

Note: The above information is used for satisfying federal requirements for notification
that properties are being considered for nomination to the National Register of Historic
Places and for courtesy notices of listing in the National Register.






Oklahoma Histor ical SOCiety Founded May 27, 1893

State Historic Preservation Office

Oklahoma History Center » 800 Nazih Zuhdi Drive ¢ Oklahoma City, OK 73105-7917
(405) 521-6249 » Fax (405} 522-0816 » www.okhistory.org/shpo/shpom.htm

October 22, 2019

Joy Beasley

Keeper and Chief National Register and
National Historic Landmark Programs

National Park Service

1849 C Street NW, Mail Stop 7228

Washington D.C. 20240

Dear Ms. Beasley:

We are pleased to transmit three National Register of Historic Places nominations for Oklahoma
properties. The nominations are for the following properties:

Oklahoma National Guard Armory, 200 Northeast 23rd Street, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
County

State Highway Department Testing Laboratory, 2311 North Central Avenue, Oklahoma City,
Oklahoma County

iroquois Apartments, 900 NW 13th Street, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma County
Harmony School, 1537 NE 24th Street, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma County

Three of the five members of the Historic Preservation Review Committee (state review
board) were present for the public meeting at which each of these nominations was
considered and the recommendation to the State Historic Preservation Officer was
formulated. Therefore, the member possessing the requisite professional qualifications for
evaluation of each nominated property participated in the recommendation’s formulation.

We look forward to the results of your review. If there any further questions regarding the
nominations, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,

Deputy State Historic
Preservation Officer

*Enclosures
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Lots one (1), two (£), three (3), four (4), Five 25) six (8)
seven (7), eight (8) rfifteen (15), sixteen (16) seventeen (17) and

eighteen (18), all in block two (&) in Centrzl Park Addition to Okle- e
homa City, Oklehoms, s shown by the recorded plat thereof.

Lots twenty-onme (&£l) &nd twenty-two, (££) block one (1) AT
Harmony Hill Addition to QOklszhomz City, Stete of Oklahome, ss the seme <¢§ia
appears on the recorded plat thereof.

’

e

The South Helf (3) of the Southezst Quarter ($) o:i the Northeest
_Guarter (%) oi the Southezst Querter () of Section fourteen (14), e
townshlp twelve (1£), renge three (3), w.I.M. g

jrieene.Commencing at the Northeast corner oi the Southezst Guerter A
(%) of section twenty seven (£7), township twelve (l%) renge three (3) gqﬂ
West I. M., running thence south zlong szid ssa section line one
thousand eight hundred forty-four and 63/100 (1844.63) feetj thence due

~ West one thousund two hundred ninety-eight and 8/10 (1298.8’ feet, K

! thence north one thousand eight hundred forty-four znd 63/100 (1844.63)

; feet, thence ezst #long helf section line one thcussend &nd two hundred

i ninety-eight and 8/10 51298.8) feet, to place of beginning ¢nd conteining

i fifty-five (55) ecres, Apx Cowedaged 13 %S

A Lots number thirty-five (35),(thirty-six), thirty-seven (27)
sthirty-eight (38) in block one (1) North Last Highlznd's Addition &s
shown by the recorded plet therecf.

"

seme being a sub-division of lots six (6), Ross Heights Being and
J %ddition to Oklzhoma City, Oxlanoms, more particularly described es
» follows:

/{ Lots nine (3) =nd ten (10) in block two (£), Berkley Pl:ce,

Beginning st & point three hundred five (305) feet North znd
two-hundred twenty-five (£:£5) feet west cr the Southesst corner of Lot
six (8) to Foss Heights Addition to Oklzhoma City, Oklahoms, thence ot

; gnq hundred forty &lzﬁ} feet South, thence iifty ang feet West, thence
\one hundred forty (140) feet MNorth, thence fifty (50) feect East, to the
oint of beginning.
, Eight lots, scme belng the elght (8) lots off the Northeast
“‘corner of block taenty (Z0) of Barrow's Second Ad:iition to Oklehoma City,
Oklshoma, more particularly described &s fcllows:éi,uéiuugb.(ér—--l Zl

Beginning t the North East corner of swid bloeck running
South one hundred thirty (130) fect %o en elley thence west
two hundred (£00) feet thence North one nundred thirty (l30) ifeet to
the North line of seid five (5) acres, wus thence Ecst two hunired

(4£00) feet to the place @ beginning.

Beginning &t & point of twenty-iive (£5) feet nurth oi the
Bouthwest corner of Blacok seventezn (17) Ross Heights Second Ad-
dition to Oklahoma City, according to the recorded plat thereof, L
thence ezst one hundred forty (140) feet, thence dorth iifty (50)

feet, thence West one hundred forty (140) feet, thence South 1ifty
(50) feet to the point of beginning being = parcel of ground fifty by
one hundred forty (50' X 140'), feet.

Beginning at & point twenty-four end one half (£43) feet due
South of the Northeast corner of lot numbered three (3) in Danforth's
Addition to Oklahoma City, Oklehoma, &ccording to the reccrded plat
thereof, thence west forty-nine (495 feet, thence south one hundred
twenty-eight (128) feet, thence East forty-nine (49) feet, thence north
one hundred twenty-eight (1:8) feet to the point of beginning.

All of block eleven (11), twelve (1£), thirteen (13) =znd
fourteen (14) in E. #. Crum's Addition to Oklehoms City, Oklahoma. L

Lots nine (3) and ten (10) in block two (£) in Stevens-Hemill
Addition to Oklazhome City, 2s shown by the originedd end emended pléts
thereof, szid addition belng & sub-aivision of block (15) encd the eakt,
one-hzlf (%) of block ten (1Q) of Ross “eights, as plat of which 1is now
recorded in the Register of Deed's Office in ssid County and State.
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Lots thirteen (13), fourteen (14), fifteen (15), sixteen
. (16), seventeen (17), eighteen (18), nineteen (19), twenty (:Q) twenty-
one til), twenty-two (££), twenty-three (43) znd twenty-four (£4) o
in Block two (£) in Frenclis Helghts Addition to Oklahoms City, as
shown by the recorded plats therecof,

e North half (%) of the Northwest Quarter (2) of Northes st Quarter
3 (1) of SBoutheast Quarter (%) of Section one (1) township twelve (18) .
‘o tange three W,I.M., beginning & orthwest corner ¢nd runalng east.

"' Five secres.

Beginning st the Northeacst corner of west one halfl (%) of
_the Southwagp Quarter (%) of Section twenty-four (:4) Townshif twelve (12)
~No » TEnge three (3); %, M. thence east two hundred (&0
thénce south six hundred &n s %#E’aao)*geet, thénce #eé"sgx“ﬁﬁﬁgied“
. sixty (680) feet, thence north six hundred sixty (660) feet, thence
Last four hundred =ud sixty (460) feet, to point of beginning, cone
tzining ten (10) zcres, more or less.

Lots five (5) end six (8), eleven Ell) and twelve (1)
nineteen (19) =znd twenty (£0) in block two (£) in Haere's Like View
Addition, an sddition to Oklahoms City, ecccording to the recorded plat
thereot,

Beginning at & point being the northeest corner of the Southesst
Quarter(}g of the bouthwest Querter () of section eight (8), township
twelve (1¢) Renge two (£) zccording to the gdvernment survey, thence

, south one hundred thirty two (13z) fect, thence west six nundred sixty
(660) feet, thence north one hundred thirty-two (13%) feet, thence
east six hundred sixty (660) feet, to point of beginning and contzining
two (8) scres more or less.

Lots eleven (11) =nd twelve (1£) in block nine (9), Culbertson
Best Hizhland Addition to Oklehcme City, Oklzhomz, according to the
recorded plat thereof,

A ~ Lots nine (9) to thirtyeen (13) inclusive, sixteen (18) end

~'gseventeen (17) twenty-six (28) to thirty-two (3%2) inclusive, thirty-

'y five (85) and thirty-six (36) in block one (1) of the Patrick Moore
Adéition, number three (3) to Oklahoms City, Okleshomgz, lots twenty-

o tho (&) to twenty-five (&5) inclusive, block one (1) of the fatrick

~,Mocre Addition number two (%) to Oklshome City, Oklehomz, eccording to

Y the recorded plat thereof.

Lot three (3) in block one (1) in Mee's Addition to Oklzhoma
City, Oklehoma,.

211 of block numbered two (%) in Leke Point Lddition to Okla-
home City, being & sub-division of the “orth one-hzlf (%) of the North-
west one-quarter (2) of the Southwest one-cuzrter (4) ol Section
numbered seven (7), township numbered twelve (1%), Morth, rznge three
(3), West of the Indisn “eridizn, &t shown by the recorded plat thereof.

(o

Lots seventeen (17) @#nd eighteen (18) in block two (£) Hope
Adiition to Oklehome City, Oklahomsz, according to the recorded plat o
thereoi, szme belng & sub-divislon of Block sixteen (18) or Reiney
Adiition.

Commencing &t & point two hundred (£00) feet east of the East
line of the west 2ge-halfp?§) of the Bouthwest Quarter (%) of the
North Line of the Sogéﬁgeat Quarter (%) of ;ggt;on_tqgnty—fgqylﬁﬁf)
township twelve (1£)7fiznge three (3), W.I.M. thence South eifht
(80) rods, thence esst twenty (£0) rods, thence north eighty (80)
rods, thence west twenty (20{ rods to & point of beginning, contsining

ten Zlo) seres more or less, according te the U. 5. Government survey.

/ o
r gix (8) inclusive eznd lots forty-three (42)
ﬁé( _Lots — ti sive( in block one (1)]znd lots one (L)t
to forty-eight (48) inclu > ., : :

Ld\(four (4) inclusive znd forty-five (45) to forty-eight (%8) igc usive
' \3n block six (8),) end lots thirty-one (21) #nd thirty-two (32) in

.3 fblock five (5), #1l in Ethel Park Place Adcition to Oklahome City,

v Oklehoma, according to the recorded plat thereocf.



' All of block two (¥), Schroeder City fark Adilition to Okla=
home City, Okleioma,

All of lots twenty (i znd twenty-one (£l) im bleck one (1)
of Wo_dy Crest Addition to OKlshomu City, Oklehome, &ccording to the
recorded plst thereof,.

Lots eleven (11) :nd twelve (1!), in block cne (1), in
Stevens=-Ho@ill Adcition to Oklchome Cizty, being o sub-division to -
* . Block iifteen (13) wry! the East one hell (&) of block tem (10), Ross
*ﬁﬁpights Ad i tion accerding te the recorded ond crended plat thereof,
e e s 1 R " S
The northsest Quarter (}) of the Northwest Quarter (%) of
Southwest Quarter (2).and the west helf (#) .of the Rorthesst one
ucrter () oi the Northwest Quarter () oi the Southwest Guerter
? of Bection tourteen (14) township twelve north ol ranze three
. (8), #.I.M. confrIning 1ifteen (1) ecres mere or less, sccording to
the U, S. Government sur¥ey thereof.

dest hell () or the west holf (#) of the lorthwest Guerter
(%) of the Northwest Quarter (%) being ten (10) ccres, more or less i
of Section twenty (£0), township twelve (1:), renge two (£), #w. I« M.

Lots twenty-seven (£7), twenty-eizht (£8), twenty-nine (:9)
thirty (30), thirty-one (3l), thirty-two (3%), in block numbered
|.  four (4), being 2 sub-division of blocks nine (2), ten (10), twenty-
"' three (L&), and twenty-four (i14) in Beppeats First and Second Adiltion
to Oklehoma City, Oklehomes, eccording ¢ the recorded plat thereof,

411 of Block twelve (1i) of winsns Bighlend Terrence Adaition
to Oxlahoms City in the County end Stete ol Qklehoma 5 shown by the
y recorded plets thercof.

All of Bouth one Lalf (§) of Southeast one querter (1) of the

Northeast one cuarter (2) of the Bouthwest one guarter (3) of section
ten (10), Township twelve (1£) North znd renge three (3) west I, M. —

Al of block five (5), in Culbertson Esst Hyghlend Ad*{tion
to Oklshoma City, Cklahome, sccording tc the recorded plat thereof.

The Scutherst Cusrter (3) of the Southerst Quurter () of the
Southesst Quarter (4) of Bection txenty-two (££), toauship twelve
« (1%) North, Renge Three (3) #.I.M. contuining ten (10) acres more or less.

All of blocks one 21;, three (3), four (4), five (3), six (8)
seven (7), eight (8), nine (9), ten (10), rourteen (14), znd lots one
(1) two (&), three (8), four (4), five (B), six (6), twenty-one (:l)
twenty-two izz) twenty~-three (4£3), twenty-four (£4), twenty-five (:5),
twenty-six (265, twenty-seven (£7), twenty-cight (£8), twenty-nine

£9), in tlock eleven (11), Lots one (1), two (), three (&), four

: (4), five (5), six (6), seven (7), cight (8), nine (8), ten Elo),

¢ eleven (11), znd twentytwo (££), inm block twelve (1:), - ne (1)

{2),. three (3). fopr. . S)pe-8LX (B) p Seie .thifinﬁnmmﬁ

_ _ ) ek thirte o] The west hzl7 :f

af et four'é'x)s lots mve'(s?‘_,'(ﬁx g l.tszzen (7)(5.1;1511“ t(:i;knine

(8) and ten {(10) t half (g) oi lo even » in wo

&g‘. A1l 1n,the”§g%€§%ezé tol Addition to Oklshoma City, wecording

to the recorded plat thereof.

211 of the Northezst guarter (%)_ai the sgouthesnst cuarter

(3) of section one (1) township twelve ;z), north, range three (3)
- west of The Indien Meridien, contiining forty zcres.

211 of blocks one (1) snd four (4) in Oskiield Addition e
the City of Oklshoma City, belng a sub-givision of & part ol the west
half (53 of the southwest qusrter ig of section twoiti),ut04?s§ip
twelve (12) North, of range three (3) west ¢l the ndalan Leridicn.

[



-
All of the Northezst gquarter (#) of the Southwest Quarter (3)

of section one (1) townsghlp twelve (1£) morth, of rz nge three (5}
#est 01 the Indirzn “eridien, contzining forty (40) acres,

the Northuest Quurter (%) ef the Southdeat Quarterxr
D) of sgg;ign_pglggx:%ggn(SIJ, township thirveen (13) North, of renge
‘two (£) West of the 1n 2ridisn, contsining forty- tcres.

#11 the following parcel of 1und descrited s follows:

Lesinadng ot the Horthwest corner of the hortherst quarter
(3) ol scetion ten tounship twelwe (1:) north, of ringe three (3)
i . south cne thﬁus.nd tﬂe ty-three

ana-I/107(1023.1) fee .;..{ east undred sixt Bﬁg)

ndrth twb hund 1r"-'aven and =/f&xfh ??B)dfaétsytﬁence gggtjs§gdnqq
hundred sixty (860) feet; thence north seven hundred sixuy-rive and

£/10 (785.%) feet tc the north line of s¢id section, snd tlong the north
line of said section to the point of beginning, =ud contrining twenty-
elght (:8) zcres, mure or less.

11 ci the west half (%) of the southwest guerter ({) of
section five (a) township twelve (1f) North, of range twd (&) west
of the Indlan “eridisn, contcining eighty (80) scres.

All of lots one (1) tc forty-eight (48) inclusive in blcock
three (3) Oskfield Ad:ition to the eity o: Oklehcma City, king - sup-
¢ivision of & pzrt of the west helf (éf oi the Southwest Quarter ()
of section twe (%) township twelve (1o »th, of range three (3) west

of the 4ndien weridl s,

.

All of lots one (1) to fwenty-four (&4) 1nc1431ve in block
one (1) lots one (1) to forty-eight (48) in block two (£); lots one
(1) to forty (40) in block three (3), =11 In Woodward!s Boulevord!s

« Heights Addition tc the city of Oklshomz City, the ssme being & sub-
2ivisien of ¢ sert ui the west half (2) of the Northesst querter
ok ,.,pf section ten ‘10 township twelve (1:) north, of renge three (3)
st of the Indian Hersdian, contuining twenty scres, mwore or less,

All of the Northeast Guarter (i) of the Northwest quarter
(}) of section twelve (Lli) township twelve (1:) north, of ronge three
~ (&) west of the Indisn eridien, contuining forty ( 405 aCTES,

Together with all improvesents lhereoa ind the cu_urtensnces
thereunto belonging cnd werrent the title to the same.

To nave v to nold scid desceribed presmises unto the s:id perty
of the seccnd pert, its successors and assigns, forever, free, cleear,
and discherged of cnc from all foraer grents, charges, taxes, judgments,
mortgoges &nd other liens of whatsoever néiure.

Signed end delivered tldis third dsy of July, £. i 1914,

The wtute Cepitol Bullding Compiny,
(4 corporsztio

By C. F, Colcord, President
Attest: Orin Lshton, Secretily.

Corporate sctls
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8/23/2018 WP50 Oklahoma County Assessor Building Detail Page

Oklahoma County Assessor's
Public Access System

320 Robert S. Kerr #313
Oklahoma City, Ok 73102
Leonard Sullivan
Oklahoma County
Assessor

All records are current as of close of previous working day

Larry Stein
Chief Deputy
(405) 713-1214

Leonard Sullivan-Oklahoma County Assessor Public Access System (405) 713-1200

Account #: R034352050
Building #: 7
Built As: Armory
# of Stories: 2.5 Stories
Square Feet: 85,398
Year Built: 1940
Remodel Year:
o ATTORNEY GENERAL / VA / NAT'L GUARD / OTHER
Building Name:
ST BLD
Alt Land Use Desc: State of Oklahoma
Quality Desc: Average
Bldg Frame
Desfription: Masonry
Foundation Desc: Bldg #7 Photos
Bldg Exterior: Sketch
Roof Type: Arch 2012
Roof Cover:
Avg Floor Height: 12 2012
Percent Sprinkled: 100
Bldg Interior: 2008
Total Rooms:
\f: /OBifijrr(tl(zins: units with Bedrooms
# of Baths: 0
HVAC Type: Space Heater
# of Fire Places: 0
Percent Heated: 100
Physical Condition: Average
# of Res Units: 0
# of Comm Units: 1
Commercial Desc:
Occ Type:
Commercial Class:
MFG Home Length: 0
MFG Home Width: 0
Account # || Feature | Description I Sqft/Area I Number of Stories
R034352050 GBA GBA 85,398 1
Account #: I Bldg # || Description | Qty I # Of Units Description
(No records returned.

https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWWP5/BLDG_Detail.asp?PropertylD=150079&BuildingSequence=7

12


https://assessor.oklahomacounty.org/Directory.aspx?EID=5
https://assessor.oklahomacounty.org/280/Meet-Larry
https://assessor.oklahomacounty.org/
mailto:MicMor@OkCounty.org?subject=Oklahoma%20County%20Assessor%20-%20Website%20Inquiry
https://assessor.oklahomacounty.org/FormCenter/Contact-Us-4/Guest-Book-43
https://oklahomacounty.geocortex.com/Html5Viewer/Index.html?configBase=http://oklahomacounty.geocortex.com/Geocortex/Essentials/REST/sites/OKCAssessor/viewers/OKCAssessor_gvh/virtualdirectory/Resources/Config/Default
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/DefaultSearch.asp
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/ShowImageSketchBuilding.asp?PropertyID=150079&BuildingID=340519
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/ShowImageBuilding.asp?PropertyID=150079&buildingsequence=7&UserNumber=5
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/ShowImageBuilding.asp?PropertyID=150079&buildingsequence=7&UserNumber=1
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/ShowImageBuilding.asp?PropertyID=150079&buildingsequence=7&UserNumber=11

8/23/2018 WP50 Oklahoma County Assessor Building Detail Page

https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWWP5/BLDG_Detail.asp?PropertylD=150079&BuildingSequence=7 2/2



8/23/2018 WP50 Oklahoma County Assessor Real Account Detail

Oklahoma County Assessor's
Public Access System

320 Robert S. Kerr #313
Oklahoma City, Ok 73102

Leonard Sullivan Larry Stein
Oklahoma County All records are current as of close of previous working day Chief Deputy
Assessor (405) 713-1214

Leonard Sullivan-Oklahoma County Assessor Public Access System (405) 713-1200

Account: R034352050 Type: Exempt i 7~ bing. Location: 300 NE 21ST ST
oy ATTORNEY GENERAL / VA / NAT'L GUARD / OTHER ST

Building Name/Occupant: BLD Map Parcel | OKLAHOMA CITY

Owner Name 1: STATE OF OKLAHOMA 1/4 section #: 2708

Owner Name 2: Parent Acct:

Billing Address 1: 0 Tax District: TXD 200

Billing Address 2: School System: Oklahoma City #89

City, State, Zip , 00000 Land Size: 15.90 Acres
Associated Land Value: 0 L(.)t . Width  Depth

Dimensions:

‘ Personal Property 5 5
- ey Treasurer: Click to View Taxes

Sect 27-T12N-R3W Qtr

NW STATE CAPITOL AMEND Block 000 Lot 000

Full Legal Description: STATE CAPITOL AMEND 000 000 BLKS 5 THRU 10 EX LOT 9 IN BLK 8

(ordered by relevancy) “ Report Coming Soon ©
[

No comparable sales returned.

(*2018 Tax amounts are estimates only, actual tax amounts will be posted November 2018)

Year| Market Value || Taxable Mkt Value Gross Assessed | Exemption | Net Assessed || Millage I Tax I Tax Savings

2018 0 0 0 0 0 113.35 0.00 0.00
2017 0 0 0 0 0 113.35 0.00 0.00
2016 0 0 0 0 0 113.43 0.00 0.00
2015 0 0 0 0 0 114.50 0.00 0.00
2014 0 0 0 0 0 113.84 0.00 0.00
- [ -1= = ]nM4
Account # I Grant Year || Exemption Description Amount
R034352050 2018 Exempt 100
R034352050 2000 5% Capped Account 0
Recorded in the County Clerk's Office
Date I Type Book || Page I Price I Grantor I Grantee
11/11/1911 Historical 0004 0000 0 STATE OF OKLAHOMA

Year | Date | Market Value | Taxable Market Value |  Gross Assessed | Exemption | Net Assessed

No Notice of Value N.O.V. records returned.

https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWWP5/AN-R.asp?PropertyID=150079

12


https://assessor.oklahomacounty.org/Directory.aspx?EID=5
https://assessor.oklahomacounty.org/280/Meet-Larry
https://assessor.oklahomacounty.org/
mailto:MicMor@OkCounty.org?subject=Oklahoma%20County%20Assessor%20Web%20Site%20Inquiry
https://assessor.oklahomacounty.org/FormCenter/Contact-Us-4/Guest-Book-43
https://oklahomacounty.geocortex.com/Html5Viewer/Index.html?configBase=http://oklahomacounty.geocortex.com/Geocortex/Essentials/REST/sites/OKCAssessor/viewers/OKCAssessor_gvh/virtualdirectory/Resources/Config/Default
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/DefaultSearch.asp
http://maps.google.com/maps?q=300%20NE%2021ST%20ST,OKLAHOMA%20CITY&hl=en&sll=37.0625,-95.677068&sspn=42.310334,101.25&t=h&hnear=300%20NE%2021ST%20ST,+OKLAHOMA%20CITY,+Oklahoma
http://www.zillow.com/homes/300%20NE%2021ST%20ST-OKLAHOMA%20CITY_rb/
http://www.bing.com/maps/?v=2&where1=300%20NE%2021ST%20ST,%20OKLAHOMA%20CITY&q=300%20NE%2021ST%20STOKLAHOMA%20CITY
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/AN-P_Real.asp?PropertyID=150079
https://www.oklahomacounty.org/364/Treasurer
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/SubdivisionSearch.asp?SubDivisionName=STATE+CAPITOL+AMEND
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/SubdivisionSales.asp?Subdivision=03435
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/ShowImage.asp?Propertyid=150079
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/ShowSketch.asp?Propertyid=150079
https://assessor.oklahomacounty.org/178/3-5-Limitations
https://assessor.oklahomacounty.org/178/3-5-Limitations
https://www.oklahomacounty.org/261/County-Clerk
http://www.okcc.online/link.php?book=0004&page=0000
http://www.okcc.online/link.php?book=0004&page=0000
https://assessor.oklahomacounty.org/178/3-5-Limitations

8/23/2018 WP50 Oklahoma County Assessor Real Account Detail

Issued Permit # Provided by Bidp/# Péscripticn Est Construction Cost Status

Issued I Permit # I Provided by || Bldg # || Description I Est Construction Cost || Status

No Building Permit records returned.

“ Bldg # “ Vacant/Improved Land | Bldg Description “ Year Built “ SqFt | # Stories
1 Improved
7 Improved Armory 1940 85,398 2.5 Stories

https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWWP5/AN-R.asp?PropertyID=150079
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https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/BLDG_Detail.asp?PropertyID=150079&BuildingSequence=1
https://ariisp1.oklahomacounty.org/AssessorWP5/BLDG_Detail.asp?PropertyID=150079&BuildingSequence=7

11/6/2018

STATE OWNED
ARMORY FOR
 GUARD URGED

Building at Capital To Be
. Headquarters Proposed
S0 At Fort:Sill - ¢

By ALVIN RUGKER.
(The Daily Oklahoman Stalf)

'CAMP IRWIN, (Fort SN Aug. 22,
=Some .members of  the ' Oklahoma
national guard, in annual summer en-
campment- at Camp Irwin, hope that
the repeated mobilization of national
campmoent At
Camp Trwin, hope
that the repeat-
ed . inobilizatlon
of natlonal guard
units during .the
last year.will eall
attention to the
desirabliity  of
providing the
guard with a
state-owned
armory,

During ‘the
year, one'or more
guard units have ’
been” mobilized
under the follow-
ing circumstan-
ces: E s

Report. “that a
Tace Tiob threat-
ened at: Erick, ~western Oklahoma;
windstorm “which ™ devastated a large
sectlon of Bethany, OKlahoma county';
wild oll well In Okinhoma City oil
ficld, which threatened city; Red river
bridge embroglio; general. oil field
shut down.

Suggesled For Capifal

As the Oklahoma national guard
is under {he command of the chief
exeentive, whose official residence is
at the state capital where guard ac-
tivities ‘center and where nearly an
entire Tegiment is stationed throupgh-
out the year, the suggestion has been
made that a state-owned armory be
built at the state capital.

A rented armory is maintained on
North Broadway for the medical regi-
ment, and anather fn the unit block
on West Main street, nelther of which
Is suitable for drilling purposes.

‘When " Governor  Murray, prior to
the convening of the last session of
the lezislature, ‘recommended that a
dormitory be bufit near the.capitol to
provide legislators with' sleeping and
offlee quarters, guard enthuslasts sug-
gested thiat the ground floor be de-
slgned for armory purpose.

Seven Hold Cilations

Oklahoma  guardsmen, encamped
here; and known to have reccived
medals and citations for distinguished
services during the World war, are:
Maj. Gen. 'Roy  Hoffman, com-
mander of the Forty-fifth division;
First Lieut, Clive E. Murray of Tisho-
mingo. adjutant of tne first battalion
of One- Hundred and Eightieth in-
infantry; Capt. Lee Gilstrap, alde to
General Hoffman, and who is adju-
tant at the Oklahoma Military acad-
emy. nt Claremore: Maj. Corliss S.
Howell, Shawnce, commander of the
Third batalion, 'One Hundred  and
Sevendy-ninth ‘infantry: Second Licut,
David Golden, Tulsa, atlached to Adj.
Gen. Charles F. Barrett's staff; Col:
Charles H. Johnson, postmaster at
Pawnce: - Capt. - Nelson . J. .Moore,
Tulsn, supply company Onc Hundred
and Eightieth infantry,

Onc Congressional Medal

‘The matlonal guard register - does
Nol include in-the blography column
citations and decorations, and - there
may be others now in: Camp Irwin
who reccived citations and decora-
tions for distinguished service during
the World war.

Licut. Gol. ‘Ehno D. Flynt, guard
member and whose home Is In Okla<
hema City, Is a medal man, At pres-
ent he is in Washinzton.

Leo  Turner, Seminole banker, a
former guard officer and. the only
congressional medal man now in Okla-
homa fs no longer an active guard
member, but is a reserve officer. He
is not In camp this yenr.

Fivst Lieut. Joseph V. Pitts, service
company, One Hundred Seventy-ninth
infantry, Oklahama City, ‘was. eited
for distinguished “service, but for n
sentimental reason did not accept the
ctatlon. General Hoffman says that
his. decoration; the Croix. de Guerre,
was complimentary in a way, but he
prizes it beenuse it was pinficd upon
him by General Foch, nilled com-
mander-In-chief, himself, - during the
latter’s visit to the United States,

I'romotion on Battle Tield

Col. Gharles H. Johnson, now post-
master at Pawnee, and: commanding
officer of the One Hundred Scventy-
ninth Infantry of the state guard, re-
celved ‘his Croix de Guerre, partially
beeause of the high estimate he placed
upon what  was left of his war-
strength ‘baltallon affer contact with
the enemy at St. Etlenne. When John-
son went with his battalion to relieve
what was left of the marines, he was
captain of company C, formerly com-
pany” E, of the old: First Oklnhoma
infantry. i

Durlng the. fight casuaitics reduced
the battalion from wat strength to
what “appeared te another officer to
be a company. ranking officers being
included: m the casualties. Johnson
Te-organized - what ‘was 1ot of his
battalion. -Another officer, seeing the
fragment of what had once been a

Con Gi M. Jonnsen

http://fezproxy.metrolibrary.org:2054/olive/APA/Oklahoman/Print.Article.aspx?mode=image&href=DOK%2F 1931%2F08%2F23&id=Ar03002

Oklahoman | Sunday, August 23, 1931 | 30
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11/6/2018

Charters Granted

Damestla

Kemnitz Development .+ Oklahoma
Cit : capital stock. $10. % A. Remnitz.
E. . Johnson. M, R. Miller. Oklahom®s
Cit~. -

iaml Rock Products Co.. Miami. capi-

t-t”gltfﬁ:x smngn: H. B. Cobban. Georze
J. Stein, W, J. Martin. Miaml

Rav Oliver \otor Co. Anadarkp. capl-
tal stock. s15000: Ray Oliver. Edna M
Oliver. Berntece Ollver. Anadarko.

Forelen

rilobe-Wernlcke Co. Ohlo. capital stock
in Oklahoma. £15.000.

http://fezproxy.metrolibrary.org:2054/olive/APA/Oklahoman/Print.Article.aspx?mode=image&href=DOK%2F 1935%2F07%2F 14&id=Ar03802

Oklahoman | Sunday, July 14, 1935 | 38

Young Men's Club {0 Meel—The

Young Men's club will hold a lunch-
eon meeting at noon Monday in the
Huckins hotel. A program will be
presented by the Bernice Hawley
school of dancing. Herschell Emery,
president, will be in charge.

Dairy Inspector Tesls Elet—N!ne ap=
plicants for jobs as elty dalry in-
spectors will- take civil service exami-
nations Monday at 9 a, m. in the city
hall, Frank W. Wardwell, civil service
commission chairman, sald Saturday.

" Dr. Oliver, ‘dentist, now associated
with Dr. Heflin, dentist, Huckins Es-
tate Bldg. Phone 2-2414. = = (Adv.)

Engineer to Arrive Monday—Col. O,
K. Yearger, Washington, consulting
engineer - for the works progress ad-
ministration, will arrive in Oklahoma
City Monday “to expedite” approval
of a $2.500,000 project for construc-
tion of 57 national guard armories, W,
S. Key, state PWA-administrator, an-
nounced Saturday. T

Land Group io Be Named — Slate
school land commission Monday may

|name adjusters and dther employes to

put the service division in operation
for collection of money due the de-
partment on loans and sales of land.

City's Fee Revenue Mounis— An-
nual license fees on two-thirds of the
oll wells operated within the city Ilm-
its had been paid Saturday, accord-
ing to Mike Peshek, city clerk. The
licenses, which cost $100 each, had
been pald on 162 of the 269 wells op-
erating in the city. City revenue has

been boosted $16,200 by the payments,

Paving Tax Payments Slow—Only
$18,300 of the $8086,000 due the city
in paving taxes had been paia when
the city hall closed Saturday. saild
Mike Peshek, city clerk. The taxes
will become delinquent September 1
and will carry penalties of 1 percent
a month or 12 percent a year.

"Escaped Prisoner Returned—Homer
Wall. 35 vears old. who broke out of
the West Plains, Mo., jall, where he
was belng held on a forgery charge,
Saturday was on his way back to Mis-
sourl, In-custody of W. O. Denney,
mﬁi[- . - ' . e
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SUMMER FAILS
TOHALT TRADE

CONTINUED FROM PAGE ONE

ing steady gains. Wheat and hog
prices on Oklahoma Cily markets have
risen steadily, with mnew highs being
set during the week. Wheat was M
cents a bushel here Wednesday, and
hogs set a five-year high of $10.75 a
hundred. .

The clty business picture is expect-
ed to become even brighter during the
autumn. when construction is sched-
uled to start on $5300,000 worth of

public buildings and dwellings,

' Construction of a city hall, court-
house and auditorium, to cost $3,300,-
000, is contingent upon voters approv-
ing $1.842,000 worth of city and coun-
ty bonds. If the bonds are approved,
bulldings will be started in November.

The slum clearance program, in-
volving conStruction . of $2.000.000
worth of two-family dwellings north
of Rotary park. is slated to start in
September. This program is expected
to result in a large amount of repair
work on low rental homes.

The city and the works progress
administration will join forces  in
carrying out a series of projects valued
at $1,000,000, These projects will in-
clude construction of new fire stations.
street repairs, filtration plant improve-
ments and & park development pro-
gram costing $250,000,

Funds have been allotted for the
construction of a new nalional guard
armory here to cost approximately
£251,000. Work on this structure will
awail selection of a site, but should be
under way before the end of autumn,

Large Audience Hears Foet .
Jennie Harris Oliver., Oklahoma au-
thor end poet. read from her book
“Red Earth” Wednesday nizght to a
large audience in the PFirst Methodis:
church. Northwest Fourth street-and
Hoblnson avenue, '

http://fezproxy.metrolibrary.org:2054/olive/APA/Oklahoman/Print.Article.aspx?mode=image&href=DOK%2F 1935%2F08%2F01&id=Ar00205
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SUMMER FAILS
10 STOP CITY
BUSINESS GAIN

July Increase Shown
In Trade Figures.

BANK DEBITS IN LEAD

Building Program Will
Add Momentum.

{Charl on Paze 10)

Undaunted by the summer
slump theory, Oklahoma City
business zoomed during July.
bank debits reaching a four-year
peak of $98.000.000 while other
barometers of busincss Wednes-
day revealed substantial gains.

With a §7.000,000 construction pro-
gram planned during the next 18
months, the city apparently is in a
position to hold its gains. The con-
struction program will he made pos-
sible throuzh federal grants, involving
Civic center buildings, slum clearance,
street improvements and & new na-
tional guard armory.

July bank deblts registered a 50
percent gain over those of the same
month a year ago. In July, 1934, debits
totaled $66,579.000. The 1935 figure
has not hren topped since July, 1931,
when the total was $103,919.000.

Building Permits Keep Pace

Bullding permits for the month to-
taled $261.360. the largest fotal on
record since last January. July and
August usiually are the slowest build-
ing months, aceording to J. L. Bever-
ldge.  ecity  building superintendent.
Permits during July, 1934, totaled
$223.000. The January total was
$3537,000.

Postal receipts for July amounted
to $132,00209, a gain of 14 percent
over Lhe £118.435.98 of last July. With
the exception of the chain letter flur-
ry. July figures represent the largest
increaze in stamp sales of any month
in 1935,

Utility changes also reflected Im-
proved conditions. Gas meters showed
a loss of 106, but there were 8% new
water meter connections and five new
clectric meter customers. The tele-
phone company teported no galn or
loss amone its subscribers.

Deed Volume Is High

The volume of decds filed was un-
usually high during the month, 733
goinT on record. The amount n-
volved, however, was $245,023.50,
which wa: below last year’s figure for
the same month.

There were 327 mortgages filed on
property valued at $911,968. This was
a decrcase from last year, but a year
agn the mortgage business was stim-
ulated by the Home Owners Loan
Corp.

The city's bullding record was seen
as one of the best indleations of im-
proving vonditions here. The July
total inciuded no large permits, but
was heavy with new residential con-
structlon. New homes have figured
prominently in city building since last
spring. .

The npswing In city basiness appar-
ently was partly tracenble to im-
proved azricultural conditions, which
saw farm commodity prices reglster-

tCantinued on Paze 2. Column 3)
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CASH GRANTED
0 STATE FOR
JOB PROGRAM

Key Receives $689,937

- For Dam Projects.

3,444-T0 GET WORK

School Building Plan Is
Given Approva]

Oklahoma was glven $689,937
in Works Progress administra-
tion funds Saturday afternoon
to make jobs for 3444 unem-
ployed available Mnnday

On receiving word -of the allocation,
W. 5. Key, state WPA director, order-
ed that all district directors be noti-
ficd and have as many men on the
Job Monday morning as possible.

Eighteen of the approved projects
eall for construction of. dams on
streams of Oklahoma. The Okla-
homa. fish and game commission is
sponsor ‘of the - projects -which will
serve a dunl purpose of flsh propa-
gation and flood control. |

More Projecis Approved,

Announcing that the work rellef
program now definitely is started, Key
Saturday approved and sent to Wash-
ington additional projects for $2,284,~
404 providing 5,748 more Jobs.

These brought the total projects ap-
proved by the state office to $10.211-.
695, providing jobs for nearly 30.000
unemployed. - Actual work must walt
on funds grants from Washington.

The state previously had been allo-
cated $200,963 which enabled the em-
ployment of 486 men last weck. Key
snid he helleved the much larger al-
location Saturday meant that other
substantial grants will follow socn.

. Counties Are Listed

Counties in which men arc to statt
work on, the dam projects Monday.
with the amount allotted each and the
number of men.to be emploved, are:

Adair, $44,879, 220 men; Cralg, $24,~
201, 128 men; Sequoysh, $43,685. 220
men; Murrav, $22.308, 113 men: Mar-
shall, $22.419, 110 men; Johnston,
$20.185, 99 men: Rogers, $23,046, 125
men: Ottawa. $40,160, 224 men;. Ataka,
$40,369, 200 men: Cherokee, $24.267,
128 men; Latimer, $45, 424, 223 men;
McCurt,airl -§45,504, 235 men: Push-
mataha, $46,098, 237 men: Pittsburgh.
$73.434, 331 men: Haskell, $22, 284 113
men; LeFlore, - $46,098, 1237 men, and
Delaware, $47.175, 251 men.

+  Wewoka Park Included :

Money also was provided for bulld-
ing a grandstand and baseball park
at Wewoka. The project. was sub-
mitted by the Wewoka schoolboard
and provides $1,044 to pay 16 men.

Key pointed out that these projects
were the first to provide WPA work
over the state, those previously ap-
proved . being Iocaw‘.l in Oklahoma
City.

Key recelved word from Wnshing-
ton Jate Saturday that Oklahoma's
share in the national soll erosion nro-
| gram of- £618,000 has been allocated.
Dr. N. E. Winters, Stillwater. soll ero-

{Contlnued on Page 2. .Column 1)
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CASH GRANTED
TO STATE FOR
JOB PROGRAM

CONTINUED FROM PAGE ONE

slon administrator, said work would
start on elght new projects as soon as
sppointment of technical supervisors
is approved in Washington.
Appointees Are Chosen

Winters sent a list of appolntees
Saturday to the soll con.ervation of-
fice in_the capital, and expected ap-
proval from Henry Wallace, secretary
of agriculture. soon.

The elght new eroslon areas to be
worked are on Camp creek in Dewey
and Woodward countics, Elk creek in
Beckham county, the Little Washita
in Grady county, Cow creek in Steph-
ens county, Taloka creek in Haskell
county, Pryor creek in Mayes and
Rogers countles, and Pony <reek in
Texaa county.

“We may not be able to start work
on them before September 1, Win-
ters said. "It will depend on how
swiftly the administrative set-up Is
approved in Washington.”

Most of the applications approved
in the state office Saturday covered
the constructlon of conservation
ponds and small dams in 36 countles,
and the construction of 210 rural
wchool houses and 235 teacher resis
dences.

Farmers Join Program

‘The Oklahoma Conservation coms-
mission submiticd the $814,890 in
pond projects. Twenty are to be
nilt in each county, with a crew of
i7 men to carry on the work in each.
Farmers on whose properties the
ponds are bullt have agreed to main-
tain them, terrace the adjoining land
and pay for the required materials.

The school buildings. costing $1.-
N81.640, are Lo be bullt of native stone
and will be scattered In nearly all
countles, the locations to be deter-
mincd by the state board of educa-
tion in accordance with the needs of
tural sections.

Separale projects for quarrying the
stone in 22 localities by rellef labor
also were approved by Key., This pro-
gram. one of Keys “pets,” will be
eompleted by the preparation of prol-
rete for instructing the quarry groups
in stonecutting. Cost will be $288,-
363,

Ker to Fort Sill

Key left. Saturday night for Port
8il1 where he will apend the next two
weekt At the national guard camp.
Examined projects will be zent to him
dally by airplane for his approval or
disapproval. Key i a brigadier gen-
eral in charge of the fleld artillery
brigade.

Since the allocation of funds I8 be-
Ing made by Washington In order of
the submisslon of projects, the proj-
ect for bullding 39 armories at & cost
nf $2.167.934 appears to be up for early
consideration. Only the state plan-
ning board's project for a survey of
phivsical property of state Institutions,
anid the Coalgate atreet repalr profect,
are ahead of {t. The armory project
provides work for 1,560 men,

Another large project approved ‘by
Key was that providing an assistant
In cach county superintendent's office
to aid In handling extra work in con-
nection with WPA, public works ad-
manistration and Oklahoma emergency
relict Administration programs.

Kev said the county superintend-
sents” offlces are “almost swamped™
wilh the work, The project provides
$10,504 for the 77 workers,
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THREE MAJOR
STATE WORKS
“PLANS PASSED

Armory, School and Malaria
Projects Are Approved.

Oklahoma's long sought national
guard armory projects. the plan for
new rural district school bufldings and
the malarla - control  drive have won
the approval of President Roosevelt
and probably will' be started next
week,

This information was given by W.

Key, works progress adminlstrator,
in a iclephonc conversation Friday
from Washlngton - with Otls Smith,
assistant administrator.

Key sald the projects were included
in the $8,000.000 allotment made since
he reached the™ national capilal, of
which $4,000,000 is for miscellancous
projects throughout the state.

ds to Be. Drained

The - armory  projects will employ
1,560 persons and cost $2,167,934. The
malarin control will provide more em=
ployment. to 5248 persons, but cost
estimate is §1,996.856,

The malavia control will consist of
drainage of pends, stagnant creeks
and In some cases will cover Instal-
lation of screens.

he work will be done In Bryan,
MeIntosh, Wagoner; MeCurialn, Se-
quoyah, Okmuigee. Adalr, Okluskee.
Coal, Haskell, - Pittsburg, LeFlore,
Hughes, Pontotoc, Latimer, Muskogee,
Seminole, Marskall, Atokn, Love, Mur-
ray, Cherokee, Pushmataha, = Chec-
taw  Johnston. Jefferson,  Carter
Creek and Osage countics,

235 Schools Provided

The school project will cost $1,061.-
640 and will employ 1,415 persons in
construction  of 235 small  school
houses in rural Gistricts in every coun-
1y of the state.

These houses will be constructed of
native stone, generally quarried in the
districts ' surrounding ~ the  school
houses. The number of buildings alsa
includes 25 teacherages in the remate
rural districts where teachers are un-
able 15 obtain rooms near schools:

Word also was recefved by Smith
through the mall that prior to Key's
arrival the president  had approved
$276,088 worth of projects. These in-
clude 514,530 for construction of
gravel streets with asphalt tops in
Okinhoma City.

Funds Are Allocated

Smith also was notified. of £176,027
in funds allocated by the comptroller
Bzheral, They follow:

Oklshoma - Clty—S1.880. sideséalke, level

szounds, reset " plaseronnd
at Dunbar_sehop
Sitr—ss.008, Rlans
ne Tor Aew schoaL buﬂdlnxa
410, auditoriam,
i, 300 13:'35 (LTRSS (ank. plant-
> A—S6.700. " elubhouse and ‘com-
—a.ﬁsa shelier Touses. bridge
ang skatin: Ein
Brisio 0BT Tootball siadium,
03192, addition - (¢ schaol.
ERT o Rgiton, (@ schook o
seyools; makine uchiturs
Rite — swer exlensions,
mnnnol RIH ®other ‘consiretion:

Mankum—$13.687, compietion of come
mumly Buraing
well—s3.068. extencion of diversion

’rnrr- Sands—s$888. school. Improvements

district 81

namrn—n,uvs, xepairing pavemeni and
bullding dam:

Mingiiwell 81,288, "repale buildings  at
falr_srounds and narks.

Gulheie—$2 358 repair pavins over 149
blocks cf paved siree

. ommumw nuliding.
Aadill—~8500. storm _sawer
o G 13 Tebuie otd sioek-

adg,
Muskosee—g4,644. 4-H club bulldine on
fair zrounds: £30.301, street improvements.
ee Countr—s316.758. construction

GRmulgee—s2.977, water matns.
‘;ll;’;;!‘“’)g]‘ repair  splilway and
Mableyyllle—s16 035, malaria control.

Hartshorne—-SGAG, aiteration and repalrs
ta school bullding

Ada—8244, traffic signals.

‘Chll‘ 'more—$1,68% producing  bullding
sion

Iiazel—%823. storm cellar and  garage,
teAEheraES mDrACEMEnLS:

Keminie S LND 1. antFets teanis conrtn

In nddition Lo the. Oklnhoma Gity
street project, thosc approved by the
president  before Kl') 's arrival in-

of

cluded:
I‘Ev::‘e.m 130 survey on ponds And
ac;l\lulkn—&&ﬂ!ls. athletic field at hiche

md more—s4.571, storm  sewer,
ahor—si8y ' salvage  bridge mates
TiAlS oF par, on WathitA Fver,
Iawlon—23.422. streel markers,
£nid—$7,800, asslstants in homes of
Indizent
Altus—$3.043. rond {mprovements.

ll X XK KWK

136-138 WEST MAIN
In the Heart of Oklahoma City

{Brorwrs

® Regardless of price, you won't find more
handsomely styled shoes than

http://fezproxy.metrolibrary.org:2054/olive/APA/Oklahoman/Print.Article.aspx?mode=image&href=DOK%2F 1935%2F09%2F07&id=Ar00200
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3,500 T0 GET
10BS MONDAY

U. 8. Sends $2,627,979 In
Cash to State. |

Recelpt of '$2,627,979 in cagh Satur-
day from Washington, most of which
will go for construction of 57 national
guard armories, will put 3,500 men to
work immediately, W. S. Key, state
wﬂ_rls:.s Preogress administralor, said.

The armories will be built of native
stone In 57 Oklahoma cities on sites
Turnished by the stale. Oklahoma
City will have a $242272 armory
housing its 12 military units. and =
s-:;.-!&lmu brigade headquarters, Koy
said, :

In addition to.the $2,050.434 re-
celved for armories, $377.515  WAS
made available for construction and
highway work, quarrying - of - lime.
stone -and repairs to school buildings
In ten Oklahoma counties, Most im-

portant item was $77,167 for comple-
tion of the Lake Thomas dam near
AMadleine Payle, : e

“During the weck 3,670 persons
were at work on WPA projects, bring-
ing the total number of actual work-

ers to 13,200," Key sald. “That figure
will rench 15,000 Mondav.”

http://fezproxy.metrolibrary.org:2054/olive/APA/Oklahoman/Print.Article.aspx?mode=image&href=DOK%2F 1935%2F 10%2F06&id=Ar01306
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~The Man

EL PASO, Texas—Governor Landon
of Kansas is the man to watch in

the race for the Republican presi-

dential nomination.

Top men in the party through the
west seem to be strong for him pri-
vately. Apparcntly they Intend to
keep their sentiments to themselves
; for a while to see how things shape up.
: But when the right time comes, it
* Jooks now as if they will step out for
{ the Kansas Coolldge.
=w=he trend seems to be a matural

Fioundswell which is swelling more

rapidly and extensively than some of
~landon's advisers would like to see.
“No inside or outslde campaign is being
E@tganized for nim: It 15 just that the
idafluential party men have been look=-
+fg into his record a_i:d like him.

#>7Tyou will be surprised to.hear
pegome of their pames.

PRSP —
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STATE ARMORY State’s Armory Program Launched

WORK IS BEGUN
AT GEREIONY

Marland Breaks Gfound For
Wewoka Building.

WEWOKA, Oct. 8. — (#) — The
ground was broken ceremontously here
Tuesday for the first of 59 national
guard armories to be built in Okla-
homa by the works progress admin-
istartion. )

Gov. E. W, Marland, W. 8. Key,
state WPA director, and Adj. Gen,
Charles F. Barrett, made brief talks
and then spaded the ground.

Others present included Senators
Allen G. Nichols of Wewoka and
Sam Sorrells of Poteau; H. L. Mc-
Cracken, chalrman of the state tax
commission, and L. M. Nichols, ehair-
man of the board of affalrs,

Marland gave credit for the ex-
tensive armorles program to Key, Bar-
rett and President Roosevelt,

Barrett said, “This is the beginning
of the fulflllment of my life's am-
bition.”

CITY WORK TO START SOON

Construction on Oklahoma City's
$242,272 unit and $42,000 brigade
headquarters will start as soon as ar-
rangements for & site are completed.
According to latest plans, the build-
ings will be on the state capitol
grounds.

Work rolls jumped by 838 persons
Tuesday, bringing total to 14.011 per-
sons, 105 of these women. McAlester
district continued to lead with 3,630
employed.

7
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Work Expected On
57 State Armories

W. 8. Key, works progress admini-
strator, predicted Wednesday  that all
but two of the proposed 59 natlonal
suard armories would be constructed,
as Washington sent  final approval
for the Norman unit. o

He sald he doubted the large units
at Tulsa and Oklahoma Clty would be
built, but expected projects to be re-
instated at Sperry, Allen, ‘Enid,
Claremore and Chilgeco.  All but 13
of the proposed 58 armories were can-
celled several weeks ago, but all except
seven have been reinstated. = - -

http://fezproxy.metrolibrary.org:2054/olive/APA/Oklahoman/Print.Article.aspx?mode=image&href=DOK%2F 1935%2F 12%2F26&id=Ar00219
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CITY'S ARMORY
HOPES RAISED

Kev Secks Permit to Build
By Contract. .

Hopes that Oklahoma City may ¥yet
eet itz 5200070 national guard armory
were given a boost Wednesday when
W. S. Kev, works progress administra-
tor, said he would ask Washington for
a spocial exenption for the city proj-
ect.

Kev =aid he would ask authority to
let the eity project by contract be-
cause he felt it worthwhile even
thouch the man-year cost Is high
compared with cther projects. -

The city project was suspended by
orders of recional officials a month
ago when the state’s entlre armory
program appeared lost. However, pro-
tests of mun'cipalities that already
had purchased sites for buildings led
to re-instatement of all but seven

projects.
I the request for Oklahoma City

is eranted, Key sald he also would
ask authoritv to build an armory at
Tuisa by contract.

“Although in the past only the
public works administration has let
contracts for its projects, I fecl that
these two projects are of suflicient
importance to ask Washington for a
special exemption,” Key said.

http://fezproxy.metrolibrary.org:2054/olive/APA/Oklahoman/Print.Article.aspx?mode=image&href=DOK%2F 1936 %2F01%2F02&id=Ar00304
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- ARR

Graeral

ARENCE  DOUGLAS

He led a brigade overscas as brigadier-
general and wrote his name deep in the

http://fezproxy.metrolibrary.org:2054/olive/APA/Oklahoman/Print.Article.aspx?mode=image&href=DOK%2F 1936 %2F02%2F09&id=Ar05100
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BARRETT GETS
CONGRESS AID
ON ARMORIES

Oklahoma Delegation Seeks
Hopkins’s Approval.

By JACK RFLL
(Oklahoman-Times Whashiongton Bursau)

WASHINGTON, April 2.—The Ok-
Iahoma congressional delegation

Thursday pledged co-operation with
Charles F. Barrett, state adjutant
general, In his fight to have works
progress  administration  regulations
relaxed &0 that the armory bullding
program in Oklahoma can be com-
pleted. :

General Barrett told the state cone
gressmen that the WPA had been un-
able to start work on the proposed
Oklahoma City and Tulsa armories
hecauss man-hour requirements would
not permit the hiring of sufficlent
akilled laborers to complete the jobs.
He sald eight armory projects were
held up for this reason.

$2,000,000 Is Needed

Urging the congressmen to work
for earmarking of the rellef bill, if
necessary. to obtain sufficlent funds
tn complete the Oklahoma program.
General Barrett said an additional
£2.000,000 is needed for the stats
work. Approximately $1.500,000 of a
£5.000,000 national allotment already
has bren spent by WPA in this ac-
tivity in Oklahoma.

He asked the congressmen to use
their influence in attempting to con-
vince Harry Hopkins, natlonal works
ndministrator, that the armory pro-
gram should be completed.

congressmen  sald  Hopkins  could
relax the emplovment rules enouch to
permit construction of the Okiahoma
Citv and Tulsa armorles if he wished.

Barrett Given Office

Col. O. K. Yracer, vice-president of
the National Guard assoclatlon, and
armory expert working under Hop-
kins, explained the national armory
program  at the meeting and also
urced the Oklahomans to exert pres-
sure to get additional funds.

General  Barrett Thursday was
leected a member of the executive
committee of the Adjutant Generals’
association, which he has been at-
tending here.

51 ARMORIES NOW
UNDER CONSTRUCTION

The state armory program original-
I¥ called for construction of 59 arm-
arles ensting 82,500,000, but only 51
galned final approval and allocatlons
of $1.677.369 were made.

At one time all Armories were can-
celled except 22 on which work ale
ready had started. It was sald the
man-hour cost was too high for the
amount of money needed to build
them. Gradually the other 28 were
approved.

Armories which did not recelve al-
locations were two in Oklahoma City
for §43.000 ancd $234,000; Allen, $26,-
000; Chilocco, $26.000; Oklahoma Mil-
itary academy. Claremore, $34,000;
Tulsa, $40,000; Sperry, $28,800 and

itus, $30,000.

Work is nearing the half-way mark
on the other projects and it Is ex-
peeted all will be completed by the
works progress administration dead-
line June 30. according to Bryan No-
len, project director.
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ARMORY PLAN
T0 BE OFFERED

City May Co-operate On
Federal Project. |

A proposition whereby the works
progress  administration  will  spend
£300,000 on an armory for OKlahoma
Citv if the eity will put up £100,000 {or
skilled labor will be Iaid before. the
city council Wednesday, It was learned
Tuesday.

Orval Aosier, manager, Was, report-
ed ready to ask the council to raise
the levy in the new budget from three
mills—as it was approved Tuesday—
to 314 mills. The additleinal 145 mill
will raise 550,000, which with $50.000
already budgeled for WPA co-opera-
tion will be sufficient. :

It was reported Aosler would sug-
gest. that a five-acre lract on Twen-
Ly-Lhird streel, immediately east of the
Santa PPe underpass, owned by the
city, be used as a site. The building
not only would serve all local units
of the national guard but would be
headquarters for Gen., Charles F. Bar-
rett, state adjutant, and, his staff.

It is considered a certninty that an
additional 14 mill will' be necessary
to cash in on the fcderal offer.
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ARMORY WORK
[5 GOING AGAIN

But More Red Tape Seems
Ta Be in Offing.

Lelaved more than a month by red
tape on bids, laborers and officials
in the works progress administration
armory conslruction project were re-
ioicing loudly Mondav as first ship-
ments of roofing materials began ar-
riving at building sites.

Work on the 31 armories was held
up so long by weather, by a prison
break which cut off the supply of
prison-mace bricks, and by wranpling
aver specifications of materials, that
the projecr officials were gomp in
circles.  Most of the bulldings sare
two months behind schedule,

Nearlv all the 51 buildngs were
ready for roofs a motith ago, but a
tangle in the federal procuremsent of-
fice for Oklahoma held up contract
letting. Now the laborers are get-
ting the roofing, but they still arc
castinz a wary eye around.

For still in the mill of the procure-
ment office is the matter of purchas-
ing electrical fixtures for the 51 cdi-
fices. And that item has been in the
mill for two months, with no signs of
emerging.

Bryan Nolan, architect and director
of the beleaguered project, sald he
couldn’t predict when the first armory
would be completed. but hoped it
wouldnt be long now until the elec-
trical fixtures are purchased.

Meanwhile. he fondly pondered the
matter of a 5300.000 armory for Okla-
homa City. an idea now being toved
with by city and natlonal guard offi-
cials.

J. H. Brock Paroled

Governor Marland Monday paroled
J. H. Brock. former Headrick, Okla.,
banker. whn had served one year of a
20-year sentence for slaying W. C.
Earnest., A state banx examiner. AL
liberty on leave since October, 1935,
Brock is employed by a store at Tip-
ton.

OVER 10 YEARS
IR GKLANONA

PRICES
THAT ARE
WITHIN REASON’
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Aﬁvsnce Fall Fashions!
Crisp New Fabrics!

Brown's Millinery,
Secoud Floor, W est
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MARLAND SIGNS
BILL TO ISSUE
HIGHWAY NOTES

Weak School Aid Measure
Also Approved.

Oklahoman | Tuesday, May 04, 1937 | 13
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Marland to Break
Ground at Armox

Governor Marland wil} break ground
for the new £200.000 ArmMory building
two blocks west of the capitol at 10
a. m. Tuesday, Capt, Ross Routh,
executive officer of the national guard,
sald Monday. Dunning Construction
Co. has the contract for construction
of the building.

http://ezproxy.metrolibrary.org:2054/olive/APA/Oklahoman/Print.Article.aspx?mode=image&href=DOK%2F 1938%2F 03%2F 15&id=Ar00212
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THERE’S $200,000 ABOUT ‘A SOLDIER

New State Armory Will Be
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PATTERSON IS
EASY WINNER
IN NET MEET

He and Hopper Round Out
Fast State Indoor Field.

By ARTHUR EPSON

There was a heap of tennis played
Frigay night at the national guard
armory in thc opening of the third
annual state Indoor tournament, but
the biggest victory of all was scored
without benefit of either a drive or &
racket.

¥ep, this triumph was turned in
by the management, mighty pleased
1o report that Tulsa's prize palr, M.
C. Hopper and Boh Patterson, showed
up in time for the drawing, thus as-
suring the meet of practically all of
Oklahoma's topnotehers.

‘Only missing faces: They belong to
wthe Untversity of Okluhomn squad,
led by Ed Lindsey and Walter Mead.
kept out of the lieet here because
the sissy Blg Six rules bar mem-
beérs from any tournament save those
sponsored by some eollege.

He Goes to Work

Pallerson went to work s soon as
he arrived, promptly polished off Billy
Hughes of Edmond, 6-0, 6-2. The
amiable Palterson, a long, lanky Uni-
versity of Tulsa basketball hetsh
had himself a fine time, whaling
everything 1n sight 1o the far corners
with an overhead game that was
functioning 0 perfectly he didn't muft
n single one of his smashes—which
were numerous.

Hughes isn't any Don Budge, of
eourse, but he's good enough to hold
the Nz, 4 spot on a good Central
Stalc Teachers' college team, which
‘means that the seeding
probably sold the Patierson stock too
short when it put the rollicking Rob-
ert_down at No. T

Three other members of the select
also advanced Priday night. two of
them - without havinz to busy their
backhands. George Counts—of Clas-
=e,  highschocl, Frederick, Edmond’s
Central State Teachers and Oklahomn
A. and M. in approximately that
order—and Lawrence Lutz of Durant
ok advantage of defaults.

Counts Seeded No. 3

Counts was seeded at No. 3. while
the lefthanded Lutz. the iournament’s
alleged darkhorse, is at No. 6.

Tommy Migeins, the defending
champlon from Central Teachess,
made his debul by Ifully living up
to his No. 1 ranking as he downed
& tenmmate, Richard Franks, 6-3. 8-5.

Hopper. placed at No. ‘Wallace
Smith, - Tahlequah, No. :  Hubert
Manire. Oklahoma Cite Uriversity,
No. 5, and Tom MeSpadden of Tahle-
quah and Muskogee, No. 8. all were
slated 1o sce their firsc action Sat-
uraey mormng.

Best match of the night: It was
between Jake Fishbein and Louis
Coates, a couple of better than fair
Jocal lichts, Fishbein put on a come-
back show worthy of the big leagues
as he finally won out, 1-6, 7-5, 10-8.

1t looked as if Jake had everrthing
under control in the third set when
he took A 4-1 lead, but Coates had
a coming-back spree of his own.
won four games in A row and had
maich point on his own sarvice before
Fishbein finally rallied.

What, Ne Tronsers?

Jake passed up a couple of match
points of his own before he won with
® sideline sizzler that Coates couldn't
even touch.

Funniest sight: That get-up worn
by Clitford Willlams. who got to A
and M. by way of Guthric. DMister
Willlams eame attired in his tennis
shorts, plus the caat to his double-
Lreasted suit and A& neat green hat.
Seen from the rear he simply looked
like 2 man who forgoi to put on his
pilats.

Second-round matches  will be
plaved Saturday afternoon, QuATters
finals and first round doubles are due
Saturday night, with semifinals and
finals in both doubles and singles
coming up Sunday in a session start-
ing at 1:30 p. m.

The armory 15 on Northeast Twen-
ty-third street, just a whoop and
a holler from the state capitol.

FRIDAY NIGHT R TS
Tyan Berrer, Fdmond. d. Harry

=5, 0. €. U . 63,
Patterson,  Tuls
Edmond, 6-0. 6-2.
ishbein. citr, d. Louls Coales,
-6, 75, 10

lawrence Lutz, Durant, d. Jehn
March, ‘Duncan. default.

Lewis  MceBride,  city, 4. J. B.
Hampton, Miaml, default,

Warren Womble, Durant, d. Clif-
ford Williams, Oklahoma  Aggies,
6-3, -5

George Counts, Okiahoma  Aggles.
d. Charles Dawsen, Miaml, default,

Jake Fishbein, d. Louis Coates,
Q. ¢ U 1-6, -5, 10-8.

Tom Higging, Rdmond. d. Richard
Franks, Edmond, 6-8, 8-6.
SATURDAY MORNING PAIRINGS

§:30—Crawford Bennett, city, vs.
M. C. Fopper. T Wallace Smith,
Tahlequah, vs v UHall, Waurika,
0—Chub Strickland, Shawnee,
vs, Marry Price. Edmond: Yalor
Thiessen, Stillwater, vs. Slim Kellam,

nin

2

Wilsen, Tulsa.  vs.

McSpadden, Tahlequah.
11:59—Huberl Manire, 0. C. U., ¥5.
John Alley, Muskogee.
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GUARD DRILLS

Depletion of ElectrmltyI‘und
' Caus&s Older. :

C-klaham:\ City natlnna‘l guard umts
will not be made exceptions to a rul-
ing thal the stale's 54 guard armorles
must do without’ electriclty between
now and October 1, Charles.F. Barrett,
adjutant general, Eﬂ.l_{l Saturddy,- .

“They are affected by the order just
the sama as-all the other units,™ said
General Barrett, who bimmed dople-
tion of funds on the fact guardsmen
Tind [ailod Lo tvrn. off liglhte and  uze

of the armories. for other than mllimrr
purposes,

Oklahoma . City units - drill «n the

state armory near the mpitﬂl :cmr
nights o week.. -

“Of course, the order meant. tnr ihr:
armories to use thie minimum of elec-
tricity,” General Barrett sald. “If it
is - possible nt all, the units will .drill
in the day time. In some places that
is not possible and they will have’ to
drill at nlght, bub they ean eul down

on . the, n.muunl; of - clnctricit.y the}
use." .

7
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Astronomers Think Great Bend Region in Texas Is Like Landscape of Moon

Six Seniors Get Scholarship Awards MOST DEADLY Medical Regime_nt First NURSES, CLASS
TINE OF WREK To Get Flawless Rating 10 NUNBER %
IS SATURD AY\W“‘“ e dntat o ot o Sl

Wuman Tantare Waavinst Tn

m{;’j?
¥

Cul. Rex Bolen

Modern Language
Fraternity Flentc
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Good

Classes in fashion drawing & com-
mercial art—OCU Downtown evening
classes 3rd floor, YWCA Building.
7-0533. Enroll tonight 7:30 (Adv.)

Our Own Quiz Program—Earle M.
Shnon, city clerk, Tuesday was ready
to belicve all the stories that he has
read sbout *“Oklahoma!” being a
smash hit in London, A London resi-
dent apparenily belisvaz Oklahsma
must be the musical eaplial of the
United States. In a letter to the Town

¥ anybody knows, please tell Simon.

Enroll fonight 7:30 College Classes
in Accounting. Economics & Busi-
ness Administration. OCU Downtown.
7-5533. (Adv.)

Parinership Formed—C. H. Buttry.
formerly with the Ozmun Wholesale
Co., has joined the Wallace

pany, formerly in the Local Federal
Savings and Loan association building,
has moved W neW olfites at 903 NW
19, Shooy sald, : '

Secretarial Science Classes—Short-
hand & typing. OCT Downtown eve-
ning classes—enroll 7:30 tomh(tim ,

V.

City Units AMerrged—Unification of
the city chemist and dafry control
laboratories into one health depart-
ment unit was approved by the city
council Toesday. As recommended by
Dr. W. H. Miles, city health officer,
the streamlining will save $100 per
month in salary and give smoother
operation.

Build a powerfu! resistance that
will give and maintain good health.
Dr. Ruth H. Payton, D. C. By ap-
pointment only. 58-4616. (Adv.)

Council Piays School Days—The yisy

schocl days paper-wad techunique of
councilmen was the -subject of a
heated discussion for a while Tuesday
—but G. A. Stark, ward four. wound
up the winner. LaVerne Carleton,
ward three, demonstrated with a rub-
ber band. Stark said his Ar‘.ka:nsas
schoolmates just used their fingers.
After Stark popped Carlston sguarely
in the face with a sizzling serve he
was ruled the winner and the argu-
ment ended.

George W. Bass Insurance Agency.
(Adv.)

* Years Ago—Poli Negri and
Charlie Chaplin, motion picture stars,
announced their engagement. . . . .

where he was to tender his resigna-
tion. _ . . . The ‘sacond largest bridge
on American soil was® completed in
Alaska. . , ., Joe O'Brien, secretary
to former Govs. Willlams and Robert-
son, announced as a candidate for
commissioner of accounting and
finance.

back in

the same old prewar stand—a

~Dally Skinhoman Staft Phote

It’s not competition, fust wanting the folks to know that the Oklzhoma national guard is

Imost—that cansed this big sign to'go up, according to

Brig. Gen. Roy W. Eenny, adjutant general. What with a new naval armory starting construe- .
tion nearhy and having regained use of about three-fourths of the state armory from the state

highway patrol, which moved into it when

the 45th division” went off to war, the military de-

partment thiought it time to advertise a bit. The legislature overlooked. putting the: patrol in

a new home last session, so the answer of the

Sogar, Eggs Stolen—Ten cartons of
cigarets, 10 pounds of sugar and three.
dozen egps were stolen Tuesday when

burglars entered the E § & W cafe

at 209 N Central, D. E. Williams, pro-
prietor, reported to the police. -

Your city bus will bring you within
& block of the beautiful YWCA Bldg.
on Civic Center, the home of OCU’s
downtown cvening College. 56 Gallege
courses avallable, 9:30 p, m.~T:30
P. m—8:30 p. m. (Adv.)

Emergency Run—William Baker, 76,
of 308!z W California, was' taken to
Capitol Hill General hospital Tues-
day after suffering a heart attack in
his room. Hospital attendants said his
condition is serious. - o

o (Adv.)
R. Gordon commercial photos.
0-5353. (Adv.)

Debate 1Is Planned—Charles
Dierker, former U. S. district attor-
pey, will iake the negative side in a
debate about compulsory military
training at the YMCA public forum
Friday noon. Lieut. Col. George. Fish-
er, personnel officer of the 45th dic
on, will argue for the training.

Frozen water pipes? We thaw them
quickly with electric thawing ma-
chines. A. J. Harmon, Plumb. 2120 §
Agnew, 62-1406. (Adv.)

Cabbie Charged—Herman Smith,
41, taxicab driver, was charged with
drunkenness and drunk driving Tues-
day when his taxicab collided with
an Oklahoma City Rallway company
bus at SW 35 and Lee. Smith who
lives at 1404 NW 6, was jailed in de-
fault of bond. The taxicab was im-
pounded.

Dance tonight to Jack Meredith's
Orchesira.. . 10-0Z.  Dbrolled. steaks—
chicken dinners. No cover chargs 'til
10 p. m. Jungle Club, -1015 S May.
Fho. 3-0114. Open every night. (Adv.)

Kitechen Grab—Two young women,
who ‘admitted; to police they had
started on a shoplifting spree, were
arrested Tuesday at Montgomery
Wards by Mrs. Goldie Davis, store de-
tective. Emptying two shopping bags
the officers found, two kitchen sets,
five measuring cups, a pitcher, two
plastic bowls, three pictures, three
clothes line reels and a set of nap-
king. The pair posted 890 bouds saeh.

' Income Tax? See Ira T. Winfrey,
5-2665. One "of Okla. City's better
known citizens. Day & night, (Ady,)

All In a Day's Work—Mrs. Kirby
Conley, 1004 NE 20, was very happy
Tuesday to have her batk door kicked
open while she was away. C. K. Pet-
tit, 3908 W Corbin, meter reader for
OG&E, saw. smoke coming from the
Conler bath room window. After call-
ing to' see if anyonc was home, he
forced entry and found a towel had

E. fallen on the heater, setting fire to

the baseboard. Pettit, who has heen
reading meters 25 years, says, “It's
all in a day's work” .

Freight Traffic Service—rates, class-
ification—routing, tracing claims. Res
liability plus “kmow how.” Let us be
your traific dept. Hall-Jones Co., 705
Leonhardt Bldg. 7-5434. (Adv.)

tenant” is “Yeah, we'll move—but WHERE?”

:Teen-Agers fo. Hop—Saturday
night from 8 p, m. to 11:30 p. m. the
Oklahoms City Hi-V council will take
over the first floor of YMCA for a
“hop.” Admission is 25 cents for any
senior highschooler,” “stag or drag."
The proceeds ‘will ‘go“to-a  fund for
world youth relief. .. =" Uo7

- Dance tonight & every ‘Wed. & Sat.
nite 9 pomy AmeTiean; kegion Hall
10th and N. Roh. 60c, tax. included,
' - v T (Adyy)
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Auto 1iags, Satterthwaite, Braniff
loboy and 905 NW 4th. (adv.)

City Planner Named--William B.
Norris, 1417 N Pennsylvania, city to-
bacco dealer, Tuesday was appointed
toﬁllthewaxdﬂmemmonthe

planning commission. Norris was

anmm:eﬂ to replace John Marik, who

rned because of the press ol other
busmlss.

Cash quick fer your car. A. C. Du-
Bese, 1520 NE 23rd. 4-2800. - (Adv.)

Wrist Broken in Fall—As he stepped
into a stare at NW 16 and Drevel
Tuesday afternoon, Rev. John T. Dan-
iel, pastor of the Northwest Baptist
church, slipped on the ice and fell,
breaking his right wrist. He was
admitted t St. Anthony hospital
Just over a year ago, working in his
church, the pastor broke his ankle.

Guaranty laundry—speedy, quality
Work on tamny bundles. Fh.” 2-8121.
{Adv.)

Paper Drive Is On—EBdzemere grade-
school students are ransacking their
homes for old magazines and news-
papers this week. The paper drive,
proceeds from which will go to pur-
chasé school equipment, closes Friday.

If John Forline hnudles your insur-
ance—RELAX, (Adv.)

State Help Pays, Too—The state
withheld 5222105828 from the sal-
aries of state emploves during 1947
for federal income tas payments, fiz-
ures of Mrs. Lucile Lindsay, assistant
pay roll supervisor of the budget of-
fice. showed Tuesday. The tax was
withheld from emploves of all iypes as
provided by federal law.

Car need polishing? See Trueblood
Brothers, 4th & Walker, 2-4644.

Crash Brings Charge-—Jack Hardy,
26, of 2508 S Harvey, was charged
with drunkenness and reckless driving
Tuesday afier his automobile collided
with a truck at Reno and S Shartel.
He was jailed in default of bond.

T. Ray Phillips Jr, Insurance
. (Adv)
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Chap. 20 ACTS OF THE SIXTEENTH LEGISLATURE

ARTICLE 6.

BOARD OF AFFAIRS.
SENATE BILL NO. 49.

AN ACT autborlzlnz the State Board of Public Affalrs te lease for oll and gas development purposes
certaln State Capitol Grounds as In the Act described; providing for consolidatlon thereof subject
to determination of the State Board of Public Affalrs; repealing Article 2 of Chapter 65 of the
Sessiun Luws of Oklahoma, 1935: and vacating any deeds of dedication or plats flied thereunder;
providing that the State Board of Public Affairs shall at all times maintaln the paved passageways
on suid land unobstructed for the use of the publlc; placing sald lands described hereln under the
exclusive control and jurisdiction of the State of Okialivmma and the zoning and drilling regulations
of any municipality of thls State shall not apply thereto; repeallng all laws In conflict herewith,
and declaring an emergency.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA:

Section 1. State Lands—OQil and Gas Leases.

The State Board of Public Affairs is hereby authorized and empow-
ered to advertise, sell and execute an oil and gas lease or leases upon the
following described State-owned lands constituting a portion of the State
Capitol grounds, to-wit:

Beginning at a point One Hundred Fifty-two and Seventy-seven

One-hundredths (152.77’) feet east of the Southwest Corner of

the Northeast One-quarter (NEl4) of Section Twenty-seven (27),

Township Twelve (12) North, Range Three (3) West. Thence

North Four (4) Degrees Thirty-one (31) Minutes East, Twelve

Hundred Eight and Fifty-five One-hundredths (1,208.55’) Feet.

Thence West Four Hundred Ninety-six (496.0’) Feet. Thence South

Four (4) Degrees Thirty-one (31) Minutes East, Twelve Hundred

Eight and Fifty-five One-hundredths (1,208.55’) Feet. Thence East

Three Hundred Five and Fifty-four One-hundredths (305.54’) Feet

to the place of beginning, containing Eleven and Eight One-hun-

dredths (11.08) Acres, more or less, situate in Oklahoma County,

Oklahoma.

In advertising, selling and executing such lease or leases, such Board
shall follow tae provisions and requirements of Article 4, Chapter 20,
Session Laws of Oklahoma, 1935; and such Board may provide for the con-
solidation of such lease or leases with a lease or leases upon other lands
under such terms as such Board may determine.

Section 2. Repeal.

Article 2 of Chapter 65 of the Session Laws of Oklahoma, 1935, is
hereby repealed, and all deeds of dedication and plats filed thereunder
are hereby vacated; and all other Acts or parts of Acts, in conflict here-
with, are hereby expressly repealed; provided, that the State Board of
Public Affairs shall at all times keep and maintain the paved passageways
upon said land open and unobstructed for the use of the public.

Section 3. Zoning Restrictions,

The lands described in Section One of this Act shall be under the
exclusive control and jurisdiction of the State of Oklahoma and the zoning
and drilling regulations of any municipality of this State shall not apply
thereto.

Section 4. Construction of Act.

If any section, paragraph, sentence or phrase of this Act shall be
declared unconstitutional or void for any reason by any court of final
jurisdiction, such decision shall not in any way invalidate or affect any
other section, paragraph, sentence or phrase of this Act but the same shall
continue in full force and effect.

Approved January 22, 1937. KEmergency.
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OFFICERS Chap. 20

ARTICLE 7.

BOARD OF AFFAIRS.
SENATE JOINT RESOLUTION NO. 9.

A JOINT RESOLUTION authorizing the State Board of Public Affairs to lease for oll and gas purposes
certain lands in the Second Amended State Capitol Addition to Oklahoma City, and do all things
necessary to protect the interest of the State in such matters; confirming actlon of State Board of
Public Affairs heretofore made in the matter; and declaring an emergency.

WHEREAS, The Board of Adjustment of the City of Oklahoma City has
granted a permit to Anderson and Kerr Drilling Company to drill for oil and
gas on Block 3 of Amended Plat of Second State Capitol Addition to Okla-
homa City; and

WHEREAS, The Board of Adjustment of said City attached the West
Half of Blocks 2, 5 and 8 of said addition to said Block 3 for the purpose of
participation in any production from said tract; and

WHEREAS, It appears that the State of Oklahoma has an interest in the
mineral rights in said land, and the Anderson and Kerr Drilling Company has
served a notice of election upon the Governor and State Board of Public Af-
fairs whether the State of Oklahoma will elect to participate in the working
interest or execute and deliver a lease on said premises for a cash bonus of
Eleven Thousand Two Hundred Eighty-six Dollars ($11,286.00) and a one-
eighth (34) royalty; and

WHEREAS, The State Board of Public Affairs has elected, subject to the
approval of the Legislature, to execute and deliver a lease for the sum of
Eleven Thousand Two Hundred Eighty-six Dollars ($11,286.00), to be paid
when the State’s title be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction as
being merchantable; and

WHEREAS, The State Board of Public Affairs is now without authority
of law to execute and deliver said lease; and

WHEREAS, There are other lands in said Second Amended State Capitol
Addition to Oklahoma City which have not been set aside for State Medical
School and Hospital purposes, in which the State is the owner of the mineral
rights and for which there is no law now authorizing the same to be leased;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE SENATE AND HOUSE
OF REPRESENTATIVES OF THE SIXTEENTH LEGISLATURE OF THE
STATE OF OKLAHOMA:

Section 1. O0Oil and Gas—State Lands.

That the election made by the State Board of Public Affairs with refer-
ence to the West Half of Blocks 2, 5 and 8 of Amended Plat of Second State
Capitol Addition to Oklahoma City, be and the same is hereby ratified and
confirmed.

Section 2. Board of Affairs—Lease.

That the State Board of Public Affairs is hereby authorized to execute
and deliver said lease on the West Half of Blocks 2, 5 and 8 of the Amended
Plat of Second State Capitol Addition to Oklahoma City to the Anderson and
Kerr Drilling Company and to enter into escrow agreements pending the de-
termination of the title to said tracts and to do all things necessary to protect
the interest of the State in said matter.

Section 3. Same.

The State Board of Public Affairs shall have the authority also to lease
for oil and gas purposes and to do all things necessary to protect the rights
of the State in any other lands in said Amended Second State Capitol Addi-
tion to Oklahoma City in which the State has an interest, except lands which
have heretofore been set aside by the Legislature for educational and hos-
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Chap. 24 ACTS OF THE SIXTEENTH LEGISLATURE

ARTICLE 22.

STATE OFFICE BUILDING.
SENATE BILL NO. 344,

AN ACT amending Section 4, Article 5, Chapter 24. Session Laws of 1936, the same belng Senate Bill No. 14
of the extraordinary session of the Sixteenth Legisiature of the Btate of Oklahoma; and declaring an
emergency.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA:

Section 1. State Office Building.

Section 4, Article 5, Chapter 24, Session Laws of 1936, the same being
Senate Bill No. 14 of the Extraordinary Session of the Sixteenth Legislature,
is hereby amended to read as follows:

“Section 4. Said Dbuilding shall be located upon property owned by the
State of Oklahoma, South and West of the present Capitol Building at Okla-
homa City, Oklahoma, and shall be West of Lincoln Boulevard and as nearly
as practicable directly West of the building now known as the Oklahoma His-
torical Society Building. The construction, erection, completion, equipment
and furnishing of said building shall be under the direction and supervision
of the State Board of Public Affairs.”

Approved April 15, 1937. Emergency.

ARTICLE 23.

BUILDING FUND.

SENATE BILL NO. 402.

AN ACT amending Subdivision (B), Section 1, Senate Blll No. 14 of the First Extraordinary Session of the
Sixteenth Legislature of the State of Oklahoma; providing for the disposition of revenues in excess
of One Mlllion Dollars ($1,000,000.00) derlved from royalties, bonuses or rentals; and declaring an
emergency.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF OKLAHOMA:

Section 1. State Lands—Oil and Gas Royalties—Building Fund.

Subdivision (b), Section 1, Senate Bill No. 14 of the First Extraordinary
Session of the Sixteenth Legislature of the State of Oklahoma, is hereby
amended to read as follows:

“(b) The monies received as royalties, bonuses, or rentals by the State
Board of Public Affairs for the use and benefit of the State of Oklahoma not
heretofore paid by said State Board of Public Affairs to the Treasurer to be
converted into the General Revenue Fund and all royalties, bonuses, and
rentals accruing to the State prior to July 1, 1939, from any contracts or
leases executed pursuant to the provisions of Subsections (a) of this section
and all other monies received from the sale of any such leases, bonuses, and
royalties or other contracts so made by said State Board of Public Affairs
prior to July 1, 1939, shall be paid by the State Board of Public Affairs to
the Treasurer of the State of Oklahoma and deposited in a fund to be known
as the “Capitol Grounds Building Fund”; provided, however, that not more
than the sum of One Million ($1,000,000.00) Dollars shall be paid into the
Capitol Ground Building Fund under the provisions of this Act, and if that
sum shall be received, paid into and deposited in said Capitol Grounds Building
Fund prior to July 1, 1939, then all sums in excess of One Million ($1,000,000,-
00) Dollars shall be converted into the Public Building Fund of the State of
Oklahoma. All revenues arising from said sources subsequent to July 1, 1939,
shall be converted into the Public Building Fund of the State of Oklahoma.”

Approved May 14, 1937. Emergency.
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ABSTRACT

This report summarizes the project to survey certain
properties in accordance with the contract between the
Oklahoma Historical Society State Historic Preservation
Cffice (hereafter cited as OK/SHPQO) and the Oklahoma Army
National Guard {hereafter cited as OK ARNG). The duration
of the project was from September 30, 1992 to September 30,
1393. These properties were to include: 1. Each of the
Works Progress Administration (WPA) constructed Naticnal
Guard armories in the Oklahoma Army and Air National Guard’s
inventory previously identified by the OK/SHPO as eligible
(but not yet neminated) for the National Register of Histor-
ic Places, not to exceed 10 structures; 2. Any of 26 WWII
temporary buildings in the OK ARNG inventory, located at
a. Davis Field (4), b. Camp Gruber (22), and c. Whitaker
Education and Training Center, formerly Whitaker School (3
1921 buildings), not to exceed 10 structures, These facili-
ties, while constructed at various times and for different
purposes, are the property of and associated with the OK
ARNG.

The surveyors studied all properties specified in the
contract, excluded those that no longer exist or no longer
belong to the 0K ARNG, documented the remainder, and docu-
mented additional properties they believe warrant further
study as is described in the full report.

Intensive archival and library research was undertaken
to establish the historic context(s) for the resources.
Full National Register nominations were completed for twenty
National Guard Armories. On-site field surveys at Davis
Field, Whitaker Education and Training Center, and Camp
Gruber resulted in the description, recordation, and mapping
of numerous historic resources in each installation. For
each resource, an Historic Preservation Resource Identi-
fication Form was completed, and photographic documentation
was accomplished.

Several resources were deemed to warrant further inves-
tigation for possible listing in the National Register of
Historic Places. PFuture study is recommended for potential
ly National-Register-eligible historic districts at Davis
Field (1), Whitaker Education and Training Center (1), and
Camp Gruber {3). Future study is also recommended for
individual properties at Camp Gruber that may be potentially
eligible for the National Register.
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INTRODUCTION

This report summarizes the project to survey certain
properties in accordance with the contract between the
Oklahoma Historical Society State Historic Preservation
Office (hereafter cited as OK/SHPO)} and the Oklahoma Army
National Guard (hereafter cited as OK ARNG). The duration
of the project was from September 30, 1992 to September 30,
1393, These properties were tc include:

1. Each of the Works Progress Administration (WPA) con-
structed National Guard armories in the Oklahoma Army and
2ir National Guard’s inventory previocusly identified by the
OK/SHPO as eligible (but not yet nominated) for the National
Register of Historic Places, not to exceed 10 structures.

2. Any of 26 WWII temporary buildings in the OK ARNG inven-
tory, located at

a. Davis Field (4),

b, Camp Gruber (22},
and

¢. Whitaker Education and Training Center, formerly
Whitaker Schoel (3 1921 buildings), not to exceed 10 struc-
tures.

These facilities, while constructed at various times and for
different purposes, are the property of and associated with
the OK ARNG.

To aid the two surveyors with identifying the above-
mentioned properties, the OK/SHPO was supplied with three
inventory lists:

1. ARNG Facilities Inventory and Stationing Plan (FISP),
dated April 19, 1991.

2. National Guard Armories Eligible for Listing in the
National Register of Historic Places, annotated by the OK
ARNG as to ownership.

3. National Guard Armories Listed in the National Register
of Historic Places.

In conducting the survey, the surveyors discovered that
liste 1 and 2 were inaccurate for their purposes. The ARNG
FISP

a. listed structureless acreages as well as buildings;
b. supplied construction dates that were actually
acqguisition dates.

The inventory of National Guard Armories Eligible for List-
ing in the National Register of Historic Places included
properties that no longer belonged to the OK ARNG. The



surveyors had to adjust their targets accordingly. They
studied all properties specified in the contract, excluded
those that no longer exist or belong to the OK ARNG, docu-
mented the remainder, and documented additional properties
they believe warvant further study as is described in the
folliowing discussion.

WORKS PROGRESS ADMINISTRATION NATIONAL GUARD ARMORIES IN
OKLAHOMA

HISTORIC CONTEXT

Need for the Armory-Building Program

In Oklahoma the Great Depression of the 1930s simply
continued a decade of economic distress. While in the first
guarter of the twentieth century it projected the image of
an oil-rich, cattle-rich state, the truth was that the post-
world War 1 recession sent the economy into a decline from
which it did not recover for twenty years. Much of Oklaho-
ma’s Native American and African-American populations, as
well as some of the white population, was chronically impov-
erished. In the 1920s Oklahoma’s cattle, wheat, and cotton
farmers found little demand for their commodities. The
cyclical droughts of the early 1930s, insect infestations,
and nmisuse of the soil combined to drive farmers off their
lands in western oOklahoma and devastated crops in the rest
of the state. At the same time, continuing discovery and
exploitation of Oklahoma’s cil fields, duplicated in other
states, flooded the market with crude cil by the early 1930s
and further drove down prices.

To a certain extent, President Franklin D. Roosevelt’s
first New Deal attenmpts to remedy the national economic
depression made the situation worse for Oklahomans. His
Agricultural Adjustment Act, paying landowners to cut pro-
duction of commodities, caused many of Oklahoma’s tenant
farmers to be turned off the land. Cut-backs in petroleum
production under the leadership of Oklahoma’s Governor
William ("Alfalfa Bill") Murray {(1931-19235) and technologi=~
cal innovatiocons meant fewer Jjobs for the state’s oil field
workers. Both tenant farmers and oil field workers were
usually unskilled laborers, resulting in high unemployment
for men unlikely to find work elsewhere. The state average
in 1935 was 23 percent, but in some counties the percentage
of unemployed heads of families or single people exceeded 40
percent. The result was severe economic hardship for these
people and their dependents, Many left the state or migrat-
ed to urban areas in search of relief. Programs such as the
Civilian Conservation Corps, Public Works Administration,
and Federal Emergency Relief Administration had limited
impact on the problem in the state through early 1935.°



Works Progress Administration Projects

Creation of the Works Progress Administration by FDR’s
New Deal administration in June 1935 brought a new attack on
the problems of the Great Depression. The WPA was designed
to combat record national levels of unemployment by setting
up public works projects. The orientation was generally
local. Labor, mostly unskilled, would be drawn from the
county relief rolls. Laborers were limited to 130 hours per
month at a guaranteed monthly minimum wage of twenty-four
dollars. Labor-intensive construction further maximized
employment. Materials would be purchased or acquired local-
ly if possible, to keep down costs and stimulate the local
economy. Projects chosen--roadwork, bridges, flood control,
improvements to public utilities and sanitation systems,
construction of schools and other public buildings--had to
be permanent, useful additions teo the community. Communi-
ties must demonstrate their sponsorship of the projects,
often through in-kind contributions of land or materials.
Many Oklahoma towns guickly took advantage of this solution
to an immediate practical problem, at the same time provid-
ing much-needed improvements or permanent facilities at
little cost to themselves.?

The Armory-Building Project

The head of the WPA in the state was Major General W.
S. Key, an Oklahoman, former prison warden, and commander of
the 45th Division, which included, from 1923, the Oklahoma
National Guard. Key resigned to become State Director of
the WPA but maintained his interest in and support of the 0K
ARNG. He urged Oklahoma towns to apply quickly for many WPA
projects but specified armory projects for towns that al-
ready had Guard units. While Oklahoma’s National Guard had
its origins in territorial days and had served honorably in
the Spanish-American War, the Mexican Campaign, World War I,
and numerous state emergencies, individual units rarely had
permanent armories. Most rented make-shift facilities that
lacked permanence and security, leading to the loss of
equipment and arms. This real need of adequate facilities
coincided with a national WPA armory-building program agi-
tated for and won with the support of the National Guard
Association. Bryan F. Nolen, an OK ARNG major and archi-
tect, had already been placed on active duty to design
armories. Key added Major Nolen to his staff and pursued
the program with the support of Governor E. W. Marland
(1935-1939) and the State Board of Affairs.’

The WPA armory-building program in Oklahoma consegquent-
ly oversaw the construction of fifty-one new armories be-
tween 1935 and 1937. Construction began generally in the
fall of 1935 as soon as individual towns could acquire land
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for building sites. In some cases this meant deeding public
land to the state; in other cases land was purchased with
funds raised by public donation or bond issues. Ground was
broken first in Wewoka, Oklahoma, on October 8, 1935. Other
towns followed suit through October and November, with men
employed in site preparation, foundation excavation, and
stone-quarrying. Construction halted temporarily in early
November 1935 as Key and federal WPA Director Harry Hopkins
debated the allocation of funds. But vociferous protests by
Oklahoma‘s Congressmen, Senators, Governor Marland, state
legislators, and local officials resulted in restoration of
the program and resumption of work by the end of the same
month. Bad weather, lack of materials, shortages of equip-
ment, and other work stoppages slowed completion of the
armories; but by the end of 1936 the first finished, King-
fisher Armory, was done. The rest of the armories, ranging
in cost from about $30,000 to more than $60,000, were com-
pleted and dedicated during the next several months, into
the summey of 1937. The dedication ceremonies included
speeches by Key and Barrett, parades, banquets or barbecues,
public tours of the facilities, and concerts or dances--all
a very public affirmation of the WPA progran and demonstra-
tion of support for the local Guard units.®

Impact and Subsequent History of the Armories

The WPA armories were immediately put to use, in some
cases even before the formal dedication. By 1938 Guard
officials agreed that the training and preparation of the OK
ARNG was much improved because of the better facilities.
But the armories were designed to be community centers and
public meetings halls as well, a selling point strongly
stressed to the public in WPA press releases. While the
administrative sections of the building were reserved for
Guard functions, the drill halls served as high school and
college gymnasiums (for example, Tishomingo and Wagoner
armories), concert halls, social centers, and exhibition
halls. Sometimes leased to the public, armories provided
space for skating rinks, manufacturing (Pawhuska Armory),
and storage (Konawa Armory). With the mobilization of the
45th Division in 1940, armories assumed other functions.
Haskell, Eufaula, Okemah, and Konawa armories were holding
centers for German prisoners of war detailed from prisoner
of war camps for agricultural labor. Before and after World
War II, the buildings represented substantial physical
contributions to Oklahoma towns, in some cases being the
most imposing and valuable building in town. With their
distinctive construction and style, they have remained a
visible reminder of the WPA and the OK ARNG.®



ARCHITECTURAL CONTEXT

The armories designed by supervising architect Major
Bryan F. Nolen for the WPA share common characteristics, yet
each is distinct from the others. That individuality was
achieved through a certain style, flexibility of design,
variation in materials, dual purpose, and labor-intensive
construction.*®

A WPA armory in Oklahoma is still immediately recogniz-
able by its style. Nolen created a series of buildings that
reflected their military purpose by their castellated ap-
pearance, but with a Art Deco influence. The fortress-like
or military image was created through the use of projecting
portals, parapets, piers and pilasters that simulate towers
at each corner of the building, public entrances recessed
beneath arches, narrow windows that resemble arrowslits, and
vertical incisicns in brick or stonework along the roofline
that suggest battlements. These same features, with their
strong vertical lines, are used to break up the horizontal
mass of these large buildings. The overall rectangularity,
sometimes reinforced with the decaorative use of diamonds,
rectangles, triangles and other geometric figures, reflect
the Art Deco style popular in the decade before Nolen de-
signed his armories. Stylistically, the armories fit WPA’s
encouragement of artistry and craftsmanship. But the armor-
ies vary widely in degree of ornamentation from the rela-
tively plain Guthrie or Eufzula armories to the elaborate
Konawa Armory with its extensive inlays of molded concrete.
This variation was probably a function of the skill level of
the available labor force.

Although the style of Nolen’s designs imposed a stan-
dardization on the WPA armories, the need for flexibility
was also taken into consideration. The armories must accom-
nodate different numbers of Guard units and be built in far-
flung locations that would afford variable site conditions,
locally-available building materials, and labor skill levels
ranging from craftsman to novice builder hired from the
relief rolls. Consequently, Nolen designed standardized
plans for one-unit, two-unit, and four-unit armories that
allowed considerable adaptation. The one-unit armory at
Eufaula, according to a notation on the blueprlnt was
apparently duplicated at Beggs, Hugo, Pawhuska Tishomingo,
Wagoner, Cushing, Guthrie, Ckemah, Tahlequah, and Mangum.
The four-unit Pawnee Armory dlffers very little from Anada-
rko Armory except in building materials. While most armor-
ies were one-story, modification of the basic one-unit
design created a two-story building where ground space was
limited, as in the case of Minco and Watonga. Xingfisher
Armory, housing a two units, was de51gned with two full
stories. .
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Building materials also depended on the location of the
armory. The use of native stone, be it sandstone or lime-
stone, reduced construction costs yet provided a material
that was easily handled by unskilled labor. Thirty~three of
Oklahoma’s WPA armories were native stone, sometimes quar-
ried from the construction site, as with the Guthrie build-
ing. Most today lie east of Interstate 35 in eastern Okla-
homa. The other eighteen were brick, usually from the State
Penitentiary at McAlester, Oklahema. Most brick armories
are located west of Interstate 35 in western Oklahoma. Both
stone and brickwork on existing armories show variable
levels of skill on the part of the builders, ranging from
the rather poor gquality of stonework on the Eufaula Armory
to fine beaded mortar evident on the Wagoner and Mangum
armories. Roofs were rolled asphalt applied over sheet
Steel and steel trussing, and interior walls might combine
brick and native stone. Doors were panel-type, with narrow
wooden slats set into broad plank frames. Windows were
always steel-framed, usually center-pivot in style, and
manufactured in Oklahoma, but their distribution and width
might vary from building to building. Whether the armories
were brick or stone, WPA spokesmen were fond of noting that
the buildings were almost completely “fireproof" and, like
the windows, Oklahoma products, being made from its native
stone and clay.

Bach building had the same general floor plan, being
divided into two sections, reflecting the duvual purpose of
the building as an armory and a community center. Ideally
the sections were set at right angles on a corner lot and
each faced a street or alley. But modifications of the
basic design might allow both sections to open on the same
street. The flat-roofed administrative section offered the
public entrance. It was bisected by a corridor leading from
the public entrance to the drill hall. On either side of
the corridor were administrative offices, classrooms, stor-
age rooms, an arms vault, locker roons, showers, and a
garage which might be expanded to meet the needs of particu-
lar units. This section of the building was generally
reserved for OK ARNG use. The barrel-roofed drill hall was
designed for public as well as Guard use. Overhead doors at
one end offered access from the street for trucks and large
equipment; at the other end was a stage with enclosed wings.
Beneath the stage was a basement rifle range, some of which
had off-set observers’ cubicles. Usually the range extended
beyond the outer wall of the drill hall, and its roof was
exposed as a low flat-roofed extension in the angle between
the drill hall and the administrative section. While floors
throughout the rest of the building were concrete, that of
the drill hall was overlaid with wood block flooring, allow-
ing the space to be used for dances and basketball games as
well as Guard activities. All the armories contained these
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basic rooms, but the arrangement, size and number might vary
from building to building. Extensions might be added to the
usual one-unit drill hall-administrative section floor plan
to create space for more than one unit.

The drill hall floor, along with the native stone which
must be quarried, cut, and set into the walls, testified to
the labor-intensive nature of Nolen’s designs. To create
this industrial-type floor, a base of concrete was poured.
Hundreds of thousands of four-inch wooden blocks were cut,
sanded, set on end in asphalt, varnished, and polished. The
great number of man-hours of work involved was a means of
reaching the WPA goal of maximizing employment.

Project directors took pride in noting thar most of the
work was done with by hand with few mechanized tools and
that unskilled labor received the greatest part of the
payroll. Another noted that many of the unskilled men who
came to work on the Konawa Armory left as experienced brick
masons, therefore more employable in the future. Others
pointed to Jim Price of the Eufaula Armory and Ed Greathouse
of the Hominy Armory, who discovered they posszessed a real

talent for stonecutting and left fine examples of their work
to further individualize these armories.

WPA-built armories are locally significant because they
typify WPA projects in their communities. Quite often, the
armory is the only remaining example of WPA construction
methodology in the area. In type, style, scale, materials,
and workmanship, WPA armories are unigque when compared to
the rest of the built environment in Oklahoma.

Oklahoma’s WPA Armories Today

Many of Oklahoma’s WPA armories survive and are still
in use by the OK ARNG. Others have been replaced by newer
armories and have passed into public or private ownership.

The armories studied here revealed common characteris-
tics and adaptations. In the administrative section, high
concrete ceilings have usually been covered with dropped
acoustical tile. Neon lighting has often been installed.
Use of native stone for interior walls created problems with
dust and grit. Sone units solved the problem by painting,
paneling, or otherwise covering the original walls. Origi-
nal concrete floors have often been covered with linoleum
or, less often, carpeting. Some rooms have been subdivided.
Restroons have often needed remodeling te accommodate
personnel of both sexes. Often both interior and exterior
doors have been replaced for better security. Most double
doors in the portals have been replaced with single metal
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doors set between wooden panels. While most armories still
have their original steel-framed windows, many now have
painted panes or are covered with some type of insert. 1In
most cases the drill hall stage has been blocked in to
create more usable space. Some areas of the drill halls may
have been partitioned to provide storage, kitchen facili-
ties, or ticket booths. Because of faulty design or con-
struction, the drill halls’ barrel roofs have proved chroni-
cally vulnerable to leakage. One of the first casualties of
faulty dewatering systems was the wood-block flooring: in
virtually all armories, the floor buckled and eventually had
to be removed. Most armories now have concrete floors in
the drill hall, sometimes with an additional layer of con-
crete poured over the original bed. Chronic water problems
from underground seepage as well as leaks from the drill
hall roof have also made most of the basement rifle ranges
unusable.

Even with these problems and the medifications that
have been made in the last five decades, Oklahoma’s WPA
armories are good and valuable buildings with a great deal
of architectural and historical integrity. With proper
maintenance, they should continue to be the integral parts
of the communities they were meant to be in 1935.

METHODOT.OGY

Working from the three lists supplied by the OK ARNG
and the Department of Defense, OK SHPO identifjed armories
for survey for possible National Register of Historic Places
nominations. The surveyors researched and compiled materi-
als on the WPA armory building program at the Oklahoma
Military Department, the Oklahoma Department of Libraries,
Ednon Low Library at Oklahoma State University, and the
Oklahoma Historical Society. Newspaper and journal arti-
cles, published secondary works, archival manuscripts,
vertical files, and library holdings of government documents
yvielded information pertinent both to the project as a whole
and individual armories. Working independently, the survey-
ors then visited the selected armories for on-site research
and survey. Local public libraries and oral interviews
added to the body of information amassed. The surveyors
photographed the elevations of the buildings, toured and
photographed the interiors if possible, and interviewed
armory personnel, Visits to the court house in each county
in which specific armories were located provided in all
cases except one the legal description of the property.

From the informaticon and photographs accumulated, the sur-
veyors wrote and edited National Register nominations for
individual properties.
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FINDINGS

The surveyors found that the remaining WPA armories
continue to serve the OK ARNG well., Modifications to accom-
modate changes in Guard personnel, assigned duties, and
egquipment as well as to make the buildings conform to pres-
ent expectations of good working environments have generally
been internal and have not resulted in architecturally or
historically significant alterations to the exteriors of the
buildings. Conseguently, the buildings are eligible for the
National Register of Historic Places under Criteria A and C.
With proper maintenance they should continue to contribute
to both the OK ARNG and the communities in which they stand.
The latter consideration has become increasingly important
in towns that have declined& economically and in population
since the 19305 and have little hope of replacing the build-
ings with new community centers. A number of Guardsmen
expressed appreciation for the buildings and the tradition
of the 45th Division they represent in spite of some ac-
knowledged disadvantages. Many expressed pleasure that the
buildings were at last being recognized as historic.

The surveyors found that two of the armories, Ada and
Tahlequah, selected from list 2, purporting to show the
current status of WPA armories still owned by the OK ARNG,
presently belong to the City of Ada and private owners,
respectively.
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DAVIS FIELD, MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA
HISTORIC CONTEXT
Original Purpose and Construction

World War II found Oklahoma easing out of the Great
Depression, but with its unemployment levels still high and
its World War I-era prosperity only partially restored by
New Deal efforts such as the Works Progress Administration.
Among public werks projects completed by the WPA were con-
struction of and improvements on airport and airway facili-
ties. The WPA worked closely with the U.S. Army Air Force
in the years 1939-1940 to develop civilian airports that
could be useful in defense, although the WPA followed its
own guidelines as to labor and cost-sharing. In the autumn
of 1941 the Army Air Force projected a series of bases which
would be useful to nearby ground training facilities. Some
of these bases might be the previously developed civilian
airports. By 1943 numerous bases had been established near
army ground forces divisional posts in various areas of the
United States. These included Davis Field at Muskogee,
Oklahoma, currently used by the OK ARNG for training purpos-
es.?

In the early twentieth century the city of Muskogee in
eastern Oklahoma prided itself on Hatbox Field, the oldest
airport in the state. Muskogee had an additional reason to
boast when in late 1941 construction of its second air
facility neared completion. It would be the only city of
its size in the United States to have two air defense air-
fields. Number 2 Airport, consisting of 720 acres of land
five miles south of the city on U. S. Highway 64, was being
built as a National Defense measure and was incorporated
into the defense area begun earlier that summer with the
establishment of the Oklahoma Ordnance Works at Pryor,
Oklahoma, and Camp Gruber, near Braggs, Cklahoma. Number 2
Airport represented a joint effort by federal and local
officials. While the city bought the land, contributing
$78,922 to the construction project, federal expenditures
were $548,040 with the WPA providing labor under the direc-
tion of area engineer Elmo C. Drumb. Bad weather in the
fall of 1941 hampered construction, but Drumb estimated in
early December that 85 percent of the grading, 90 percent of
the fencing, and 60 percent of the hard-surfaced runways
were complete. An eight-inch water line connected city
mains to the field, but 80 percent cf the sodding had yet to
be planted. The Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor on December
7, 1941, and American entrance into World wWar II severely
curtailed public information about the airport but presum-
ably hastened its completion.?
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A few months later in 1942, city officials reported
that Muskogee Municipal Airport Number 2 could provide
facilities for the largest military and commercial aircraft.
North, south, and northwest-scutheast runways were paved,
150" wide and 4,000’ long. Sodded strips adjacent to north
and south runways and sodded northeast and southwest landing
strips increased the capacity of the runways. Cone and
flush boundary, range, and contact lights as well as new
fencing and good drainage made it a fine addition to Musko-
gee as well as potentially valuable to the military. But
until the project was accepted by the U. S. Army, there were
no buildings or hangars at the field.’

Apparently, MusKkogee Municipal Airport Number 2 was
accepted after several months, for the name of the facility
was changed to Davis Field, in honor of Major Jack Davis of
Muskogee; and it became a military training center for the
duration of World War II. Spartan Aircraft Company, head-
guartered at Tulsa, Oklahoma and long respected for its
experience and expertise in the realm of aviator instruc-
tion, had begun primary and advanced training for pilots at
Hatbox Field in November 1940 under contract with the Army
Air Force. In a separate preogram, Spartan trained "Sergeant
Pilots" at Davis Field. In 1944 a number of buildings were
constructed to accommodate the training program. These
included, among others, a large hangar with a control tower
at its northwest corner, a general purpose aircraft shop
building, apd a parachute packing shop.*

The Post-World War II Era

Following the end of the war, the fortunes of Davis
Field fluctuated with national defense demands. The field
reverted to the City of Muskogee in 1947 but continued to
serve as a secondary airport. The city converted some of
the buildings for a variety of uses ranging from hay storage
to light manufacturing. In 1955, during the Cold War, the
field was reactivated and designated an Alir Force Reserve
base in the Continental Air Command. The Air Force, in
accordance with its joint use, ninety-nine year contract
with the city, assumed responsibility for maintenance of the
field. The purpose of Davis Field was to train Air Reserve
Technicians, and the base was one of the first in the United
States to function under this program. The 713th Fighter
Bomber Sguadron commanded by Colonel Claude Sledd, a Musko-
gee building contractor, was assigned to Davis Field until
the unit was decommissioned in 1957. At that time 65th
Troop Carrier Sguadron moved to Davis Field. It expanded in
early 1963 to the 929th Troop Carrier Group. Fliers from
Davis Field operating nineteen C-119 "Flying Boxcars" accu-
mulated an excellent flying record in Continental Air Com-~
mand-sponsored competitions as well as during their routine
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reserve tours. The four hundred men of the 65th, from
fifty-four towns in Oklahoma, Arkansas, Kansas, and Missou-
ri, were called up for active duty during both the Berlin
and Cuban Missile crises of 1962. President Lyndon B.
Johnsen chose to land at Davis Field in his 1964 visit to
Muskogee, and Central Airlines scheduled two flights daily
into the airport. At its peak of operation, the last half
of 1964, Davis Field served 764 reservists and had a civil-
ian staff of 181 and a payroll of $1,243,738. Estimates
were that the base contributed $2.1 million annually to the
Muskogee economy.®

Nevertheless, as the federal government embarked on a
program to cut bases and expenses in late 1964, Davis Field
had the dubious honor of being the first base of its type
closed. The justification was that it failed to meet the
current minimum capacity and flexibility standards set by
the military for civil fields. The City of Muskogee was
notified that Davis Field would be closed as of September
30, 1966. In spite of protests from the Muskogee business
community, the C-119’s were tranferred to San Antonio, Texas
in October 1965, and the number of civilians employed at
Davis Field dropped to 65 by March 1966. 1In early 1967
Davis Field was relegated to Ycaretaker” status, and the
property reverted to the city of Muskogee.®

Acquisition by the OK ARKNG

Davis Field continued to function as a secondary civil
airport for the City of Muskogee until April 1987, when it
once again became a part of the national defense establish-
ment through a jeint-use agreement with the Oklahoma Mili-
tary Department. The Oklahoma Army National Guard assumed
proprietorship of Davis Field as an annex to Camp Gruber, a
large World War Il-era army training center adjacent to
nearby Braggs, Oklahoma. Camp Gruber, Davis Field, and
Whitaker School at Pryor, Oklahoma, renamed Whitaker Educa-
tion and Training Center, became conponents of a training
complex operated by the OK ARNG. The section of Davis Field
reclaimed by the OK ARNG consisted of approximately forty-
four acres of land on which were a geod concrete runway,
150’ by 7200’, rated capable of handling €-130, C-141, C-5,
and KC-10 aircraft. There was additional parking ramp space
1060’ x 860¢ in area. Although the facility lacked mess
halls or barracks, accessible features included fire plugs,
utilities, paved roads, and fuel storage. Buildings includ-
ed a relatively new concrete block fire station (P301) and
three World War II-vintage buildings: P203, the small frame
building originally used for parachute packing; P205, the
large wood-frame hangar with its office and shop areas; and
P206, the wood frame general purpose aircraft shop. While
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P205 was in good repair and deemed a valuable building, both
P203 and P206 were in poor cendition.”

Subsequent to the OK ARNG resumption of control, the
Davis Field facilities were brought up to a usable state.
P2Q5, its control tower at some point removed, was re-sided
with aluminum. P203, although judged to have limited flexi-
bility, was eventually renovated and transformed into an
administration building. But P206, in accordance with
recommendations, was demolished and its cencrete foundation
put to use as a maintenance slab and base for a communica-
tions tower. Loading ramps, three drop zones, adequate
lighting, and the installation of a new warehouse and guard
house at the gate restored Davis Field to the joint civil-
ian/military use for which it was first intended.®

ARCHITECTURAL CONTEXT

The remaining World war II buildings at Davis Field,
P203 and P205, and the concrete slab foundation of P206 are
clustered beside Taxiway 6. They parallel the northwest-
southeast runway and are at the extreme scuth end of a row
of newer airport buildings (please refer to Map 1). It is
safe to assume that they were typical military construction
during their era. All were probably constructed with some
speed and with little concern for aesthetics or durability.
P203 and P205 are extremely functional in design and were
probably duplicates of buildings erected according to stan-
dard military plans for similar purposes in dozens of other
locations across the United States. Both P203 and P205 are
set on concrete slab foundations and have balloon frames.

P203 is single-story, wood-sided building covering 2930
square feet. It has a gabled roof covered in asphalt shin-
gles, gabled porches above entrances on the southeast end
and northeast side, and a gable-roofed extension on the
southwest side. At the northwest end is an overhead door.
Windows are double-overhung: public doors are double. All
doors and window frames are new metal replacements.

P205, its appearance suggesting its industrial/military
purpose, is a very tall bullding covering 36,572 square
feet. It consists of a central core approximately three
stories high, flanked on the southwest and northeast sides
by two-story extensions along the length of the building.
The roof of the core of the building is end~gabled with a
minimal slope. The roofs of the extensions are shed. Two
rows of grouped windows light the offices and shops located
in the extensions. The northwest and southeast ends of the
building provide access for aircraft and vehicles. The very
tall sliding wooden doors are original and are set into
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shallow, two-story, flat-topped portals. Each door contains
banks of clear glass panes, five rows of four, which supple-
ment artificial lighting in the huge interior of the build-~
ing with daylight. Originally wood-sided, the building had
been covered with asbestos at the time the OK ARNG assumed
control. It has since been sided with aluminum. Large
lettering and the yellow-on-red "Thunderbird™ insignia
proclaim the hangar’s current status as a facility of the ©K
ARNG.®

METHODOTLOGY

The surveyor prepared for a survey of Davis Field by
first acquiring as much information as possible about its
history. This included exploring the vertical files, manu-
script collections, and secondary sources at the Oklahoma
Historical Society and reading 1941-1942 Muskogee, Oklahoma
newspapers on microfilm. Unfortunately, additional research
in government documents at OKlahoma State University and the
Oklahoma Department of Libraries yielded little useful
information. More fruitful were visits with personnel from
the Oklahoma Military Department, who provided relevant
files, and a visit to the Muskogee Public Library. The
vertical file at the latter included feolders and some prima-
ry documents related to Davis Field as a municipal property.
The Map Room at Oklahoma State University also contained
Soil Conservation Service aerial views of Davis Field show-
ing it under construction in 1941 and equipped with C-119's
in 1964. The surveyor then visited the site, photographed
the two existing buildings and the foundations of the demol-
ished P206, and prepared National Register Inventory Forms
for P203 and P205 as requested.

FINDINGS

Of the four World War II-era Davis Field properties
from List 1, the FISP that the surveyors were asked to
study, only two exist. The first item, listed as acquired
in 1942, refers to the forty-four~acre plot currently occu-
pied and maintained by the OK ARNG. P206, the general
purpose aircraft shop, as described above, was demclished,
leaving only the concrete slab, now used for maintenance and
as a foundation supporting a communications tower. While
neither P203 nor P205 have been so altered as to be no
longer recognizable as World War II-era buildings, the
application of new materials used in renovation makes them
problematic for nomination to the National Register, but
they do warrant further study for inclusion in a historic
district.
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WHITAKER EDUCATION AND TRAINING CENTER, PRYCR, OKLAHOMA

Whitaker Education and Training Center (WETC) is oper-
ated by Camp Gruber Training Site as a training center for
several thousand officers and enlisted men and women each
year. It occupies 617 acres in Mayes County on the south
edge of Pryor, Oklahoma. The preperty was transferred to
the OK ARNG in 1984, but it was noted for honorable service
for many decades before this most recent acguisition.

HISTORIC CONTEXT

The Establishment and Purpose of Whitaker School

whitaker Education and Training Center is the modern
incarnation of a project begun in 1897 to benefit orphaned
white children in the Indian Territory. William T. Whitaker
(1854-1922), one-eighth Cherokee Indian, came to the vicini-
ty of Chouteau and Pryor, Cherokee Nation (in present-day
northeastern Qklahoma) in 1871 from his native North Caroli-
na. Whitaker, a merchant, and his wife reared eleven chil-
dren of their own but became widely known for their generos-
ity in sheltering corphans. Although the Cherokee Nation
maintained an orphanage for its own young citizens, no such
facility served white children. Whitaker filled this need
in 1897 by building a large three-story stone house to
accommodate twenty-one children on his forty-acre farm.
This building, later called ™0ld Main," is presently wWhita-
ker Hall (PR313) and the headguarters of WETC. Two frame
cottages, a hospital, a power plant, water works, a laundry,
and a dairy farm were added at the turn of the century.
When the Cherokee National Orphanage burned in 1905, its
residents were also transferred to Whitaker’s care. The
federal government appropriated $10,000 for the home in 1906
and 1907. By 1908 the number of children and the size of
the operation had outgrown Whitaker’s management abilities.
With the financial support of the townspeople of Pryor Creek
(Pryor), Oklahoma, he deeded the facility ta the state of
Oklahoma, which expanded the acreage and named it succes-
sively Whitaker Crphan Home (1%08), Oklahoma State Home
(1910), East Oklahoma Home for White Children (1919), and
Whitaker State Orphan Home (1923). The average number of
children, ranging upward in age from six to eighteen years,
was 245, almost equally divided between boys and girls.?

By 1921 many of the original buildings were in need of
repair or replacement, particularly the school rooms, laun-
dry, and frame cottages. New buildings constructed about
1921 were the school (Crowe Education Center, PRS00), Com-
missary (PR101), and Power House (PR700). 1In 1332 the first
of two new brick veneer cottages, Oak Cottage No. 2 {Sanford
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Hall, PR307), began the replacement of the old frame cottag-
es. Its twin (Burba Hall, PR309) was built in 1936. The
Whitaker institution generally operated on a cottage rather
than a dormitory plan with each unit, housing fifteen to
twenty children, having its own kitchen and dining room,
supplied by a central commissary. But in 1936 as an economy
measure the Works Progress Administration built a new dining
hall (Stafford Dining Facility, PR200) with three cold
storage units, an ice plant, and a bakery. The Whitaker
institution always strove for self-sufficiency and conse-
guently produced dairy products, vegetables, and small
grains on its 640 acres. Outlying buildings included a
state-of-the-art dairy built in 19233, a sale barn dating
from 1942, and a number of auxiliary buildings, as well as
employee residences. Buildings added to the plant in 1940
were the laundry (PR707) and vocational building (PR708),
which served as the carpentry and upholstery shop.?

In 1948 under the leadership of Superintendent Beale
McCarty, a new period of expansion and renovation began with
the support of the citizens of Pryor and a state bond issue
of $1.25 million. The result was fourteen new buildings and
a swimming pool. These additions in the early 1950s includ-
ed the administration building (now a National Guard Armory,
PR100) and the clinic (McClajn Clinic and Styron Hall,
PRS06), built in 1952. Several new cottages were added:
McCarty Hall (Brown Hall, PR300), Fern (Davis Hall, PR301),
Birch (Mcleod Hall, PR302), Pine (McGee Hall, PR303), Spruce
(Welch Hall, PR304)--all built in 1951:; Cedar (Key Hall,
PR306), Poplar {(Clark Hall, PR310), Walnut (Potts Hall,
PR311)--all built in 1952; and Comer (Weber Academy, PR312),
built in 1953. In 1960 a new gymnasium (Bynyard Gym, PR502)
replaced the cld facility. A major renovation in 1967 was
the expansion of whitaker Hall.?

By the 1960s the focus of the Whitaker institution had
shifted. Children sheltered at the school for the next two
decades were those with special social and psychological
needs. By the early 1980s a declining population at Whitak-
er, increasing costs, and the necessity for cutting state
expenses put Whitaker’s continued existence in jeopardy.

The Department of Human Services’s decision to close the
institution on July 13, 1983, fortuitously coincided with
the Oklahoma Military Department’s search for a site for its
proposed all-purpose training and educational center. ©On
December 5, 1984, Oklahoma’s Director of Public Affairs
tranferred the property and buildings to the Oklahoma Mili-~-
tary Department. It became Whitaker Education and Training
Center and an annex to the Camp Gruber Tralning Site near
Braggs, Oklahoma. Forty-five students comprising the first
class began Basic Non-Commissioned Officer Candidate School
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at Camp Gruber, transferred to WETC in November 1984, and
graduated in January 1985.*

The creation of the Whitaker Educational and Training
Center and its continuing operation by the OK ARNG generally
pleased the citizens of Pryor. The transition ameliorated
the loss te the community of a prized and time-honored
institution and presented it with a "“growth industry*
through renovation and construction expenditures, employee
salaries, and trade generated for local businesses by the
thousands cof students assigned periodically to the center.
Operations on the campus of branches of the Oklahoma Mili-
tary Academy and Rogers State College further consolidated
WETC as a factor contributing to the pride and economic life
of the community.®

ARCHITECTURAL CONTEXT

The buildings at Whitaker School (Whitaker Education
and Training Center), situated on a level, park-1like campus,
span several styles and decades (please refer to Map 2).
They are arranged in a large, generally semi-circular pat-
tern arching south from Park (Third) Street on the southeast
edge of Pryor, Oklahoma. Facing Park Street and set slight-
ly back from it is Whitaker Hall. On its west is the pres-
ent National Guard Armory (PR100, Whitaker School’s Adminis-
tration Building) and VIP Quarters {(PR400, Superintendent’s
House). To the east of Whitaker Hall is a complex of brick
maintenance and storage buildings. Extending southward from
Whitaker Hall and loosely spaced along either side of the
semi~circular drive are the various dormitories. Opposite
Whitaker Hall at the farthest point within the semi-circle
are the Stafford Dining Facility (PR200) and McClain Clinic
(PR506). Centrally placed within the semi-circle are the
Crowe EBEducation Center (PR500), the Hughes Education Annex
(PR501), and the Gymnasium (502). Just off the campus on
its southeast corner is the helicopter port, PR720. Various
farm buildings and structures, many dating from the 1930s
and 1940s, extend to the southeast. Most, as well as the
six hundred acres outside the immediate forty-acre campus,
are leased for agricultural purposes.

The oldest extant building, whitaker Hall ("0ld Main,"
PR313) was the original orphanage, constructed in 18%97. The
brilding was initially 60’ x 71’, three-storied, and built
of randomly-laid rubble native sandstone. 2 two-story
gallery extended across the north elevation; on the west and
south elevations were one-story galleries. Extending to the
east on the southeast corner was a one-story frame kitchen.
The building was more functional than stylish but demon-
strated the horizontal emphasis of the Prairie School com-
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bined with a suggestion of the Italian Renaissance in the
simple arches over the windows and double doors on the north
elevation. At some point before 1320, the third story was
removed. The new roof is hipped and has a small hipped
dormer on each elevation. 1In 1967 the building underwent
major renovations. The old galleries were removed, a new
concrete porch was built at ground level on the west, north,
and east elevations, and a flat metal awning with wrought
iron supports was installed the length of the porches. The
major alteration was a substantial two-story annex, which
prebably increased the size of the building by about 50
percent, on the south elevation. The annex, which lacks
porches, was built of randomly-laid, slightly darker rubble
sandstone retrieved from a demolished mill contemporary with
the original Whitaker Hall. In spite of evident attempts to
make the extensicn blend in with the original building, the
annex is readily apparent as a major mutation of the build-
ing.*

Just to the east of Whitaker Hall is a complex of brick
utility buildings. This includes adjoining buildings PR101,
PR700, and PR701. At the extreme north end of the complex
and at right angles to the others, is PR101, built in 1921
and distinguished by corbelled brickwork on the west eleva-
tion. At various times the Commissary and the Vocational
Training Building, it is now categorized as administrative.
Its row of seven north and two west windows probably once
provided natural light to the interior but have now been
reduced in size. Adjoining PR101 on the south is a much
older building, partially in ruins on the east elevation,
which was successively the Garage and the Mechanical Build-
ing. Its age is evidenced by segmental arches over the
remaining windows and west overhead door. Adjoining it on
the south is PR701, built in 1940, undistinguished except
for a single window and door. It was formerly the Carpenter
Shop. The southernmost building in this complex is PR700,
built in 1920, serving first as the Power House and present-
ly categorized as a maintenance or storage building. Unlike
the other buildings in the complex, which are flat-roofed,
PR700 is end gabled. Its metal hopper windows and overhead
door on the south elevation are typically industrial.’

The other buildings contemporary with PR101 and PR700
are devoted to education and classroom instruction. These
include the red brick Crowe Education Center (PR500), cen-
tered in the Whitaker campus, and the Hughes Education Annex
(PR501), immediately to its south. Most impressive is
PRS00, originally the School, at which Whitaker children
attended classes through tenth grade before transferring to
Pryor High School for their final two grades and graduation.
A two-story building, 867 x 120’, the school represented a
major up-grading of the facility in the round of construc-
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tion that began in 1920-19%21. The large brick building,
with its horizonal mass emphasized by its concrete belt-
courses, banks of windows, and entrances on each elevation,
is both the visual and physical focus of the campus. Its
Art Deco style is evident in the architect’s use of stepped
and pedimented parapets, pilasters which vertically break up
the horizontal mass of the building, and geometric decora-
tive elements. 1Inlaid cast concrete diamonds and rectan-
gles, guoins, and arched niches as well as beltcourses of
inlaid green and red tile distinguish the building. Immedi-
ately to the south of PR500 stands PR501, the brick Gymnasi-
um added in 1929 and currently used for classes as an annex
of PR500. PR501 echoes the style and general impression of
PR500 without being so large or impressive. While it also
lacks the parapets of PR500 and has fewer decorative ele-
ments, its concrete beltcourses and inlaid red and green
tile mark it as a contemporary and companion piece.® Un-
fortunately, windows in both PR500 and PR501 have been
filled in or reduced in size by as much as two-~thirds. &
door on the southwest corner of PR500 has also been blocked.

Although by the 1930s a number of the buildings at the
Whitaker institution had existed long enough to be dear to
the hearts of children sheltered there, several were seri-
ously in need of replacement. Among these were wood-frame
cottages housing small groups of children and functioning as
self-sufficient units. 1In 1932 QOak Cottage No. 2 (Sanford
Hall, PR307), a red brick-veneered two-story house, 537 x
87’, was added to the campus at the extreme south end of the
semi-circular drive. Generally symmetrical, in style it
owed something to the Prairie School as well as ta Colonial
Revival architecture. The hipped roof, gabled dormers,
second-floor sleeping porches on the east and west eleva-
tions, and porches wrapping around all except perhaps the
south elevation suggested a home rather than an institution-
al facility. Unfortunately, according to one assessment,
the construction was somewhat shoddy, with inferior materi-
als set on a poor foundation. Nevertheless, Oak Cottage was
duplicated by 1936 in Elm Cottage (Burba Hall, PR309). At
some point, several windows on the sleeping porches were
bricked and a door on the east porch of PR307 was blocked.
The roof described as Ytile" was covered with asphalt shin-
gles. Presently PR307 and PR309 serve as dormitories for
WETC students.®

Another major addition to the campus of Whitaker School
in the 1930s was the Dining Hall (Stafford Dining Facility,
PR200), a Works Progress Administration project completed at
a cost of $65,000. While the Dining Hall is similar to
contemporary 1930s buildings on the campus in its home-like
appearance and red-brick construction, its Tudor Rewvival
style sets it apart. Two-stories with a one story north
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elevation, the irregularly shaped building features front
and end-gabled cat-slide roofs, two broad exterior chimneys
of the north elevation, flat-roofed extensions on the east
and west elevations, and double entrances set beneath gabled
portals on the northwest and northeast corners. Decorative
features typical of the Tudor Revival style included on the
Pining Hall are large S-shaped braces on the chimneys,
multiple lights in tall, narrow windows, a small gable-
rocfed stoop on the south elevation, and cast concrete
guoins and scalloped moldings surrounding the primary en-
trances. In spite of its domestic appearance, the Dining
Hall was classified as a “"feeding plant"™ and marked a major
shift away from earlier methods of providing food tc Whita-
Xer children. The capacity of the 90’ x 130’ facility in
1937 was placed at four hundred. The inclusion of three
cold storage units, an ice-plant, and central kitchen and
food sterage areas in the flat-roofed extensions was viewed
as an economy measure. The centralization brought the
criticism that the it eroded the home-style environment
fostered in the cottage system and ended the hands-on expe-
rience children gained working in their own Kitchens.
Nevertheless, the construction of the Dining Hall as a WPA
project, in spite of some complaints about shoddy construc~
tieon, was generally viewed as progressive. Currently, as
Stafford Dining Facility (PR200), the building provides food
services to WETC students. Most of the windows have been
reduced in size by about one-third, and new metal and glass
doors have been installed in the primary entrances.'

The two cottages, the dining facility, and a number of
agricultural buildings, including a state-of-the~art dairy,
accounted for most of the 1930s construction at Whitaker
School. During the early 1940s several utility buildings
were erected: PR707 completed the gquadrangle just east of
Whitaker Hall. Adjacent to it on the east was PR708, the
Upholstery and Carpet shops. Across fromn the present heli-
copter port stand other 1940s maintenance buildings. Not
until the advent of Superintendent Beal McCarty was there
another major round of dormitory construction. McCarty Hall
(PR300) and Fern (PR301), Birch (PR302), Pine (PR303), and
Spruce (PR304) cottages were built in 1951i. In 1952 Cedar
(PR306), Maple (PR308), Poplar (PR310) and Walnut (PR311)
cottages were added. A late addition in 1953 was Comer
Cottage {PR312). While some of these buildings are red
brick, maintaining the visual impression of the campus,
McCarty, Fern, Cedar, Maple, Poplar, and Walnut are of buff
brick with brown inserts creating a diamond pattern. All
the newer cottages are single-story Ranch Style buildings
typical of 1950s domestic architecture. Currently they
serve as dormitories for WETC students. Most appear unal-
tered. Additions to the campus center in the 1960s included
the red brick Binyard Gymnasium (PR502), tennis courts
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(PR505 and 504), and a swimming pool (PR503). The small

concrete helipad, PR720, southeast of the main campus is a
recent addition to the WETC facility.

METHGDOLOGY

In preparation for the survey of Whitaker Educa-
tion and Training Center, the researcher first accumulated
information concerning Whitaker School. Visits to the
Oklahoma Historical Society yielded a very early fire insur-
ance map, articles from state newspapers, and, most helpful,
the 1937 State Planning Board Survey of state-maintained
orphan homes. The Oklahoma Military Department provided
their file on the transfer of the Whitaker institution from
the State Department of Human Services. Particularly useful
were materials, interviews, and guided tours provided by
personnel at WETC during the surveyor’s visit to the site.

A Whitaker scrapbook kept in Whitaker Hall includes docu-
ments and newspaper clippings dating from the late 1800s to
the 1980s. Several boxes, folders, and scrapbooks of mate-
rials on the orphanage were located at the Pryor Public
Library. Unfortunately missing are blueprints and other
construction materials which were not available at either
the Oklahoma Military Department or the Department of Human
Services.

FINDINGS

Among the buildings the surveyors were asked to docu-
ment in the OK/SHPO/OK ARNG contract were "the three 1921
buildings at Pryor." These, according to the FISP list
supplied the surveyors and OK/SHPO~-List 1--were PRS502,
PR700, and PR720. Examination of List 1 by a representative
of the Oklahoma Military Department revealed that it was
inaccurate and out-of-date. Nor were buildings included
that were not partially maintained with federal funds. A
newer FISP list and a Building Survey Form provided the
surveyor demonstrated that of fifty-six buildings invento-
ried, nineteen were built more than fifty years ago, and
most predated 1960. While PR700 is indeed a 1920-1921
building, PR 502 is the Binyard Gymnasium, built in 1960.
PR720 is simply a helipad of very recent vintage. Having
come to the conclusion that only PR700 of "the three 1921
buildings" was eligible for consideration for historic
preservation purposes, the surveyor completed a National
Register Inventery Form for it and for four more of the most
notable WETC buildings.

WETC includes a number of buildings that represent well
the many decades of service the institution provided Oklaho-
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ma’s orphaned and troubled children. Whitaker Hall is only
the most prominent; PRS00, PR200, and PR307 are also partic-
ularly noteworthy. It is unfortunate that while these
buildings have retained much of their historical integrity,
their architectural integrity has been eroded through recent
alterations, particularly the reduction in window size on
most buildings. Whitaker Hall, a very historic building,
has undergone several alterations, some of which were done
so long ago as to be unexceptionable. But the construction
of a substantial annex in 1967, very recent in historic
preservation terms, precludes its being individually Nation-
al Register-worthy. In the same way, the enclosure of
several sleeping porch windows and a door on PR307, which
cannot be adeguately dated, may eliminate this building from
further individual consideration. However, these buildings
as well as cothers noted above and some not inventoried in
this survey warrant further study for inclusion in a possi-
ble historic district.

So, too, do remaining World War II-era buildings at the
Oklahoma Ordnance Works {currently Mid-America Industrial
Park approximately three miles to the south). The remaining
power plant, waterworks, infirmary, administration building,
communiications building, guard towers, and assorted compo-
nents of that huge munitions plant and prisoner-of-war camp
were the first component of the National Defense area that
eventually included Camp Gruber and Davis Field.

RESOURCES THAT WARRANT FURTHER RESEARCH
The following resources were deemed to warrant further
study, pursuant to possible inclusion in an historic dis-
trict:

PR313 Whitaker Hall, "0ld Main," 1897

PR500 Whitaker School/Crowe Education Center, 1920-
1921

PR700 Power House/Utility Building, 1920
PR200 Dining Hall/Stafford Dining Facility, 1936

PR307 Oak Cottage/Sanford Hall, 1932



RESOURCES NOT WARRANTING FURTHER RESEARCH

Because of condition or degree of alteration, these
resources over fifty years old were deemed not te warrant
further investigation:

PR10C1

PRS501

PR309,
PR701,
PR707,
PR708,
Dairy,

Commissary, c.1920
Gymnasium, 1929

Elm Cottage/Burba Hall, 1936
Utility building, 1940
Laundry, 1940

Vocational Building, 1240
1933

Sale Barn, 1942

Maintenance buildings, 1940s
Garage/Mechanical Building, c. 19Q07 ruins
Agricultural outbuildings, 1930s
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CAMP GRUBER, OKLAHOMA

HISTORIC CONTEXT
World war II Mobilization and Camp Construction

When Germany invaded Poland on September 1, 1932, the
United States was already involved in a major defense pro-
gram designed to increase the size and efficiency of its
armed forces. The outbreak of war in Europe prompted Presi-
dent Roosevelt to declare a limited national emergency on
September 8, and the American government stepped up its
emergency preparedness effeorts. By June 1940 Congressional
rneasures had augmented the federal budget for construction
of arms and munitions plants, coastal defenses, expansion of
existing military facilities, and new military training camp
construction. A larger, more effective armed force was
envisioned; in 1939 the United States armed forces numbered
a scant 200,000. Plans for a new army of six million had
been set, and by November of 1944 housing existed for that
number of troops.?t

The War Department had carefully developed mobilization
plans in 1938 and 1939. Implemented in 1941-42, these
resulted in the construction of more than 30,000 buildings
in existing military bases and in new cantonments across the
nation.? By December 1941, before the Japanese attack on
Pearl Harbor, sixty-one new cantonments had been complet-
ed.”> In May 1941 plans for twenty-three additional canton-
ments had been approved, one of which was for a training
camp to be built near Braggs, in the Cookson Hills of Qkla-
homa.* The Cookson Hills project would eventually occupy
more than 65,000 acres (109 sguare miles) of eastern Oklaho-
ma.

Because the War Department regarded the state’s loca-
tion, climate, natural resources, and large available work
force as optimum, Oklahoma was considered to be a geod site
for air fields and pilot training fields.® Oklahoma became
the site for a variety of defense facilities in the first
year of the war: Munitions plants were constructed at Pryor
and McAlester; airplane plants were placed at Tulsa and
Oklahoma City. Twenty-eight army camps and thirteen naval
air stations were built immediately prior to or during the
war. These included army air fields at Enid, Muskogee,
Frederick, Altus, Midwest City\Oklahoma City, Tulsa, Perry,
Woodward, Ponca City, Gage, Ardmore, Chickasha, Mustang, and
Miami, and naval stations at Clinton, Norman, Purcell,
Shawnee, McAlester, Durant, and Stillwater. During the
course of the war the War Department also placed prisoner of
war camps and branch camps at Ft. Sill, Camp Gruber, Camp
Tonkawa, El Reno, McAlester, Alva, and elsewhere.®
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Federal Acguisition of the Reservation Area

Federal acquisition of the large portion of Muskogee
and Cherokee counties that became the Camp Gruber military
reservation actually pre-dates World War II. This region,
known generally as the Cookson Hills, was the target of a
New Deal economic relief effort as early as 1935-36. The
Cookson Hills area was poor farm land inhabited by impover-
ished farm families who suffered greatly in the agricultural
depression of the 1920s and in the general economic depres-
sion of the early 1930s. In 1935 President Roosevelt, by
executive order, established the Resettlement Administration
as a new division within the U.S. Department of Agriculture.
The RA’s prime directive was "the retirement of exhausted
land and resettlement and retraining of exhausted farm-
ers."’ Generally, the RA existed to assist farm families
who were not being helped by a prior legislative program,
the Agricultural Adjustment Act (AaA). Part of the RA’s
mission was to identify impoverished rural areas and to
resettle families on good land elsewhere. These activities
were conducted by the Rural Resettlement Division. A second
directive was to preserve land and forests; this activity
was handled by the Land Utilization Division. In concert,
the two divisions identified and purchased millions of acres
of "submarginal™ farm land and transferred the land to state
control or placed it under the direction of the National
Park Service or the U.S. Forest Service.® One of the tar-
get areas was the Cookson Hills.

In 1935 and 1936 the U.S. Department of Agriculture
acquired nearly 30,000 acres of "submarginal" farm land in
this area of eastern Oklahoma (of this number, 27,322.23
acres were transferred to War Department control in 1942).°
In the intervening years, however, the Agriculture Depart-
ment planned and carried out the "Eastern Oklahoma Cookson
Hills Forestry, Fish, and Game Project," which turned the
region into a wildlife management and recreation area.
Activities were carried out by the Corps of Engineers, which
built a dam on Little Greenleaf Creek to create Greenleaf
Lake, and by the World Progress Administration, which accom-
plished reforestation, planting and sodding, road construc-
tion, and facility construction.' Greenleaf Recreation
Area opened to the public in 1938 and was used for its
original purposes until the United States entered the war.
among the park facilities were Greenleaf Lodge, an elabo-
rate, 6,300-square-foot native stone building, a stone
bathhouse, and numerous wood-frame and stone cabins.™ All
of substantial construction, these proved useful for inclu-
sion in the Camp Gruber military facility after 1942.
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The Cookson Hills Project

The Cockson Hills Project was officially established on
December 15, 1942, by Executive Order 9282 issued by Presi-
dent Roosevelt.'? Later renamed "Camp Gruber," the project
was intended to provide an infantry training center for the
U.S. Army’s 8th Service Command. Camp Gruber ultimately
encompassed between 60,000 and 70,000 acres of eastern
Oklahoma, or approximately 109 sqguare miles of land lying
east of the Arkansas River and State Highway 10 in Muskogee
and Cherokee counties. The closes community was Braggs, in
Muskogee County: the nearest small metropolitan area was
Muskogee, site of several other defense facilities. Some of
the land, 37,516.40 acres (private farm/ranch land belonging
to the Pray family and others) was acguired through condem-
nation, and a major portiocn, 27,322.23 acres, was already
under the stewardship of the federal government as part of
the Cookson Hills recreation project.™

The official orders to begin construction on the Cook-~
son hills facility came through in early January, 1942.
Surveying was completed early in the month; a contingent of
men of the Southwestern Division of the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers was transferred from Enid Air Field to Muskogee in
the second week of January; they quickly established a field
headguarters in Braggs and a general headgquarters in Musko-
gee. On January 12, twenty-five engineers and five truck-
loads of equipment arrived, and the personnel set about the
daunting task of building a 35,000-troop facility in 109
sguare miles of territory. The site was cleared and con-
struction was begun on the administraticen building during
the first week of February. Mater that month the camp was
named "“Gruber," after Brig. Gen. Edmund L. Gruber, long-time
artillery officer at Fort Sill, oOklahoma.**

The contractor presenting the winning bid was Muskogee-
and Kansas City-based Manhatttan-Long Construction Company,
an organization that had built other camps in the region.
The original contract called for the construction of 1,731
frame buildings, including 479 barracks, 100 hospital build-
ings, 55 administration buildings, a bakery, 12 chapels, a
iaundry, 210 mess halls, 221 recreation buildings, 258
storage warehouses; 5 theatres, 19 guard houses, 59 motor
repair shops, 50 officers’ quarters, and 261 miscellaneous
buildings (the criginal contract excluded the POW camp, as a
war Department policy for these facilities had not yet been
developed). The contract also reguired construction of a
water supply system to bring water from Greenleaf Lake to a
"three-million-gallon concrete water storage reservoir
adjacent to the cantonment'; sewer, gas, and electrical
systems; and roads, grading, and drainage. The contractor
also had to relocate Highway 10 around the base.® Manhat-
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tan-Long estimated that it needed to construct one new
building every hour, in order to meet the completion dead-
line--no real feat for the company, for on the Fort Riley
job it had built one every 38 minutes.

True tco form, construction proceeded at breakneck speed
through May of 1942, and the first general order was issued
on May 21, although civilian workers were still on the job
until early June. ©On June 2, Maj. Gen. J. E. Sloan and
thirty-three officers of the command structure of the 88th
Infantry Division arrived to inspect the faclity. Sloan
noted that "the designs of the buildings are a great im-
provement over those previously built for the army, and the
layout and arrangement of the area shows great thought on
the part of the designing officers and contractors."'® He
also mentioned that completion was expected by July.

Soon afterward, the 88th Infantry Division ("Blue Devil
Division®) was activated at Camp Gruber, and by July the
division was up to full strength. The following year, 1943,
the 42nd Infantry Division ("Rainbow Division"™) was reacti-
vated at Gruber. 1In 1945 the 86th Infantry Division
("Blackhawk Division%") was staticned there pending deactiva-~
tion at the end cf the war. Ultimately, more than 2,250
huildings at Camp Gruber billetted 44,868 troops, employed
4,000 civilian workers, and contained 3,000 German prisoners
of war (in a facility west of Highway 10, separate from the
base).?” Camp Gruber served as infantry and support group
training base for the U.S. Army until after the end of World
War II.

Post-World War II Acquisition by Oklahoma National Guard

On June 3, 1%47, Camp Gruber was deactivated. In that
year it became surplus property, and 63,920 acres were
placed under the autherity of the War Assets Administration.
However, rather than selling the land, the federal govern-
ment retained control. In 1952 the General SErvices Admin~
istration assumed authority over 31,294.62 acres from the
WAA, and between 1948 and 1952 the U.S. Army reassumed
control of 32,626 acres. By 1953, then, virtually the
entire 1942 reservation was still in federal hands (the
esception being a 900-acre area that became part of Green-
leaf Lake State Park, under authority ¢f the State of Okla-
homa). During the 1850s and 1960s most Camp Gruber’s can-
tonment buildings and facilities were removed or des-
troyed.**

In 1967 the Oklahoma Military Department, Oklahoma Army
National Guard, acquired 23,515 acres to established Camp
Gruber as a state-operated training area under a twenty-five
year federal license from the Tulsa District of the U.S.
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Corps of Engineers. 1In 1973 and 1982 the license was amend-
ed, adding 2,560 acres and 6,952 acres, respectively, making
a total of 33,027 acres. The present camp covers 87 square
miles. The cantonment area covers 620 acres, and ranges
occupy 460 acres. Today the Oklahoma National Guard uses
Camp Gruber as a permanent training base. Its functions
include primary use as a location for summer field exercises
and for weekend training. There are new administrative
buildings, temporary and permanent housing, vehicle storage
buildings, and training-aids areas such as small-arms and
artillery target ranges and air assault courses, The Green-
leaf Lodge area, now called "Group Camp,"™ i1s under National
Guard ownership; it is not part of Greenleaf Lake State
Park, although it is accessible via a park road.®

ARCHITECTURAL CONTEXT:
Camp Layout, 1942-1946

Camp Gruber spread over 65,000 acres in portions of two
counties. The main facility, or cantonment, was located in
Muskogee County, east of State Highway 10 and contigquous
with and immediately northeast of the small town of Braggs
(please refer to Map 3). The cantonment lay in T14N R20QE,
primarily in Sections E 1/2 20, 21, 22, and W 1/2 23. The
cantonment consisted of north-south and east-west streets in
a U.S. Army modified triangular division layout. The can-
tonment served as an area for billetting, for general admin-
istration, for engineer, ordnance, maintenance, and chemical
warfare operations, and for medical and hospital services.

North of the cantonment were the training-aids areas,
including combat infantry ranges, field artillery ranges,
and armor and tank destroyer ranges. Imnedjately north of
the northernmost street were grenade courts, baycnet courts,
and obstacle courses. Immediately north of these were three
small-arms firing ranges. The huge area lying north and
east of cantonment and training fields (in both Muskogee and
Cherokee counties) were armor and tank destroyer driving
ranges and field, anti-aircraft, and coastal artillery
firing ranges (with a very large, centrally placed "impact’
area that lay in Cherokee County).*®

Southeast of the cantonment, on the western shore of
Greenleaf Lake, lay a third use area. Here were placed
various training and recreation facilities. Greenleaf Lodge
(a 1937 WPA building) became one of the cantonment’s two
Officers’ Clubs.®
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World War II-era Buildings

According to World War II and the U.S. Army Mobiliza-
tion Program: A History of 700 and B00 Series Cantonment
Construction (U.5. Depts. of Defense and Interior/National
Park SErvice, 1921), there were two basic "series™ of build-
ing types (and adaptations into two sub-series} used in the
prewar-planned camps: "700 Series," which were more careful-
ly constructed and were being used in the pre-1942-planned
camps; and "BOO Series,” which developed out of 700 Series
plans at the time the war was erupting. Plans for Camp
Gruber and the other twenty-twec camps build immediately
after Pearl Harber, the authors assert, were drawn in the
summer and fall of 1941 and used the 800 Series buildings.
They also assert that 800 Series camps would also have had a
few 700 Series buildings, because not all building types
were changed between series (these include motor repair
shops, guest houses, and recreation buildings).??

In devising its building plans the Army developed
several major determining criteria: speed of construction,
simplicity, economy of materials, flexibility, and safety.
an unspoken factor was impermanence: By War Department
fiat, structures were to be built of the cheapest materials
available, as the buildings were projected to last only from
five to twenty years (yet, of the 30,000 buildings con-
structed before and during the war, in 1985, 24,000 remained
in 159 installations in 39 states. 1In that year the Senate
instructed the Army to¢ begin replacing all WWII-era struc-
tures with pre-fab steel buildings, a task that is presently
ongoing).? Standard plans were drawn for administra- '
tion/recreation/storage buildings, mess halls, barracks,
motor repair shops, guardhouses, theatres, churches, GI
clubs, officers’ barracks and houses, and sc forth (for many
of these, the plans, elevations, and photographs are repro-
duced in the aforementioned HABS document). Foundations
were to be concrete slab and\or concrete stem wall/pier.
There were nho plans for buildings having load-bearing mason-
ry walls or stone/brick veneer, as these were costly and
time-consuming to construct.®

Therefore, virtually all buildings constructed at Canmp
Gruber in 1942 or afterward would have had these character-
istics (with some variation): wood frame construction;
exterior wall sheathing of wood, paper, and drop siding, or
later, when wood became more scarce, of felt and gypsum
sheathing and cement-asbestos shingle siding; roll roofing:
external (700 Series) or internal (800 Series) brick chin-
neys; masonry, concrete block, or poured concrete founda-
tions (in order of time progression); divided light, 8-over-
8 window glazing with 10x12 inch or 9x12 inch panes; unfin-
ished interior (framing members and trusses visible):; and
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double wood fleoring (plywood, felt, and flooring).?® As
construction of new cantonments proceeded into the summer of
1942, materials shortages resulted, and the War Department
ordered the purchase of even less expensive materials. Camp
Gruber, however, was completed before these orders were
released, and "standard” guality materials--from the origi-
nal specifications were presumably used. For instance, both
terra cotta (clay tile) and concrete foundations still exist
at Gruber.

Preexisting buildings within the reservation boundary
were also utilized by the army. A ranch house complex
(lecated at the intersection of present 42nd Division Street
[01ld 24th Street] and Central Europe Road [gld F Street])
served as the post commander’s billet. This consisted of a
residential unit, garage, and other outbuildings. The ranch
house had been built in 1936 by the Pray family. The home
and outbuildings still stand and are in use by the Guard.?®

One of Gruber’s two Officers’ Clubs was located at
Greenleaf Lake, three miles south of the main cantonment.
The club consisted of a large native stone building con-
structed in 1937 by the WPA, part of the U.S. Department of
Agriculture’s recreation project before being attached to
Gruber.

METHODOILOQGY

The area of Camp Gruber surveyed for this proiject
consisted of approximately 5.5 sqguare miles lying in T14N
R20E and .25 square mile lying in T13N R2QE.

The surveyors prepared by conmpiling background informa-
tion on the historic context of World War II mobilization
and on the architectural context of World War II cantonment
buildings. This included state and local histories, histo-
ries of WWII-era defense facilities in Oklahoma, and HABS
reports on Fort McCoy and Camp Edwards, which were contempo-
raneous with Gruber. Archival research also helped specify
the historical and architectural contexts. Sources included
Tulsa, Muskogee, and Oklhaoma City newspapers and vertical
files at the Oklahoma Historical Society; WPA records repos-
ited in the Archives Division, Oklahoma Department of Li-
braries; 1942-1946 and 1953 maps and building plans held by
the Oklahoma Military Department and by the Camp Gruber
Facilities Engineering Office. Combined with the HABS
reports, these enabled the preparation of lists of resource
types that might exist at Camp Gruber. Interviews with OK
ARNG personnel also proved useful. The surveyors then
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visited the site, photographed remaining buildings and
structures, and prepared National Register Inventory Forms
as requested.

Based on this research, surveyors expected to find
wood-frame 700 Series and 800 Series buildings, WPA-built
recreation buildings, prewar residential or domestic build-
ings, and a large underground reservoir.

FINDINGS

A number of resources were identified during research
and reconnaissance. These included resocurces listed in the
OK ARNG Facilities Inventory and Stationing Plan (FISP) and
other resources discovered in the field but not listed in
the FISP (apparently because there are no current OK ARNG
maintenance contracts for them).

Three districts were identified as potentially eligible
for nomination to the National Register of Historic Places.
These included the original ranch headquarters complex (6
buildings-~-residence, garage, ¥chicken house,"™ stone barn,
tile barn, tile shed); three of these buildings were listed
in the FISP, and three were not listed. Greenleaf Lake
training area (6 buildings-~lodge and two wood-frame build-
ings), listed in FISP, ‘was documented. A 1942 obstacle
course (3 structures--stone wall, S-trench, bridge) not
listed in FISP was identified in the field and documented.

Individual resources were also documented and judged
potentially eligible. One National Register-worthy build-~
ing, the 0ld Stone House, an abandoned residence, was iden-
tified in NW 1/4 Sec 26, T14N, R20E. This is located in the
southeast corner of the cantonment and is not listed in the
FISP. In addition, one potentially National Register-eligi-
ble structure was identified north of the cantonment. This
is a 3 million gallon water reservoir built in 1942. It was
listed in the FISP. Three target ranges structures
(berm/bunkers remaining from 1942 small arms, machine gun,
and rifle ranges) listed in the FISP were documented. These
lay north of the cantonment and are all that remains of the
1942 firing emplacement-target bunker areas.

Four buildings listed on FISP were investigated and
judged not to warrant further research: buildings GR5031,
GR5025, and GRS5033 were documented but are so heavily al-
tered as to be ineligible for the National Register. Build-
ing GR155 is a 1960s concrete-block building and was mis-
identified as two 1942 buildings on the FISP. A fifth
building {(a small brick pesticide storehouse), not on the
FI1SP, also does not warrant further research; its original
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function cannot be documented, as it was part of a much
larger building that is gone.

Five other structures not on the FISP were recorded
photographically and judged not to warrant documentation or
further research. These included sections of stone-lined
drainage ditches; 2 exterior chimneys of demolished motor
repair shops; 1 small incinerator of a demolished motor
repair shop:; and tank-repair ramps near demolished motor
repalr shops.
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INDIVIDUAL RESQURCES AND DISTRICTS THAT WARRANT
FURTHER RESEARCH

These rescurces documented during the survey are determined
to have potential significance based on criteria &, B, C, or
D from the Secretary of the Interior’s Guidelines:

Individual Resources {refer to Map 3)

1-

Stone residence (not on FISP)
NW 1/4 Sec. 26, T14N R20E
.15 mile south of section line road between 26 and 23

This one-story native stone building was constructed
sometime between 1900 and 1930 by a Mr. James. It is a
good local example of a type of vernacular Craftsman
residence of the turn of the century. It has a full-
width porch and two separate front entries. A shed-
roofed screen porch has been added to the southwest
side. All facades have double-hung windows with no
lights or muntins present. Present roofing material is
roll roofing. Documentation is an interview with Lee
Pray, April 26, 1993,

Underground concrete reservoir (GR1409)
SW 1/4, NW 1/4 Sec. 10, T14N R20E

This structure is a three-million-gallon concrete reser-
voir (now abandoned) that was built in 1942 to hold the
cantonment’s water supply. It is in a restricted area
and is only accessible on foot. Atop the concrete cap
(now exposed but originally earth-covered) is a concrete
block with a brass knob containing the inscription

"3rd Observation Batallion, Reservoir No. 769." Docu-
mentation sources include newspaper reports of the camp
construction contract and a 1946 map of the reservation.

Three target storage structures, at firing ranges.
On target range road, .5 miles north of Sicily Road
N 1/2 Sec. 16 and NW 1/4 Sec. 15, T14N R 20E

Facilities numbers are in the series GR1100, GR1200,
GR1300, and GR1400. They were constructed in 1942 as
target storage bunkers and are still in use. No. 1 is
.4 mile in length, running northeast-southwest across
the machine gun range. No. 2 nmeasures .3 mile in
length, running east-west across the pistol range. No.
3 measures .2 mile in length, running west-northwest/
east-southeast across the M-16 rifle range.

Each of these facilities consists of a very long con-
crete wall that buttresses an earth berm. At various
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points 780-sgquare-foot concrete bunkers are accessed
through doors in the wall. Targets are stored in the
bunkers. The wall also sheltered personnel whose
duty it was to raise the targets and score the firing.
Documentation includes 1943 cantonment layout map and
1946 map of reservation boundary.

These resources are documented on a 1943 cantonment
layout map and on a 1946 map of the reservation.

Districts

l.

Pray Ranch headguarters complex {(refer to Map 4)

Intersection 42nd Division Road and Central Europe Road,
Camp Gruber cantonment area

SE 1/4, SE 1/4 Sec. 22, T14N R20E and SW 1/4, SW 1/4
Sec. 23, Tl1l4aN R2Z0E

Buildings GR900, GR901, GR902, GR%03, GR904, GR905

There are six buildings in this district, all construc-
ted by Bert Pray in 1936.

a. A 1936 one-story brick vernacular Craftsman style
residence {GRS00). This was the ranch house of Bert
Pray and family. The cross-gabled one-story house
exhibits an east (front) entry porch, with arched
door surround, recessed between two projecting
cross—gable endwalls. Over the east (front) porch
is a gable dormer with three windows. There is also
a two-window gable dormer in the west. Craftsman
details include a wide roof overhand and exposed
rafter tails. A large internal chimney projects
upward in the center of the roof. The single-hung
windows occur in Craftsman-style sets of three on
ground floor and in the gable ends. The windows
have multi-lights over single lower panes. On the
north side is a square bay window. The roofing
material is asphalt shingles.

b. A 1936 two-bay brick garage of vernacular Craftsman
style and decoration (GR901, not on FISP). ©On the
east side are two vehicle doors and one pedestrian
door. On the north and south are single windows
of the same style as found on the house. The roof
is asphalt shingles.

¢. A large stone garage of similar construction and
decoration (GR902). This building exhibits metal-
frame awning windows with multiple divided lights on
north, west, and east. Vehicle entries are
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on east (blocked) and west (overhead door), and one
pedestrian door is on the south,

d. A small 1936 terra cotta tile "chicken house"
(GR903). This building is plastered, concealing
the tile blocks of which it is made. It has a
curved rocf (gable ends curved, not peaked). There
are metal-frame awning windows on south and east
sides.,.

e. A large 1936 terra cotta tile barn (GR904, not on
FISP). This barn, made of tile blocks, is two-
story, having a loft in the north end. The end-
gabled roof has doors up under the gables, north
and south. The north (front) has an opening for a
double-door, and there is a pedestrian door on the
east side. West and east sides have metal-frame
awning windows and the south side has metal double-
hung windows.

f. A small 1936 terra cotta tile storage building
(GR905, not on FISP). This building, made of tile
blocks, resembles the barn in construction. It has
pedestrian doors on south and east, a small north
window, and blocked-up windows on the south side.

According to the official Property Acguisition Map
(1942, 1953), these buildings stood on land owned by the
Pray family in the early decades of the century. The
property was condemned in 1942 under Executive Order
9282. Buildings were dated to 1936 by interview with
Lee Pray (son of builder Bert Pray, April 26, 1993).

Obstacle Course No. 2 (refer to Map %)

North of Sicily Road between 11th Street and 18th
Street, Camp Gruber cantonment area

5 1/2 Sec. 15, T14N RZ20E

The district consists of three resources that formed
Obstacle Course No. 2 used during the 1942-1946 period.

The area is not presemtly used by OK ARNG for obstacle
course training.

a. Stone wall, lying in east~west direction across
eastern half of obstacle course. It is approximately
.1 mile in length, 4 feet high and 24 inches
thick.

b. S-trench, lying in east-west direction across
eastern half of obstacle course, 100 feet north of
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stone wall, approximately .1 mile in length, 10
feet wide, and 7 feet deep.

c. Bridge with low stone walls and concrete abutments
and deck, lying across & creek or drainage ditch
that runs east-west .2 mile southwest of the stone
wall. It is approximately 7 feet wide and 10 feet
long; the walls are approximately 18 inches high.

These resources are documented on a 1946 map of the
reservation and on a 1943 cantonment layout map.
Although 7 or 8 other obstacle and training courses
still remain as faint indentations in the terrain, this
is the only such course having definition and structures
above the plane of the surface.

Greenleaf Lake Training Area (refer to Map 6)

Group Camp Road, accessed via main entrance Greenleaf
Lake State Park

NE 1/4 SE 1/4 Sec. 3, T13N R20E

This district consists of one 1937 WPA building and
two 19242 wood-frame Series 700 Mobilization buildings,
all three deemed potentially eligible for listing on
the National Register.

a. GR5010. Greenleaf Lodge. Constructed in 1937 by
WPA workers, the lodge is a one-story, 6,365-square-
foot native stone building. 1Its style is reminis-
cent of Craftsman, with cross—gables, wide roof
overhang, and exposed rafter tails. The corners of
the building are buttressed with short, stout wing
walls, and there is a massive stone external chimney
in the south end. Windows are regqularly placed in
east and west walls. They are shuttered and the
glazing is not visible. There are walled stone
patios on three sides of the building. The lodge
functioned as a recreation center until its acquisi
tion by the army in 1942. It is still used as a
recreation building by OK ARNG., It is pristine on
the exterior.

b. GR5024. Its 25' 4" width identifies it as a Series
700 one-story wood-frame building. By its length,
587 4", it would appear to have been a storage
building. It retains all of the exterior features
originally seen in these buildings: drop siding, 8-
over-8 light windows with wooden shutters, and con-
crete pier foundation.

c. GR5032. A Series 700 one story wood-~frame build-
ing, it also retains the features exemplary of its
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series. By its relatively long length, 98/, it
would appear to have been an administration/recrea-
tion type building. Its width is the standard 25’
4" of a Series 700 building.

Documentation sources include 1942 inventory list for
Camp Gruber, pursuant to Executive Order 9282; WPA
project cards; and newspaper reports on Greenleaf Lake.

Within the district are two heavily altered Series 700
buildings that would not be eligible, and are counted as
noncontributing resources:

a.

GR5025. Greenleaf Lake area. Although
constructed as a 700 Series in 1942, this building
has been renovated on the exterior. Few original
elements are present.

GR5033. Greenleaf Lake area. Although
constructed as a 700 Series in 1942, exterior
renovation has removed most original elements.

The district also includes four buildings of very recent
construction (public restrooms and dormitories), which are
counted as noncontributing. They do not disturb the visual
impact of the historic district and are clustered in the
center of the loop made by Group Camp Road.
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In addition to GR5025 and GR5033, these resources,
either because of condition or availability of documentation
sources, were also judged not to warrant further research:

a. GR5020. Greenleaf Lake Road. Caretaker’s
cottage. Although constructed as a 700 Series
building in 1942, it has been rencovated on the
exterior. Few original elements are present.
There is no indication that this is the original
site of this structure.

b. GR5031. 42nd Division and Central Europe Road.
Moved from the Greenleaf area to the cantonment
area at an unknown date and remodeled
on the exterior, this 700 Series building
retains few original elements.

c. Brick storage room. On Central Europe Reoad at
10th. A small room, this was attached to a large
motor repair building. Currently used for chemical

. storage.

Other resources Jjudged not to warrant further research
include partial structures remaining from the 1942-1947
occupation:

a. Chimneys. Two free-standing brick chimneys were
observed and photographed in the motor repair area
on Central Europe Road. Judging from the juxta-
position of chimney and concrete slab, these were
exterior chimneys of the type used for Series 700
buildings.

b. Incinerator room. One concrete "box" type incin-
erator was found on E Place, in the motor repair
area. Not currently in use.

: c. Tank/track vehicle repair ramps. Several tank
ramps were observed on Central Europe Road and
on Sicily Road. None are in use.

d. Stone-lined drainage ditches. Along Central Europe
Road are found drainage ditches lined with stone.
Interview sources say that the work may have been
” done by German POWs housed in the camp west of the
main cantonment. No substantiating evidence ex-
: ists.
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RESQURCES NOT FOUND

Of resources listed on the FISP, two could not be found
or identified through all research methods.

a.

GR155, Administration/Armory, two buildings.

Sited on 4th Street in headguarters plaza.
Erroneously dated 1942 on FISP, this is a relative
ly new concrete-block building. On 1942-43 maps
this site was occupied by a concrete pad, with
division insignia, and flagpocle. It was a ceremo
nial plaza situated due east of the division head
quarters building. A 1964 Soil Conservation Ser
vice aerial photeograph shows a building on the
site. Interview sources indicate that construction
dates from the 1960s or 1970s.
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Summary

Under contract with the Oklahoma Military Depart-
ment /OKARNG, the Oklahoma Historical Society-State Historic
Preservation Office conducted a statewide project to identi-
fy and document specifically designated OKARNG-owned Nation-
al Guard Armories and World-War II era buildings at Davis
Field, whitaker Education and Training Center, and Camp
Gruber. The survey period extended from October 1, 1992,
through September 30, 1993,

Intensive archival and library research was undertaken
to establish the historic context(s) for these rescurces.
Full National Register nominations were completed for twenty
National Guard Armories. On-site field surveys at Davis
Field, whitaker Education and Training Center, and Camp
Gruber resulted in the description, recordation, and mapping
of numerous historic resources in each installation. For
each resource, an Historic Preservation Resource Identi-
fication Form was completed, and photographic documentation
was accomplished.

Several resources were deemed to warrant further inves-
tigation for possible listing in the National Register of
Historic Places. Future study is recommended for potential-
ly National-Register-eligible historic districts at Davis
Field (1), Whitaker Education and Training Center (1), and
Camp Gruber (3). Future study is also recommended for
individual properties at Camp Gruber that may be potentially
eligible for the National Register.
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